



Land Use Technical Report

September 2024



Oregon

For ADA (Americans with Disabilities Act) or Civil Rights Title VI accommodations, translation/interpretation services, or more information call 503-731-4128, TTY 800-735-2900 or Oregon Relay Service 7-1-1.

Washington

Accommodation requests for people with disabilities in Washington can be made by contacting the WSDOT (Washington State Department of Transportation) Diversity/ADA Affairs team at wsdotada@wsdot.wa.gov or by calling toll-free, 855-362-4ADA (4232). Persons who are deaf or hard of hearing may make a request by calling the Washington State Relay at 711. Any person who believes his/her Title VI protection has been violated, may file a complaint with WSDOT's Office of Equity and Civil Rights Title VI Coordinator by contacting (360) 705-7090.



Land Use Technical Report



This page intentionally left blank.



CONTENTS

1.	PROJECT OVERVIEW1-1				
1.1	1 Components of the Modified LPA				
	1.1.1	Interstate 5 Mainline	1-7		
	1.1.2	Portland Mainland and Hayden Island (Subarea A)1	-12		
	1.1.3	Columbia River Bridges (Subarea B)1-	-21		
	1.1.4	Downtown Vancouver (Subarea C)1-	-38		
	1.1.5	Upper Vancouver (Subarea D)1-	-42		
	1.1.6	Transit Support Facilities1-	-45		
	1.1.7	Transit Operating Characteristics1-	-47		
	1.1.8	Tolling1	-50		
	1.1.9	Transportation System- and Demand-Management Measures1-	-52		
1.2	Modifie	ed LPA Construction1-	-53		
	1.2.1	Construction Components and Duration1-	-53		
	1.2.2	Potential Staging Sites and Casting Yards1	-55		
1.3	No-Buil	ld Alternative1-	-56		
2.	METHODS				
2.1	Introdu	iction	2-1		
2.2	Study Area2-1				
2.3 Relevant Laws and Regulations			2-4		
	2.3.1	Federal	2-4		
	2.3.2	State	2-4		
	2.3.3	Regional	2-5		
	2.3.4	Local	2-5		
	2.3.5	Plans and Policies Changed or Removed from the CRC Land Use Technical Report	2-6		
	2.3.6	Applicable Clark County/City of Vancouver Zoning	2-6		
	2.3.7	Applicable City of Portland Zoning and Overlays	2-7		
2.4	Effects	Guidelines	2-8		
2.5	Data Co	ollection	2-8		
	2.5.1	Data Sources and Approach	2-9		
2.6	Analysi	s Methods	2-9		
	2.6.1	Long-Term Operational Impacts	2-9		
	2.6.2	Short-Term Construction Impacts2-	-11		
	2.6.3	Mitigation2-	-11		



3.	AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT				
3.1	Introduction				
3.2	Oregor	۵3-	·1		
	3.2.1	Existing Land Uses	·1		
	3.2.2	Recent and Pending Development3-	.5		
3.3	Washir	ngton3-	·6		
	3.3.1	Existing Land Uses	·6		
	3.3.2	Recent and Pending Development3-	.9		
3.4	Transp	ortation and Land Use Plans	.1		
	3.4.1	Federal	.2		
	3.4.2	Oregon	.4		
	3.4.3	Washington	0		
	3.4.4	Regional	2		
	3.4.5	Local	7		
3.5	Zoning	and Overlay Districts	6		
	3.5.1	City of Portland Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Designations	6		
	3.5.2	City of Portland Overlay Zones	.9		
	3.5.3	City of Vancouver Zoning Districts	5		
	3.5.4	City of Vancouver Overlay Districts	8		
	3.5.5	Clark County Zoning3-6	3		
4.	LONG-	TERM EFFECTS4-	-1		
4.1	No-Bui	ld Alternative4-	·1		
	4.1.1	Consistency with Plans and Policies4-	·1		
4.2	Modifie	ed LPA4-	.3		
	4.2.1	Direct Impacts	.3		
	4.2.2	Parking	.5		
4.3	Consist	ency with Plans and Policies4-1	9		
	4.3.1	Statewide Planning Goals4-2	0		
	4.3.2	Growth Management Act	0		
	4.3.3	Oregon Highway Plan4-2	0		
	4.3.4	Metro 2040 Growth Concept, Climate Smart Strategy and the Regional Framework Plan 4-21			
	4.3.5	City of Portland Comprehensive Plan4-2	2		
	4.3.6	Hayden Island Plan4-2	2		
	4.3.7	Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan4-2	3		
	4.3.8	Kenton Neighborhood Plan (as amended by the Kenton Downtown Plan)	3		



	4.3.9 Portland International Raceway Plan District	4-24	
	4.3.10 East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan	4-24	
	4.3.11 Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 Natural Resources Management Pla	n4-25	
	4.3.12 City of Vancouver Comprehensive Plan	4-25	
	4.3.13 Local Transportation System Plans	4-26	
	4.3.14 Tolling	4-27	
	4.3.15 Park-and-Ride Integration with the Urban Environment	4-27	
5.	TEMPORARY EFFECTS	5-1	
5.1	Introduction	5-1	
5.2	Oregon Mainland	5-1	
5.3	Hayden Island	5-2	
5.4	Downtown Vancouver	5-3	
5.5	Upper Vancouver	5-3	
5.6	Casting and Staging Yards	5-4	
6.	INDIRECT EFFECTS	6-1	
6.1	Overview	6-1	
6.2	Oregon and Washington Growth Management Planning		
6.3	Local Plans	6-3	
6.4	Indirect Effects Conclusion	6-5	
	6.4.1 Indirect Effects on Local and Regional Land Use	6-5	
	6.4.2 Indirect Land Use Effects Related to Navigation	6-7	
7.	MITIGATION FOR LONG-TERM EFFECTS	7-1	
7.1	Regulatory Requirements	7-1	
7.2	Program-Specific Mitigation	7-1	
	7.2.1 Interchange Area Management Plans	7-1	
	7.2.2 Historic Resources Mitigation	7-1	
	7.2.3 Park and Rides	7-2	
8.	MITIGATION FOR TEMPORARY EFFECTS	8-1	
8.1	Regulatory Requirements	8-1	
8.2	Program-Specific Mitigation	8-1	
9.	PERMITS, PLANS, AND APPROVALS	9-1	
9.1	State Plans	9-1	
9.2	Local Permits	9-1	
	9.2.1 Vancouver	9-1	



	9.2.2	Portland	.9-2
10.	REFERE	NCES	10-1

FIGURES

Figure 1-1. IBR Program Location Overview	1-2
Figure 1-2. Modified LPA Components	1-5
Figure 1-3. Modified LPA – Geographic Subareas	1-6
Figure 1-4. Cross Section of the Collector-Distributor Roadways	1-8
Figure 1-5. Collector-Distributor Roadways	1-9
Figure 1-6. Comparison of Auxiliary Lane Configurations	1-11
Figure 1-7. Auxiliary Lane Configuration Footprint Differences	1-12
Figure 1-8. Portland Mainland and Hayden Island (Subarea A)	1-13
Figure 1-9. Levee Systems in Subarea A	1-15
Figure 1-10. Vehicle Circulation between Hayden Island and the Portland Mainland	1-19
Figure 1-11. Columbia River Bridges (Subarea B)	1-22
Figure 1-12. Bridge Foundation Concept	1-23
Figure 1-13. Existing Navigation Clearances of the Interstate Bridge	1-25
Figure 1-14. Profile and Navigation Clearances of the Proposed Modified LPA Columbia River Bridges with a Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration	1-25
Figure 1-15. Conceptual Drawing of a Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration	1-26
Figure 1-16. Cross Section of the Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration	1-27
Figure 1-17. Conceptual Drawings of Single-Level Movable-Span Configurations in the Closed and Open Positions	ל 1-29
Figure 1-18. Cross Section of the Single-Level Movable-Span Bridge Type	1-30
Figure 1-19. Bridge Configuration Footprint Comparison	1-32
Figure 1-20. Bridge Configuration Profile Comparison	1-33
Figure 1-21. Downtown Vancouver (Subarea C)	1-39
Figure 1-22. Upper Vancouver (Subarea D)	1-43
Figure 1-23. Ruby Junction Maintenance Facility Study Area	1-46
Figure 2-1. Primary Study Area	2-2
Figure 2-2. Secondary Study Area	2-3
Figure 3-1. Existing Land Uses, Portland-Vancouver Area	3-2
Figure 3-2. Existing Land Uses, North Portland/East Central Portland	3-3
Figure 3-3. Existing Land Uses, Columbia Boulevard/Hayden Island/Columbia River	3-4
Figure 3-4. Existing Land Uses, Vancouver	3-7
Figure 3-5. Existing Land Uses, Clark County	3-8



Figure 3-6. Oregon National Historic Trail	3-13
Figure 3-7. Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail	3-14
Figure 3-8. Area-Specific Plan Areas and Plan Districts	3-29
Figure 3-9. Natural Resources Management Plan Areas	3-32
Figure 3-10. Comprehensive Plan, Clark County	3-37
Figure 3-11. Comprehensive Plan, Vancouver	3-40
Figure 3-12. Zoning – Portland, Oregon	3-47
Figure 3-13. Overlay Zones – Design Overlay Zones and City Historic Landmarks, Portland, Oregon	3-51
Figure 3-14. Overlay Zones – Environmental Protection and Conservation Zones, Portland, Oregon	3-52
Figure 3-15. Overlay Zones – Prime Industrial Overlay Zone, Portland, Oregon	3-53
Figure 3-16. Overlay Zones – Noise and Aircraft Zones, Portland, Oregon	3-54
Figure 3-17. Zoning – Vancouver, Washington	3-56
Figure 3-18. Overlay Districts – Noise, Vision and Transportation, Vancouver, Washington	3-60
Figure 3-19. Overlay Districts – Neighborhood and Historic Preservation, Vancouver, Washington	3-61
Figure 3-20. Overlay Districts – Development and Shoreline, Vancouver, Washington	3-62
Figure 3-21. Zoning – Clark County, Washington	3-64
Figure 4-1. Property Impacts – Oregon Mainland	4-5
Figure 4-2. Property Impacts – Ruby Junction	4-7
Figure 4-3. Property Impacts – Hayden Island Acquisition	4-9
Figure 4-4. Property Impacts – Downtown Vancouver	4-11
Figure 4-5. Property Impacts – Upper Vancouver	4-14
Figure 4-6. Downtown Park-and-Ride Facilities	4-16
Figure 4-7. Evergreen Park-and-Ride Facilities	4-17
Figure 6-1. Hayden Island Plan	6-5

TABLES

Table 1-1. Modified LPA and Design Options	1-7
Table 1-2. Summary of Bridge Configurations	1-34
Table 1-3. Proposed TriMet and C-TRAN Bus Route Changes	1-49
Table 1-4. Construction Activities and Estimated Duration	1-54
Table 4-1. Oregon Mainland Right-of-Way Acquisitions by Zone	4-4
Table 4-2. Ruby Junction Acquisitions by Zone	4-6
Table 4-3. Hayden Island Right-of-Way Acquisition by Zoning Designation	4-8
Table 4-4. Downtown Vancouver Right-of-Way Acquisitions by Zone – Modified LPA with Ce and One Auxiliary Lane	ntered I-5 4-10
Table 4-5. Downtown Vancouver Right-of-Way Acquisitions by Zone – I-5 Westward Shift	4-12



Table 4-6. Upper Vancouver Right-of-Way Acquisitions by Zone	
Table 5-1. Portland Mainland Temporary Construction Easements	5-2
Table 5-2. Hayden Island Temporary Construction Easements	5-3
Table 5-3. Downtown Vancouver Temporary Construction Easements	5-3
Table 5-4. Upper Vancouver Temporary Construction Easements	5-4



ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

Acronym/Abbreviation	Definition			
BRT	bus rapid transit			
CRC	Columbia River Crossing			
CTR	Commute Trip Reduction			
C-TRAN	Clark County Public Transit Benefit Area Authority			
DSL	Oregon Department of State Lands			
FSCR	Clark County Public Transit Benefit Area Authority			
GHG	greenhouse gas			
GIS	geographic information system			
HOV	high-occupancy vehicle			
1-5	Interstate 5			
IBR	Interstate Bridge Replacement			
LPA	Locally Preferred Alternative			
LRT	light-rail transit			
LRV Light-rail vehicle				
MAX	Metropolitan Area Express			
Metro	Oregon Metro			
NAVD 88	North American Vertical Datum of 1988			
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act			
ODOT	Oregon Department of Transportation			
ОНР	Oregon Highway Plan			
отс	Oregon Transportation Commission			
ОТР	Oregon Transportation Plan			
PMLS	Portland Metro Levee System			



Acronym/Abbreviation	Definition				
PNCD	Preliminary Navigation Clearance Determination				
ROD	record of decision				
RTC	Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council				
RTP	regional transportation plan				
RUGGO	Regional Urban Growth Goals and Objectives				
SEIS	Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement				
SOV	single-occupancy vehicle				
SR	State Route				
STS	Oregon Statewide Transportation Strategy				
TPR	transportation planning rule				
TriMet	Tri-County Metropolitan Transportation District				
TSP	transportation system plan				
UFSWQD	Urban Flood Safety and Water Quality District				
UGB	urban growth boundary				
USACE	U.S. Army Corpsof Engineers				
USC	United States Code				
USCG	U.S. Coast Guard				
V/C	volume-to-capacity				
VCCV	Vancouver City Center Vision Plan				
WSDOT	Washington State Department of Transportation				
WSTC	Washington State Transportation Commission				



1. PROJECT OVERVIEW

This technical report identifies, describes, and evaluates short-term and long-term effects related to land use from the Interstate Bridge Replacement (IBR) Program. The construction and operation of transportation infrastructure can have effects on land uses within or near the project footprint. The Modified Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) would be designed to avoid and/or minimize these effects to the greatest extent possible. This report provides mitigation measures for potential effects when avoidance is not feasible.

The purpose of this report is to satisfy applicable portions of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) 42 United States Code (USC) 4321 "to promote efforts which will prevent or eliminate damage to the environment." Information and potential environmental consequences described in this technical report will be used to support the Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (SEIS) for the IBR Program pursuant to 42 USC 4332.

The objectives of this report are to:

- Define the project study area and the methods of data collection and evaluation used for the analysis (Chapter 2).
- Describe existing land use and applicable land use plans and policies sites within the study area (Chapter 3).
- Discuss potential long-term, temporary, and indirect effects resulting from construction and operation of the Modified LPA in comparison to the No-Build Alternative (Chapters 4 through 6).
- Provide proposed avoidance and mitigation measures to help prevent, eliminate, or minimize environmental consequences from the Modified LPA (Chapters 7 and 8).
- Identify federal, state, and local permits that would be required (Chapter 9).

The Interstate Bridge Replacement (IBR) Program is a continuation of the previously suspended Columbia River Crossing (CRC) project with the same purpose to replace the aging Interstate 5 (I-5) Bridge across the Columbia River with a modern, seismically resilient multimodal structure. The proposed infrastructure improvements are located along a 5-mile stretch of the I-5 corridor that extends from approximately Victory Boulevard in Portland to State Route (SR) 500 in Vancouver as shown in Figure 1-1.







1.1 Components of the Modified LPA

The basic components of the Modified LPA include:

• A new pair of Columbia River bridges—one for northbound and one for southbound travel built west of the existing bridge. The new bridges would each include three through lanes, safety shoulders, and one auxiliary lane (a ramp-to-ramp connection on the highway that improves interchange safety by providing drivers with more space and time to merge, diverge, and weave) in each direction. When all highway, transit, and active transportation would be



moved to the new Columbia River bridges, the existing Interstate Bridge (both spans) would be removed.

- Three bridge configurations are under consideration: (1) double-deck truss bridges with fixed spans, (2) single-level bridges with fixed spans, and (3) single-level bridges with movable spans over the primary navigation channel. The fixed-span configurations would provide up to 116 feet of vertical navigation clearance, and the movable-span configuration would provide 178 feet of vertical navigation clearance in the open position. The primary navigation channel would be relocated approximately 500 feet south (measured by channel centerline) of its existing location near the Vancouver shoreline.
- A two auxiliary lane design option (two ramp-to-ramp lanes connecting interchanges) across the Columbia River is also being evaluated. The second auxiliary lane in each direction of I-5 would be added from approximately Interstate Avenue/Victory Boulevard to SR 500/39th Street.
- A 1.9-mile light-rail transit (LRT) extension of the current Metropolitan Area Express (MAX) Yellow Line from the Expo Center MAX Station in North Portland, where it currently ends, to a terminus near Evergreen Boulevard in Vancouver. Improvements would include new stations at Hayden Island, downtown Vancouver (Waterfront Station), and near Evergreen Boulevard (Evergreen Station), as well as revisions to the existing Expo Center MAX Station. Park and rides to serve LRT riders in Vancouver could be included near the Waterfront Station and Evergreen Station. The Tri-County Metropolitan Transportation District of Oregon (TriMet), which operates the MAX system, would also operate the Yellow Line extension.
 - Potential site options for park and rides include three sites near the Waterfront Station and two near the Evergreen Station (up to one park and ride could be built for each station location in Vancouver).
- Associated LRT improvements such as traction power substations, overhead catenary system, signal and communications support facilities, an overnight light-rail vehicle (LRV) facility at the Expo Center, 19 new LRVs, and an expanded maintenance facility at TriMet's Ruby Junction.
- Integration of local bus transit service, including bus rapid transit (BRT) and express bus routes, in addition to the proposed new LRT service.
- Wider shoulders on I-5 from Interstate Avenue/Victory Boulevard to SR 500/39th Street to accommodate express bus-on-shoulder service in each direction.
- Associated bus transit service improvements would include three additional bus bays for eight new electric double-decker buses at the Clark County Public Transit Benefit Area Authority (C-TRAN) operations and maintenance facility (see Section 1.1.7, Transit Operating Characteristics, for more information about this service).
- Improvements to seven I-5 interchanges and I-5 mainline improvements between Interstate Avenue/Victory Boulevard in Portland and SR 500/39th Street in Vancouver. Some adjacent local streets would be reconfigured to complement the new interchange designs, and improve local east-west connections.



- An option that shifts the I-5 mainline up to 40 feet westward in downtown Vancouver between the SR 14 interchange and Mill Plain Boulevard interchange is being evaluated.
- > An option that eliminates the existing C Street ramps in downtown Vancouver is being evaluated.
- Six new adjacent bridges across North Portland Harbor: one on the east side of the existing I-5 North Portland Harbor bridge and five on the west side or overlapping with the existing bridge (which would be removed). The bridges would carry (from west to east) LRT tracks, southbound I-5 off-ramp to Marine Drive, southbound I-5 mainline, northbound I-5 mainline, northbound I-5 on-ramp from Marine Drive, and an arterial bridge for local traffic with a shared-use path for pedestrians and bicyclists.
- A variety of improvements for people who walk, bike, and roll throughout the study area, including a system of shared-use paths, bicycle lanes, sidewalks, enhanced wayfinding, and facility improvements to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act. These are referred to in this document as active transportation improvements.
- Variable-rate tolling for motorists using the river crossing as a demand-management and financing tool.

The transportation improvements proposed for the Modified LPA and the design options are shown in Figure 1-2. The Modified LPA includes all of the components listed above. If there are differences in environmental effects or benefits between the design options, those are identified in the sections below.







Section 1.1.1, Interstate 5 Mainline, describes the overall configuration of the I-5 mainline through the study area, and Sections 1.1.2, Portland Mainland and Hayden Island (Subarea A), through Section1-42, Upper Vancouver (Subarea D), provide additional detail on four geographic subareas (A through D), which are shown on Figure 1-3. In each subarea, improvements to I-5, its interchanges, and the local roadways are described first, followed by transit and active transportation improvements. Design options are described under separate headings in the subareas in which they would be located.

Table 1-1 shows the different combinations of design options analyzed in this Technical Report. However, **any combination of design options is compatible**. In other words, any of the bridge configurations could be combined with one or two auxiliary lanes, with or without the C Street ramps, a centered or westward shift of I-5 in downtown Vancouver, and any of the park-and-ride location options. Figures in each section show both the anticipated limit of ground disturbance, which includes disturbance from temporary construction activities, and the location of permanent infrastructure elements.









Design Options	Modified LPA	Modified LPA with Two Auxiliary Lanes	Modified LPA Without C Street Ramps	Modified LPA with I-5 Shifted West	Modified LPA with a Single- Level Fixed- Span Configuration	Modified LPA with a Single- Level Movable-Span Configuration
Bridge Configuration	Double-deck fixed-span	Double-deck fixed-span	Double-deck fixed-span	Double-deck fixed-span	Single-level fixed-span	Single-level movable-span
Auxiliary Lanes	One	Тwo	One	One	One	One
C Street Ramps	With C Street ramps	With C Street ramps	Without C Street Ramps	With C Street ramps	With C Street ramps	With C Street ramps
I-5 Alignment	Centered	Centered	Centered	Shifted West	Centered	Centered
Park-and-Ride Options	Waterfront: 1. Columbia Way (below I-5); 2. Columbia Street/SR 14; 3. Columbia Street/Phil Arnold Way Evergreen: 1. Library Square: 2. Columbia Credit Union					

Table 1-1. Modified LPA and Design Options

Bold text indicates which design option is different in each configuration.

1.1.1 Interstate 5 Mainline

Today, within the 5-mile corridor, I-5 has three 12-foot-wide through lanes in each direction, an approximately 6- to 11-foot-wide inside shoulder, and an approximately 10- to 12-foot-wide outside shoulder with the exception of the Interstate Bridge, which has approximately 2- to 3-foot-wide inside and outside shoulders. There are currently intermittent auxiliary lanes between the Victory Boulevard and Hayden Island interchanges in Oregon and between SR 14 and SR 500 in Washington.

The Modified LPA would include three 12-foot through lanes from Interstate Avenue/Victory Boulevard to SR 500/39th Street and a 12-foot auxiliary lane from the Marine Drive interchange to the Mill Plain Boulevard interchange in each direction. Many of the existing auxiliary lanes on I-5 between the SR 14 and Main Street interchanges in Vancouver would remain, although they would be reconfigured. The existing auxiliary lanes between the Victory Boulevard and Hayden Island interchanges would be replaced with changes to on- and off-ramps and interchange reconfigurations. The Modified LPA would also include wider shoulders (12-foot inside shoulders and 10- to 12-foot outside shoulders) to be consistent with ODOT and WSDOT design standards. The wider inside shoulder would be used by express bus service to bypass mainline congestion, known as "bus on shoulder" (refer to Section 1.1.7, Transit Operating Characteristics). The shoulder would be available for express bus service when general-purpose speeds are below 35 miles per hour (mph).



Figure 1-4 shows a cross section of the collector-distributor (C-D)¹ roadways, Figure 1-5 shows the location of the C-D roadways, and Figure 1-6 shows the proposed auxiliary lane layout. The existing Interstate Bridge over the Columbia River does not have an auxiliary lane; the Modified LPA would add one auxiliary lane in each direction across the new Columbia River bridges.

On I-5 northbound, the auxiliary lane that would begin at the on-ramp from Marine Drive would continue across the Columbia River bridge and end at the off-ramp to the C-D roadway, north of SR 14 (see Figure 1-5). The on-ramp from SR 14 westbound would join the off-ramp to the C-D roadway, forming the northbound C-D roadway between SR 14 and Fourth Plain Boulevard. The C-D roadway would provide access from I-5 northbound to the off-ramps at Mill Plain Boulevard and Fourth Plain Boulevard. The C-D roadway would also provide access from SR 14 westbound to the off-ramps at Mill Plain Boulevard and Fourth Plain Boulevard, and to the on-ramp to I-5 northbound.

On I-5 northbound, the Modified LPA would also add one auxiliary lane beginning at the on-ramp from the C-D roadway and ending at the on-ramp from 39th Street, connecting to an existing auxiliary lane from 39th Street to the off-ramp at Main Street. Another existing auxiliary lane would remain between the on-ramp from Mill Plain Boulevard to the off-ramp to SR 500.

On I-5 southbound, the off-ramp to the C-D roadway would join the on-ramp from Mill Plain Boulevard to form a C-D roadway. The C-D roadway would provide access from I-5 southbound to the off-ramp to SR 14 eastbound and from Mill Plain Boulevard to the off-ramp to SR 14 eastbound and the on-ramp to I-5 southbound.

On I-5 southbound, an auxiliary lane would begin at the on-ramp from the C-D roadway and would continue across the southbound Columbia River bridge and end at the off-ramp to Marine Drive. The combined on-ramp from SR 14 westbound and C Street would merge into this auxiliary lane.



Figure 1-4. Cross Section of the Collector-Distributor Roadways

¹ A collector-distributer roadway parallels and connects the main travel lanes of a highway and frontage roads or entrance ramps.







C-D = collector-distributor; EB = eastbound; NB = northbound; SB = southbound; WB = westbound

1.1.1.1 Two Auxiliary Lane Design Option

This design option would add a second 12-foot-wide auxiliary lane in each direction of I-5 with the intent to further optimize travel flow in the corridor. This second auxiliary lane is proposed from the Interstate Avenue/Victory Boulevard interchange to the SR 500/39th Street interchange.

On I-5 northbound, one auxiliary lane would begin at the combined on-ramp from Interstate Avenue and Victory Boulevard, and a second auxiliary lane would begin at the on-ramp from Marine Drive. Both auxiliary lanes would continue across the northbound Columbia River bridge, and the on-ramp from Hayden Island would merge into the second auxiliary lane on the northbound Columbia River bridge. At the off-ramp to the C-D roadway, the second auxiliary lane would end but the first auxiliary



lane would continue. A second auxiliary lane would begin again at the on-ramp from Mill Plain Boulevard. The second auxiliary lane would end at the off-ramp to SR 500, and the first auxiliary lane would connect to an existing auxiliary lane at 39th Street to the off-ramp at Main Street.

On I-5 southbound, two auxiliary lanes would begin at the on-ramp from SR 500. Between the onramp from Fourth Plain Boulevard and the off-ramp to Mill Plain Boulevard, one auxiliary lane would be added to the existing two auxiliary lanes. The second auxiliary lane would end at the off-ramp to the C-D roadway, but the first auxiliary lane would continue. A second auxiliary lane would begin again at the southbound I-5 on-ramp from the C-D roadway. Both auxiliary lanes would continue across the southbound Columbia River bridge, and the combined on-ramp from SR 14 westbound and C Street would merge into the second auxiliary lane on the southbound Columbia River bridge. The second auxiliary lane would end at the off-ramp to Marine Drive, and the first auxiliary lane would end at the combined off-ramp to Interstate Avenue and Victory Boulevard.

Figure 1-6 shows a comparison of the one auxiliary lane configuration and the two auxiliary lane configuration design option. Figure 1-7 shows a comparison of the footprints (i.e., the limit of permanent improvements) of the one auxiliary lane and two auxiliary lane configurations on a double-deck fixed-span bridge. For all Modified LPA bridge configurations (described in Section 1.1.3, Columbia River Bridges (Subarea B)), the footprints of the two auxiliary lane configurations differ only over the Columbia River and in downtown Vancouver. The rest of the corridor would have the same footprint. For all bridge configurations analyzed in this document, the two auxiliary lane option would add 16 feet (8 feet in each direction) in total roadway width compared to the one auxiliary lane option due to the increased shoulder widths for the one auxiliary lane option.² The traffic operations analysis incorporating both the one and two auxiliary lane design options applies equally to all bridge configurations in this Technical Report.

² Under the one auxiliary lane option, the width of each shoulder would be approximately 14 feet to accommodate maintenance of traffic during construction. Under the two auxiliary lane option, maintenance of traffic could be accommodated with 12-foot shoulders because the additional 12-foot auxiliary lane provides adequate roadway width. The total difference in roadway width in each direction between the one auxiliary lane option and the two auxiliary lane option would be 8 feet (12-foot auxiliary lane – 2 feet from the inside shoulder – 2 feet from the outside shoulder = 8 feet).

Land Use Technical Report

Figure 1-6. Comparison of Auxiliary Lane Configurations





10.26.2023 | Copyright 2023 Interstate Bridge Replacement Program





Figure 1-7. Auxiliary Lane Configuration Footprint Differences

1.1.2 Portland Mainland and Hayden Island (Subarea A)

This section discusses the geographic Subarea A shown in Figure 1-3. See Figure 1-8 for highway and interchange improvements in Subarea A, including the North Portland Harbor bridge. Figure 1-8 illustrates the one auxiliary lane design option; please refer to Figure 1-6 and the accompanying description for how two auxiliary lanes would alter the Modified LPA's proposed design. Refer to Figure 1-3 for an overview of the geographic subareas.

Within Subarea A, the IBR Program has the potential to alter three federally authorized levee systems:

- The Oregon Slough segment of the Peninsula Drainage District Number 1 levee (PEN 1).
- The Oregon Slough segment of the Peninsula Drainage District Number 2 levee (PEN 2).
- The PEN1/PEN2 cross levee segment of the PEN 1 levee (Cross Levee).





Figure 1-8. Portland Mainland and Hayden Island (Subarea A)

LRT = light-rail transit; NB = northbound; SB = southbound; TBD = to be determined



The levee systems are shown on Figure 1-9, and intersections with Modified LPA components are described throughout Section 1.1.2, Portland Mainland and Hayden Island (Subarea A), where appropriate. Within Subarea A, the IBR Program study area intersects with PEN 1 to the west of I-5 and with PEN 2 to the east of I-5. PEN 1 and PEN 2 include a main levee along the south side of North Portland Harbor and are part of a combination of levees and floodwalls. PEN 1 and PEN 2 are separated by the Cross Levee that is intended to isolate the two districts if one of them fails. The Cross Levee is located along the I-5 mainline embankment, except in the Marine Drive interchange area where it is located on the west edge of the existing ramp from Marine Drive to southbound I-5.³

There are two concurrent efforts underway that are planning improvements to PEN1, PEN2, and the Cross Levee to reduce flood risk:

- The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Portland Metro Levee System (PMLS) project.
- The Flood Safe Columbia River (FSCR) program (also known as "Levee Ready Columbia").

The Urban Flood Safety and Water Quality District (UFSWQD)⁴ is working with the USACE through the PMLS project, which includes improvements at PEN 1 and PEN 2 (e.g., raising these levees to elevation 38 feet North American Vertical Datum of 1988 [NAVD 88]).⁵ Additionally, as part of the FSCR program, UFSWQD is studying raising a low spot in the Cross Levee on the southwest side of the Marine Drive interchange.

The IBR Program is in close coordination with these concurrent efforts to ensure that the IBR Program's design efforts consider the timing and scope of the PMLS and the FSCR proposed modifications. The intersection of the IBR Program proposed actions to both the existing levee configuration and the anticipated future condition based on the proposed PMLS and FSCR projects are described below, where appropriate.

³ The portion of the original Denver Avenue levee alignment within the Marine Drive interchange area is no longer considered part of the levee system by UFSWQD.

⁴ UFSWQD includes PEN 1 and PEN 2, Urban Flood Safety and Water Quality District No. 1, and the Sandy Drainage Improvement Company.

⁵ NAVD 88 is a vertical control datum (reference point) used by federal agencies for surveying.



Figure 1-9. Levee Systems in Subarea A





1.1.2.1 Highways, Interchanges, and Local Roadways

VICTORY BOULEVARD/INTERSTATE AVENUE INTERCHANGE AREA

The southern extent of the Modified LPA would improve two ramps at the Victory Boulevard/Interstate Avenue interchange (see Figure 1-8). The first ramp improvement would be the southbound I-5 offramp to Victory Boulevard/ Interstate Avenue; this off-ramp would be braided below (i.e., grade separated or pass below) the Marine Drive to the I-5 southbound on-ramp (see the Marine Drive Interchange Area section below). The other ramp improvement would lengthen the merge distance for northbound traffic entering I-5 from Victory Boulevard and from Interstate Avenue.

The existing I-5 mainline between Victory Boulevard/Interstate Avenue and Marine Drive is part of the Cross Levee (see Figure 1-9). The Modified LPA would require some pavement reconstruction of the mainline in this area; however, the improvements would mostly consist of pavement overlay and the profile and footprint would be similar to existing conditions.

MARINE DRIVE INTERCHANGE AREA

The next interchange north of the Victory Boulevard/Interstate Avenue interchange is at Marine Drive. All movements within this interchange would be reconfigured to reduce congestion for motorists entering and exiting I-5. The new configuration would be a single-point urban interchange. The new interchange would be centered over I-5 versus on the west side under existing conditions. See Figure 1-8 for the Marine Drive interchange's layout and construction footprint.

The Marine Drive to I-5 southbound on-ramp would be braided over I-5 southbound to the Victory Boulevard/Interstate Avenue off-ramp. Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard would have a new more direct connection to I-5 northbound.

The new interchange configuration would change the westbound Marine Drive and westbound Vancouver Way connections to Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard. An improved connection farther east of the interchange (near Haney Street) would provide access to westbound Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard for these two streets. For eastbound travelers on Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard exiting to Union Court, the existing loop connection would be replaced with a new connection farther east (near the access to the East Delta Park Owens Sports Complex).

Expo Road from Victory Boulevard to the Expo Center would be reconstructed with improved active transportation facilities. North of the Expo Center, Expo Road would be extended under Marine Drive and continue under I-5 to the east, connecting with Marine Drive and Vancouver Way through three new connected roundabouts. The westernmost roundabout would connect the new local street extension to I-5 southbound. The middle roundabout would connect the I-5 northbound off-ramp to the local street extension. The easternmost roundabout would connect the new local street extension to an arterial bridge crossing North Portland Harbor to Hayden Island. This roundabout would also connect the local street extension to Marine Dr and Vancouver Way.

To access Hayden Island using the arterial bridge from the east on Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard, motorists would exit Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard at the existing off-ramp to Vancouver Way just



west of the Walker Street overpass. Then motorists would travel west on Vancouver Way, through the intersection with Marine Drive and straight through the roundabout to the arterial bridge.

From Hayden Island, motorists traveling south to Portland via Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard would turn onto the arterial bridge southbound and travel straight through the roundabout onto Vancouver Way. At the intersection of Vancouver Way and Marine Drive, motorists would turn right onto Union Court and follow the existing road southeast to the existing on-ramp onto Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard.

The conceptual floodwall alignment from the proposed USACE PMLS project is located on the north side of Marine Drive, near two industrial properties, with three proposed closure structures⁶ for property access. The Modified LPA would realign Marine Drive to the south and provide access to the two industrial properties via the new local road extension from Expo Road. Therefore, the change in access for the two industrial properties could require small modifications to the floodwall alignment (a potential shift of 5 to 10 feet to the south) and closure structure locations.

Marine Drive and the two southbound on-ramps would travel over the Cross Levee approximately 10 to 20 feet above the proposed elevation of the improved levee, and they would be supported by fill and retaining walls near an existing low spot in the Cross Levee.

The I-5 southbound on-ramp from Marine Drive would continue on a new bridge structure. Although the bridge's foundation locations have not been determined yet, they would be constructed through the western slope of the Cross Levee (between the existing I-5 mainline and the existing light-rail).

NORTH PORTLAND HARBOR BRIDGES

To the north of the Marine Drive interchange is the Hayden Island interchange area, which is shown in Figure 1-8. I-5 crosses over the North Portland Harbor when traveling between these two interchanges. The Modified LPA proposes to replace the existing I-5 bridge spanning North Portland Harbor to improve seismic resiliency.

Six new parallel bridges would be built across the waterway under the Modified LPA: one on the east side of the existing I-5 North Portland Harbor bridge and five on the west side or overlapping the location of the existing bridge (which would be removed). From west to east, these bridges would carry:

- The LRT tracks.
- The southbound I-5 off-ramp to Marine Drive.
- The southbound I-5 mainline.
- The northbound I-5 mainline.
- The northbound I-5 on-ramp from Marine Drive.

⁶ Levee closure structures are put in place at openings along the embankment/floodwall to provide flood protection during high water conditions.



• An arterial bridge between the Portland mainland and Hayden Island for local traffic; this bridge would also include a shared-use path for pedestrians and bicyclists.

Each of the six replacement North Portland Harbor bridges would be supported on foundations constructed of 10-foot-diameter drilled shafts. Concrete columns would rise from the drilled shafts and connect to the superstructures of the bridges. All new structures would have at least as much vertical navigation clearance over North Portland Harbor as the existing North Portland Harbor bridge.

Compared to the existing bridge, the two new I-5 mainline bridges would have a similar vertical clearance of approximately 7 feet above the proposed height of the improved levees (elevation 38 feet NAVD 88). The two ramp bridges and the arterial bridge would have approximately 15 feet of vertical clearance above the proposed height of the levees. The foundation locations for the five roadway bridges have not been determined at this stage of design, but some foundations could be constructed through landward or riverward levee slopes.

HAYDEN ISLAND INTERCHANGE AREA

All traffic movements for the Hayden Island interchange would be reconfigured. See Figure 1-8 for a layout and construction footprint of the Hayden Island interchange. A half-diamond interchange would be built on Hayden Island with a northbound I-5 on-ramp from Jantzen Drive and a southbound I-5 off-ramp to Jantzen Drive. This would lengthen the ramps and improve merging/diverging speeds compared to the existing substandard ramps that require acceleration and deceleration in a short distance. The I-5 mainline would be partially elevated and partially located on fill across the island.

There would not be a southbound I-5 on-ramp or northbound I-5 off-ramp on Hayden Island. Connections to Hayden Island for those movements would be via the local access (i.e., arterial) bridge connecting North Portland to Hayden Island (Figure 1-10). Vehicles traveling northbound on I-5 wanting to access Hayden Island would exit with traffic going to the Marine Drive interchange, cross under Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard to the new roundabout at the Expo Road local street extension, travel east through this roundabout to the easternmost roundabout, and use the arterial bridge to cross North Portland Harbor. Vehicles on Hayden Island looking to enter I-5 southbound would use the arterial bridge to cross North Portland Harbor, cross under I-5 using the new Expo Road local street extension to the westernmost roundabout, cross under I-5 using the new Expo Road local street extension to the westernmost roundabout, cross under Marine Drive, merge with the Marine Drive southbound on-ramp, and merge with I-5 southbound south of Victory Boulevard.

Improvements to Jantzen Avenue may include additional left-turn and right-turn lanes at the interchange ramp terminals and active transportation facilities. Improvements to Hayden Island Drive would include new connections to the new arterial bridge over North Portland Harbor. The existing I-5 northbound and southbound access points from Hayden Island Drive would also be removed. A new extension of Tomahawk Island Drive would travel east-west through the middle of Hayden Island and under the I-5 interchange, thus improving connectivity across I-5 on the island.





Figure 1-10. Vehicle Circulation between Hayden Island and the Portland Mainland

NB = northbound; SB = southbound



1.1.2.2 Transit

A new light-rail alignment for northbound and southbound trains would be constructed within Subarea A (see Figure 1-8) to extend from the existing Expo Center MAX Station over North Portland Harbor to a new station at Hayden Island. An overnight LRV facility would be constructed on the southeast corner of the Expo Center property (see Figure 1-8) to provide storage for trains during hours when MAX is not in service. This facility is described in Section 1.1.6, Transit Support Facilities. The existing Expo Center MAX Station would be modified to remove the westernmost track and platform. Other platform modifications, including track realignment and regrading the station, are anticipated to transition to the extension alignment. This may require reconstruction of the operator break facility, signal/communication buildings, and traction power substations. Immediately north of the Expo Center MAX Station, the alignment would curve east toward I-5, pass beneath Marine Drive, cross the proposed Expo Road local street extension and the 40-Mile Loop Trail at grade, then rise over the existing levee onto a light-rail bridge to cross North Portland Harbor. On Hayden Island, proposed transit components include northbound and southbound LRT tracks over Hayden Island; the tracks would be elevated at approximately the height of the new I-5 mainline. An elevated LRT station would also be built on the island immediately west of I-5. The light-rail alignment would extend north on Hayden Island along the western edge of I-5 before transitioning onto the lower level of the new double-deck western bridge over the Columbia River (see Figure 1-8). For the single-level configurations, the light-rail alignment would extend to the outer edge of the western bridge over the Columbia River.

After crossing the new local road extension from Expo Road, the new light-rail track would cross over the main levee (see Figure 1-9). The light-rail profile is anticipated to be approximately 3 feet above the improved levees at the existing floodwall (and improved floodwall), and the tracks would be constructed on fill supported by retaining walls above the floodwall. North of the floodwall, the lightrail tracks would continue onto the new light-rail bridge over North Portland Harbor (as described above).

The Modified LPA's light-rail extension would be close to or would cross the north end of the Cross Levee. The IBR Program would realign the Cross Levee to the east of the light-rail alignment to avoid the need for a closure structure on the light-rail alignment. This realigned Cross Levee would cross the new local road extension. A closure structure may be required because the current proposed roadway is a few feet lower than the proposed elevation of the improved levee.

1.1.2.3 Active Transportation

In the Victory Boulevard interchange area (see Figure 1-8), active transportation facilities would be provided along Expo Road between Victory Boulevard and the Expo Center; this would provide a direct connection between the Victory Boulevard and Marine Drive interchange areas, as well as links to the Delta Park and Expo Center MAX Stations.

New shared-use path connections throughout the Marine Drive interchange area would provide access between the Bridgeton neighborhood (on the east side of I-5), Hayden Island, and the Expo Center MAX Station. There would also be connections to the existing portions of the 40-Mile Loop Trail, which runs north of Marine Drive under I-5 through the interchange area. The path would



continue along the extension of Expo Road under the interchange to the intersection of Marine Drive and Vancouver Way, where it would connect under Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard to Delta Park.

East of the Marine Drive interchange, new shared-use paths on Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard and on the parallel street, Union Court, would connect travelers to Marine Drive and across the arterial bridge to Hayden Island. The shared-use facilities on Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard would provide westbound and eastbound cyclists and pedestrians with off-street crossings of the interchange and would also provide connections to both the Expo Center MAX Station and the 40-Mile Loop Trail to the west.

The new arterial bridge over North Portland Harbor would include a shared-use path for pedestrians and bicyclists (see Figure 1-8). On Hayden Island, pedestrian and bicycle facilities would be provided on Jantzen Avenue, Hayden Island Drive, and Tomahawk Island Drive. The shared-use path on the arterial bridge would continue along the arterial bridge to the south side of Tomahawk Island Drive. A parallel, elevated path from the arterial bridge would continue adjacent to I-5 across Hayden Island and cross above Tomahawk Island Drive and Hayden Island Drive to connect to the lower level of the new double-deck eastern bridge or the outer edge of the new single-level eastern bridge over the Columbia River. A ramp down to the north side of Hayden Island Drive would be provided from the elevated path.

1.1.3 Columbia River Bridges (Subarea B)

This section discusses the geographic Subarea B shown in Figure 1-3. See Figure 1-11 for highway and interchange improvements in Subarea B. Refer to Figure 1-3 for an overview of the geographic subareas.







1.1.3.1 Highways, Interchanges, and Local Roadways

The two existing parallel I-5 bridges that cross the Columbia River would be replaced by two new parallel bridges, located west of the existing bridges (see Figure 1-11). The new eastern bridge would accommodate northbound highway traffic and a shared-use path. The new western bridge would carry southbound traffic and two-way light-rail tracks. Whereas the existing bridges each have three lanes with no shoulders, each of the two new bridges would be wide enough to accommodate three through lanes, one or two auxiliary lanes, and shoulders on both sides of the highway. Lanes and shoulders would be built to full design standards.



As with the existing bridge (Figure 1-13), the new Columbia River bridges would provide three navigation channels: a primary navigation channel and two barge channels (see Figure 1-14). The current location of the primary navigation channel is near the Vancouver shoreline where the existing lift spans are located. Under the Modified LPA, the primary navigation channel would be shifted south approximately 500 feet (measured by channel centerlines), and the existing center barge channel would shift north and become the north barge channel. The new primary navigation channel would be 400 feet wide (this width includes a 300-foot congressionally or USACE-authorized channel plus a 50-foot channel maintenance buffer on each side of the authorized channel) and the two barge channels would also each be 400 feet wide.

The existing Interstate Bridge has nine inwater pier sets,⁷ whereas the new Columbia River bridges (any bridge configuration) would be built on six in-water pier sets, plus multiple piers on land (pier locations are shown on



Figure 1-12. Bridge Foundation Concept

Figure 1-14). Each in-water pier set would be supported by a foundation of drilled shafts; each group of shafts would be tied together with a concrete shaft cap. Columns or pier walls would rise from the shaft caps and connect to the superstructures of the bridges (see Figure 1-12).

BRIDGE CONFIGURATIONS

Three bridge configurations are being considered: (1) double-deck fixed-span (with one bridge type), (2) a single-level fixed-span (with three potential bridge types), and (3) a single-level movable-span (with one bridge type). Both the double-deck and single-level fixed-span configurations would provide 116 feet of vertical navigation clearance at their respective highest spans; the same as the CRC LPA. The CRC LPA included a double-deck fixed-span bridge configuration. The single-level fixed-span configuration was developed and is being considered as part of the IBR Program in response to physical and contextual changes (i.e., design and operational considerations) since 2013 that necessitated examination of a refinement in the double-deck bridge configuration (e.g., ingress and

⁷ A pier set consists of the pier supporting the northbound bridge and the pier supporting the southbound bridge at a given location.



egress of transit from the lower level of the double-deck fixed-span configuration on the north end of the southbound bridge).

Consideration of the single-level movable-span configuration as part the IBR Program was necessitated by the U.S. Coast Guard's (USCG) review of the Program's navigation impacts on the Columbia River and issuance of a Preliminary Navigation Clearance Determination (PNCD) (USCG 2022). The USCG PNCD set the preliminary vertical navigation clearance recommended for the issuance of a bridge permit at 178 feet; this is the current vertical navigation clearance of the Interstate Bridge.

The IBR Program is carrying forward the three bridge configurations to address changed conditions, including changes in the USCG bridge permitting process, in order to ensure a permittable bridge configuration is within the range of options considered. The IBR Program continues to refine the details supporting navigation impacts and is coordinating closely with the USCG to determine how a fixed-span bridge may be permittable. Although the fixed-span configurations do not comply with the current USCG PNCD, they do meet the Purpose and Need and provide potential improvements to traffic (passenger vehicle and freight), transit, and active transportation operations.

Each of the bridge configurations assumes one auxiliary lane; two auxiliary lanes could be applied to any of the bridge configurations. All typical sections for the one auxiliary lane option would provide 14-foot shoulders to maintain traffic during construction of the Modified LPA and future maintenance.




Figure 1-14. Profile and Navigation Clearances of the Proposed Modified LPA Columbia River Bridges with a Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration







Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration

The double-deck fixed-span configuration would be two side-by-side, double-deck, fixed-span steel truss bridges. Figure 1-15 is an example of this configuration (this image is subject to change and is shown as a representative concept; it does not depict the final design). The double-deck fixed-span configuration would provide 116 feet of vertical navigation clearance for river traffic using the primary navigation channel and 400 feet of horizontal navigation clearance at the primary navigation channel, as well as barge channels. This bridge height would not impede takeoffs and landings by aircraft using Pearson Field or Portland International Airport.

The eastern bridge would accommodate northbound highway traffic on the upper level and the shared-use path and utilities on the lower level. The western bridge would carry southbound traffic on the upper level and two-way light-rail tracks on the lower level. Each bridge deck would be 79 feet wide, with a total out-to-out width of 173 feet.⁸



Figure 1-15. Conceptual Drawing of a Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration

Note: Visualization is looking southwest from Vancouver.

Figure 1-16 is a cross section of the two parallel double-deck bridges. Like all bridge configurations, the double-deck fixed-span configuration would have six in-water pier sets. Each pier set would require 12 in-water drilled shafts, for a total of 72 in-water drilled shafts. Each individual shaft cap would be approximately 50 feet by 85 feet. This bridge configuration would have a 3.8% maximum grade on the Oregon side of the bridge and a 4% maximum grade on the Washington side.

⁸ "Out-to-out width" is the measurement between the outside edges of the bridge across its width at the widest point.

Figure 1-16. Cross Section of the Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration

SOUTHBOUND





NORTHBOUND



Single-Level Movable-Span Configuration

The single-level movable-span configuration would have two side-by-side, single-level steel girder bridges with movable spans between Piers 5 and 6. For the purpose of this report, the IBR Program assessed a vertical lift span movable-span configuration with counterweights based on the analysis in the *River Crossing Bridge Clearance Assessment Report – Movable-Span Options*, included as part of Attachment C in Appendix D, Design Options Development, Screening, and Evaluation Technical Report. A conceptual example of a vertical lift-span bridge is shown in Figure 1-17. These images are subject to change and do not represent final design.

A movable span must be located on a straight and flat bridge section (i.e., without curvature and with minimal slope). To comply with these requirements, and for the bridge to maintain the highway, transit, and active transportation connections on Hayden Island and in Vancouver while minimizing property acquisitions and displacements, the movable span is proposed to be located 500 feet south of the existing lift span, between Piers 5 and 6. To accommodate this location of the movable span, the IBR Program is coordinating with USACE to obtain authorization to change the location of the primary navigation channel, which currently aligns with the Interstate Bridge lift spans near the Washington shoreline.

The single-level movable-span configuration would provide 92 feet of vertical navigation clearance over the proposed relocated primary navigation channel when the movable spans are in the closed position, with 99 feet of vertical navigation clearance available over the north barge channel. The 92-foot vertical clearance is based on achieving a straight, movable span and maintaining an acceptable grade for transit operations. In addition, it satisfies the requirement of a minimum of 72 feet of vertical navigation clearance (the existing Interstate Bridge's maximum clearance over the alternate (southernmost) barge channel when the existing lift span is in the closed position).

In the open position, the movable span would provide 178 feet of vertical navigation clearance over the proposed relocated primary navigation channel.

Similar to the fixed-span configurations, the movable span would provide 400 feet of horizontal navigation clearance for the primary navigation channel and for each of the two barge channels.

The vertical lift-span towers would be approximately 243 feet high; this is shorter than the existing liftspan towers, which are 247 feet high. This height of the vertical lift-span towers would not impede takeoffs and landings by aircraft using Portland International Airport. At Pearson Field, the Federal Aviation Administration issues obstacle departure procedures to avoid the existing Interstate Bridge lift towers; the single-level movable-span configuration would retain the same procedures.

Similar to the single-level fixed-span configuration, the eastern bridge would accommodate northbound highway traffic and the shared-use path, and the western bridge would carry southbound traffic and two-way light-rail tracks. The I-5 highway, light-rail tracks, and shared-use path would be on the same level across the bridges instead of on two levels as with the double-deck configuration. Cross sections of the single-level movable-span configuration are shown in Figure 1-18; the top cross section depicts the vertical lift spans (Piers 5 and 6), and the bottom cross section depicts the fixed spans (Piers 2, 3, 4, and 7). The movable and fixed cross sections are slightly different because the movable span requires lift towers, which are not required for the other fixed spans of the bridges.



There would be six in-water pier sets and two piers on land per bridge. The vertical lift span would have 22 in-water drilled shafts each for Piers 5 and 6; the shaft caps for these piers would be 50 feet by 312 feet to accommodate the vertical lift spans. Piers 2, 3, 4, and 7 would have 16 in-water drilled shafts each; the shaft caps for these piers would be the same as for the fixed-span options (50 feet by 230 feet). The vertical lift-span configuration would have a total of 108 in-water drilled shafts.

This single-level movable-span configuration would have a 3% maximum grade on the Oregon side of the bridge and a 1.5% maximum grade on the Washington side.

Figure 1-17. Conceptual Drawings of Single-Level Movable-Span Configurations in the Closed and Open Positions



Note: Visualizations are for illustrative purposes only. They do not reflect property impacts or represent final design. Visualization is looking southeast (upstream) from Vancouver.

Figure 1-18. Cross Section of the Single-Level Movable-Span Bridge Type

Single-level Bridge with Movable Span - Vertical Lift Span Cross-section (Piers 5 and 6)



Single-level Bridge with Movable Span - Fixed Spans Cross-section (Piers 2, 3, 4, and 7)







Summary of Bridge Configurations

This section summarizes and compares each of the bridge configurations. Table 1-2 lists the key considerations for each configuration. Figure 1-19 compares each configuration's footprint. The footprints of each configuration would differ in only three locations: over the Columbia River and at the bridge landings on Hayden Island and Vancouver. The rest of the I-5 corridor would have the same footprint. Over the Columbia River, the footprint of the double-deck fixed-span configuration would be 173 feet wide. Comparatively, the finback or extradosed bridge types of the single-level fixed-span configuration would be 272 feet wide (approximately 99 feet wider), and the single-level fixed-span configuration with a girder bridge type would be 232 feet wide (approximately 59 feet wider). The single-level movable-span configuration would be 252 feet wide (approximately 79 feet wider than the double-deck fixed-span configuration), except at Piers 5 and 6, where larger bridge foundations would require an additional 40 feet of width to support the movable span. The single-level configurations would have a wider footprint at the bridge landings on Hayden Island and Vancouver because transit and active transportation would be located adjacent to the highway, rather than below the highway in the double-deck option.

Figure 1-20 compares the basic profile of each configuration. The lower deck of the double-deck fixed-span and the single-level fixed-span configuration would have similar profiles. The single-level movable-span configuration would have a lower profile than the fixed-span configurations when the span is in the closed position.







Figure 1-20. Bridge Configuration Profile Comparison



LRT = light-rail transit; SUP = shared-use path





Table 1-2. Summary of Bridge Configurations

	No-Build Alternative	Modified LPA with Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration	Modified LPA with Single-Level Fixed-Span Configuration ^a	Modified LPA with Single-Level Movable-Span Configuration
Bridge type	Steel through-truss spans.	Double-deck steel truss.	Single-level, concrete or steel girders, extradosed or finback.	Single-level, steel girders with vertical lift span.
Number of bridges	Тwo	Тwo	Тwo	Тwo
Movable-span type	Vertical lift span with counterweights.	N/A	N/A	Vertical lift span with counterweights.
Movable-span location	Adjacent to Vancouver shoreline.	N/A	N/A	Between Piers 5 and 6 (approximately 500 feet south of the existing lift span).
Lift opening restrictions	Weekday peak AM and PM highway travel periods. ^b	N/A	N/A	Additional restrictions to daytime bridge openings; requires future federal rulemaking process and authorization by USCG (beyond the assumed No-Build Alternative bridge restrictions for peak AM and PM highway travel periods). ^b Typical opening durations are assumed to be 9 to 18 minutes ^c for the purposes of impact analysis but would ultimately depend on various operational considerations related to vessel traffic and river and weather conditions. Additional time would also be required to stop



	No-Build Alternative	Modified LPA with Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration	Modified LPA with Single-Level Fixed-Span Configuration ^a	Modified LPA with Single-Level Movable-Span Configuration
				traffic prior to opening and restart traffic after the bridge closes.
Out-to-out width ^d	138 feet total width.	173 feet total width.	Girder: 232 feet total width. Extradosed/Finback: 272 feet total width.	292 feet at the movable span. 252 feet at the fixed spans.
Deck widths	52 feet (SB) 52 feet (NB)	79 feet (SB) 79 feet (NB)	Girder: 113 feet (SB) 104 feet (NB) Extradosed/Finback: 133 feet (SB) 124 feet (NB)	113 feet SB fixed span. 104 feet NB fixed span.
Vertical navigation clearance	Primary navigation channel: 39 feet when closed. 178 feet when open. Barge channel: 46 feet to 70 feet. Alternate barge channel: 72 feet (maximum clearance without opening).	Primary navigation channel: 116 feet maximum. North barge channel: 100 feet maximum. South barge channel: 110 feet maximum.	Primary navigation channel: 116 feet maximum. North barge channel: 100 feet maximum. South barge channel: 110 feet maximum.	Primary navigation channel: Closed position: 92 feet. Open position: 178 feet. North barge channel: 99 feet maximum. South barge channel: 90 feet maximum.



	No-Build Alternative	Modified LPA with Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration	Modified LPA with Single-Level Fixed-Span Configuration ^a	Modified LPA with Single-Level Movable-Span Configuration
Horizontal navigation clearance	263 feet for primary navigation channel. 511 feet for barge channel. 260 feet for alternate barge channel.	400 feet for all navigation channels (300-foot congressionally or USACE-authorized channel plus a 50-foot channel maintenance buffer on each side).	400 feet for all navigation channels (300-foot congressionally or USACE-authorized channel plus a 50-foot channel maintenance buffer on each side).	400 feet for all navigation channels (300-foot congressionally or USACE-authorized channel plus a 50-foot channel maintenance buffer on each side).
Maximum elevation of bridge component (NAVD 88) ^e	247 feet at top of lift tower.	166 feet.	Girder: 137 feet. Extradosed/Finback: 179 feet at top of pylons.	243 feet at top of lift tower.
Movable span length (from center of pier to center of pier)	278 feet.	N/A	N/A	450 feet.
Number of in-water pier sets	Nine	Six	Six	Six
Number of in-water drilled shafts	N/A	72	96	108
Shaft cap sizes	N/A	50 feet by 85 feet.	50 feet by 230 feet.	Piers 2, 3, 4, and 7: 50 feet by 230 feet. Piers 5 and 6: 50 feet by 312 feet (one combined footing at each location to house tower/equipment for the lift span).



	No-Build Alternative	Modified LPA with Double-Deck Fixed-Span Configuration	Modified LPA with Single-Level Fixed-Span Configuration ^a	Modified LPA with Single-Level Movable-Span Configuration
Maximum grade	5%	4% on the Washington side. 3.8% on the Oregon side.	3% on the Washington side. 3% on the Oregon side.	1.5% on the Washington side. 3% on the Oregon side.
Light-rail transit location	N/A	Below highway on SB bridge.	West of highway on SB bridge.	West of highway on SB bridge.
Express bus	Shared roadway lanes.	Inside shoulder of NB and SB (upper) bridges.	Inside shoulder of NB and SB bridges.	Inside shoulder of NB and SB bridges.
Shared-use path location	Sidewalk adjacent to roadway in both directions.	Below highway on NB bridge.	East of highway on NB bridge.	East of highway on NB bridge.

a When different bridge types are not mentioned, data applies to all bridge types under the specified bridge configuration.

b The No-Build Alternative assumes existing conditions that restrict bridge openings during weekday peak periods (Monday through Friday 6:30 a.m. to 9 a.m.; 2:30 p.m. to 6 p.m., excluding federal holidays). This analysis estimates the potential frequency for bridge openings for vessels requiring more than 99 feet of clearance.

c For the purposes of the transportation analysis (see the Transportation Technical Report), the movable-span opening time is assumed to be an average of 12 minutes.

d "Out-to-out width" is the measurement between the outside edges of the bridge across its width at the widest point.

e NAVD 88 (North American Vertical Datum of 1988) is a vertical control datum (reference point) used by federal agencies for surveying.

NB = northbound; SB = southbound; USCG = U.S. Coast Guard



1.1.4 Downtown Vancouver (Subarea C)

This section discusses the geographic Subarea C shown in Figure 1-3. See Figure 1-21 for all highway and interchange improvements in Subarea C. Refer to Figure 1-3 for an overview of the geographic subareas.

1.1.4.1 Highways, Interchanges, and Local Roadways

North of the Columbia River bridges in downtown Vancouver, improvements are proposed to the SR 14 interchange (Figure 1-21).

SR 14 INTERCHANGE

The new Columbia River bridges would touch down just north of the SR 14 interchange (Figure 1-21). The function of the SR 14 interchange would remain essentially the same as it is now, although the interchange would be elevated. Direct connections between I-5 and SR 14 would be rebuilt. Access to and from downtown Vancouver would be provided as it is today, but the connection points would be relocated. Downtown Vancouver I-5 access to and from the south would be at C Street as it is today, while downtown connections to and from SR 14 would be from Columbia Street at 3rd Street.





Figure 1-21. Downtown Vancouver (Subarea C)

BRT = bus rapid transit; LRT = light-rail transit; NB = northbound; P&R = park and ride; SB = southbound

Main Street would be extended between 5th Street and Columbia Way. Vehicles traveling from downtown Vancouver to access SR 14 eastbound would use the new extension of Main Street to the roundabout underneath I-5. If coming from the west or south (waterfront) in downtown Vancouver, vehicles would use the Phil Arnold Way/3rd Street extension to the roundabout, then continue to SR 14 eastbound. The existing Columbia Way roadway under I-5 would be realigned to the north of its existing location and would intersect both the new Main Street extension and Columbia Street with T intersections.

In addition, the existing overcrossing of I-5 at Evergreen Boulevard would be reconstructed. **Design Option Without C Street Ramps**

Under this design option, downtown Vancouver I-5 access to and from the south would be through the Mill Plain interchange rather than C Street. There would be no eastside loop ramp from I-5 northbound to C Street and no directional ramp on the west side of I-5 from C Street to I-5 southbound. The existing eastside loop ramp would be removed. This design option has been included because of changes in local planning that necessitate consideration of design options that reduce the footprint and associated direct and temporary environmental impacts in Vancouver.



Design Option to Shift I-5 Westward

This design option would shift the I-5 mainline and ramps approximately 40 feet to the west between SR 14 and Mill Plain Boulevard. The westward I-5 alignment shift could also be paired with the design option without C Street ramps. The inclusion of this design option is due to changes in local planning, which necessitate consideration of design options that that shifts the footprint and associated direct and temporary environmental impacts in Vancouver.

1.1.4.2 Transit

LIGHT-RAIL ALIGNMENT AND STATIONS

Under the Modified LPA, the light-rail tracks would exit the highway bridge and be on their own bridge along the west side of the I-5 mainline after crossing the Columbia River (see Figure 1-21). The light-rail bridge would cross approximately 35 feet over the BNSF Railway tracks. An elevated light-rail station near the Vancouver waterfront (Waterfront Station) would be situated near the overcrossing of the BNSF tracks between Columbia Way and 3rd Street. Access to the elevated station would be primarily by elevator as the station is situated approximately 75 feet above existing ground level. A stairwell(s) would be provided for emergency egress. The number of elevators and stairwells provided would be based on the ultimate platform configuration, station location relative to the BNSF trackway, projected ridership, and fire and life safety requirements. Passenger drop-off facilities would be located at ground level and would be coordinated with the C-TRAN bus service at this location. The elevated light-rail tracks would continue north, cross over the westbound SR 14 on-ramp and the C Street/6th Street on-ramp to southbound I-5, and then straddle the southbound I-5 C-D roadway. Transit components in the downtown Vancouver area are similar between the two SR 14 interchange area design options discussed above.

North of the Waterfront Station, the light-rail tracks would continue to the Evergreen Station, which would be the terminus of the light-rail extension (see Figure 1-21). The light-rail tracks from downtown Vancouver to the terminus would be entirely on an elevated structure supported by single columns, where feasible, or by columns on either side of the roadway where needed. The light-rail tracks would be a minimum of 27 feet above the I-5 roadway surface. The Evergreen Station would be located at the same elevation as Evergreen Boulevard, on the proposed Community Connector, and it would provide connections to C-TRAN's existing BRT system. Passenger drop-off facilities would be near the station and would be coordinated with the

C-TRAN bus service at this location.

PARK AND RIDES

Up to two park and rides could be built in Vancouver along the light-rail alignment: one near the Waterfront Station and one near the Evergreen Station. Additional information regarding the park and rides can be found in the Transportation Technical Report. Park and rides can expand the catchment area of public transit systems, making transit more accessible to people who live farther away from fixed-route transit service, and attracting new riders who might not have considered using public transit otherwise.



Waterfront Station Park-and-Ride Options

There are three site options for the park and ride near the Waterfront Station (see Figure 1-21). Each would accommodate up to 570 parking spaces.

- 1. Columbia Way (below I-5). This park-and-ride site would be a multilevel aboveground structure located below the new Columbia River bridges, immediately north of a realigned Columbia Way.
- 2. Columbia Street/SR 14. This park-and-ride site would be a multilevel aboveground structure located along the east side of Columbia Street. It could span across (or over) the SR 14 westbound off-ramp to provide parking on the north and south sides of the off-ramp.
- 3. Columbia Street/Phil Arnold Way (Waterfront Gateway Site). This park-and-ride site would be located along the west side of Columbia Street immediately north of Phil Arnold Way. This park and ride would be developed in coordination with the City of Vancouver's Waterfront Gateway program and could be a joint-use parking facility not constructed exclusively for park-and-ride users.

Evergreen Station Park-and-Ride Options

There are two site options for the park and ride near the Evergreen Station (see Figure 1-21).

- Library Square. This park-and-ride site would be located along the east side of C Street and south of Evergreen Boulevard. It would accommodate up to 700 parking spaces in a multilevel belowground structure according to a future agreement on City-owned property associated with Library Square. Current design concepts suggest the park and ride most likely would be a joint-use parking facility for park-and-ride users and patrons of other uses on the ground or upper levels as negotiated as part of future decisions.
- 1. Columbia Credit Union. This park-and-ride site is an existing multistory garage that is located below the Columbia Credit Union office tower along the west side of C Street between 7th Street and 8th Street. The existing parking structure currently serves the office tower above it and the Regal City Center across the street. This would be a joint-use parking facility, not for the exclusive use of park-and-ride users, that could serve as additional or overflow parking if the 700 required parking spaces cannot be accommodated elsewhere.

1.1.4.3 Active Transportation

Within the downtown Vancouver area, the shared-use path on the northbound (or eastern) bridge would exit the bridge at the SR 14 interchange, loop down on the east side of I-5 via a vertical spiral path, and then cross back below I-5 to the west side of I-5 to connect to the Waterfront Renaissance Trail on Columbia Street and into Columbia Way (see Figure 1-21). Access would be provided across state right of way beneath the new bridges to provide a connection between the recreational areas along the City's Columbia River waterfront east of the bridges and existing and future waterfront uses west of the bridges.

Active transportation components in the downtown Vancouver area would be similar without the C Street ramps and with the I-5 westward shift.



At Evergreen Boulevard, a community connector is proposed to be built over I-5 just south of Evergreen Boulevard and east of the Evergreen Station (see Figure 1-21). The structure is proposed to include off-street pathways for active transportation modes including pedestrians, bicyclists, and other micro-mobility modes, and public space and amenities to support the active transportation facilities. The primary intent of the Community Connector is to improve connections between downtown Vancouver on the west side of I-5 and the Vancouver National Historic Reserve on the east side.

1.1.5 Upper Vancouver (Subarea D)

This section discusses the geographic Subarea D shown in Figure 1-3. See Figure 1-22 for all highway and interchange improvements in Subarea D. Refer to Figure 1-3 for an overview of the geographic subareas.

1.1.5.1 Highways, Interchanges, and Local Roadways

Within the upper Vancouver area, the IBR Program proposes improvements to three interchanges— Mill Plain, Fourth Plain, and SR 500—as described below.

MILL PLAIN BOULEVARD INTERCHANGE

The Mill Plain Boulevard interchange is north of the SR 14 interchange (see Figure 1-22). This interchange would be reconstructed as a tight-diamond configuration but would otherwise remain similar in function to the existing interchange. The ramp terminal intersections would be sized to accommodate high, wide heavy freight vehicles that travel between the Port of Vancouver and I-5. The off-ramp from I-5 northbound to Mill Plain Boulevard would diverge from the C-D road that would continue north, crossing over Mill Plain Boulevard, to provide access to Fourth Plain Boulevard via a C-D roadway. The off-ramp to Fourth Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross over Mill Plain Boulevard would be reconstructed and would cross ov



Figure 1-22. Upper Vancouver (Subarea D)



BRT = bus rapid transit; TBD = to be determined



FOURTH PLAIN BOULEVARD INTERCHANGE

At the Fourth Plain Boulevard interchange (Figure 1-22), improvements would include reconstruction of the overpass of I-5 and the ramp terminal intersections. Northbound I-5 traffic exiting to Fourth Plain Boulevard would first exit to the northbound C-D roadway which provides off-ramp access to Fourth Plain Boulevard and Mill Plain Boulevard. The westbound SR 14 to northbound I-5 on-ramp also joins the northbound C-D roadway before continuing north past the Fourth Plain Boulevard and Mill Plain Boulevard off-ramps as an auxiliary lane. The southbound I-5 off-ramp to Fourth Plain Boulevard would be braided below the 39th Street on-ramp to southbound I-5. This change would eliminate the existing nonstandard weave between the SR 500 interchange and the off-ramp to Fourth Plain Boulevard. It would also eliminate the existing westbound SR 500 to Fourth Plain Boulevard offramp connection. The existing overcrossing of I-5 at 29th Street would be reconstructed to accommodate a widened I-5, provide adequate vertical clearance over I-5, and provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities.

SR 500 INTERCHANGE

The northern terminus of the I-5 improvements would be in the SR 500 interchange area (Figure 1-22). The improvements would primarily be to connect the Modified LPA to existing ramps. The off-ramp from I-5 southbound to 39th Street would be reconstructed to establish the beginning of the braided ramp to Fourth Plain Boulevard and restore the loop ramp to 39th Street. Ramps from existing I-5 northbound to SR 500 eastbound and from 39th Street to I-5 northbound would be partially reconstructed. The existing bridges for 39th Street over I-5 and SR 500 westbound to I-5 southbound would be retained. The 39th Street to I-5 southbound on-ramp would be reconstructed and braided over (i.e., grade separated or pass over) the new I-5 southbound off-ramp to Fourth Plain Boulevard.

The existing overcrossing of I-5 at 33rd Street would also be reconstructed to accommodate a widened I-5, provide adequate vertical clearance over I-5, and provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities.

1.1.5.2 Transit

There would be no LRT facilities in upper Vancouver. Proposed operational changes to bus service, including I-5 bus-on-shoulder service, are described in Section 1.1.7, Transit Operating Characteristics.

1.1.5.3 Active Transportation

Several active transportation improvements would be made in Subarea D consistent with City of Vancouver plans and policies. At the Fourth Plain Boulevard interchange, there would be improvements to provide better bicycle and pedestrian mobility and accessibility; these include bicycle lanes, neighborhood connections, and a connection to the City of Vancouver's planned twoway cycle track on Fourth Plain Boulevard. The reconstructed overcrossings of I-5 at 29th Street and 33rd Street would provide pedestrian and bicycle facilities on those cross streets. No new active transportation facilities are proposed in the SR 500 interchange area. Active transportation improvements at the Mill Plain Boulevard interchange include buffered bicycle lanes and sidewalks, pavement markings, lighting, and signing.



1.1.6 Transit Support Facilities

1.1.6.1 Ruby Junction Maintenance Facility Expansion

The TriMet Ruby Junction Maintenance Facility in Gresham, Oregon, would be expanded to accommodate the additional LRVs associated with the Modified LPA's LRT service (the Ruby Junction location relative to the study area is shown in Figure 1-23). Improvements would include additional storage for LRVs and maintenance materials and supplies, expanded LRV maintenance bays, expanded parking and employee support areas for additional personnel, and a third track at the northern entrance to Ruby Junction. Figure 1-23 shows the proposed footprint of the expansion.

The existing main building would be expanded west to provide additional maintenance bays. To make space for the building expansion, Eleven Mile Avenue would be vacated and would terminate in a new cul-de-sac west of the main building. New access roads would be constructed to maintain access to TriMet buildings south of the cul-de-sac.

The existing LRV storage yard, west of Eleven Mile Avenue, would be expanded to the west to accommodate additional storage tracks and a runaround track (a track constructed to bypass congestion in the maintenance yard). This expansion would require partial demolition of an existing TriMet building (just north of the LRV storage) and would require relocating the material storage yard to the properties just south of the south building.

All tracks in the west LRV storage yard would also be extended southward to connect to the proposed runaround track. The runaround track would connect to existing tracks near the existing south building. The connections to the runaround track would require partial demolition of an existing TriMet building plus full demolition of one existing building and partial demolition of another existing building on the private property west of the south end of Eleven Mile Avenue. The function of the existing TriMet building would either be transferred to existing modified buildings or to new replacement buildings on site.

The existing parking lot west of Eleven Mile Avenue would be expanded toward the south to provide more parking for TriMet personnel.

A third track would be needed at the north entrance to Ruby Junction to accommodate increased train volumes without decreasing service. The additional track would also reduce operational impacts during construction and maintenance outages for the yard. Constructing the third track would require reconstruction of Burnside Court east of Eleven Mile Avenue. An additional crossover would also be needed on the mainline track where it crosses Eleven Mile Avenue; it would require reconstruction of the existing track crossings for vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrians.







EB = eastbound; LRV = light-rail vehicle; WB = westbound



1.1.6.2 Expo Center Overnight LRV Facility

An overnight facility for LRVs would be constructed on the southeast corner of the Expo Center property (as shown on Figure 1-8) to reduce deadheading between Ruby Junction and the northern terminus of the MAX Yellow Line extension. Deadheading occurs when LRVs travel without passengers to make the vehicles ready for service. The facility would provide a yard access track, storage tracks for approximately 10 LRVs, one building for light LRV maintenance, an operator break building, a parking lot for operators, and space for security personnel. This facility would necessitate relocation and reconstruction of the Expo Road entrance to the Expo Center (including the parking lot gates and booths). However, it would not affect existing Expo Center buildings.

The overnight facility would connect to the mainline tracks by crossing Expo Road just south of the existing Expo Center MAX Station. The connection tracks would require relocation of one or two existing LRT facilities, including a traction power substation building and potentially the existing communication building, which are both just south of the Expo Center MAX Station. Existing artwork at the station may require relocation.

1.1.6.3 Additional Bus Bays at the C-TRAN Operations and Maintenance Facility

Three bus bays would be added to the C-TRAN operations and maintenance facility. These new bus bays would provide maintenance capacity for the additional express bus service on I-5 (see Section 1.1.7, Transit Operating Characteristics). Modifications to the facility would accommodate new vehicles as well as maintenance equipment.

1.1.7 Transit Operating Characteristics

1.1.7.1 LRT Operations

Nineteen new LRVs would be purchased to operate the extension of the MAX Yellow Line. These vehicles would be similar to those currently used for the TriMet MAX system. With the Modified LPA, LRT service in the new and existing portions of the Yellow Line in 2045 would operate with 6.7-minute average headways (defined as gaps between arriving transit vehicles) during the 2-hour morning peak period. Mid-day and evening headways would be 15 minutes, and late-night headways would be 30 minutes. Service would operate between the hours of approximately 5 a.m. (first southbound train leaving Evergreen Station) and 1 a.m. (last northbound train arriving at the station), which is consistent with current service on the Yellow Line. LRVs would be deadheaded at Evergreen Station before beginning service each day. A third track at this northern terminus would accommodate layovers.

1.1.7.2 Express Bus Service and Bus on Shoulder

C-TRAN provides bus service that connects to LRT and augments travel between Washington and Oregon with express bus service to key employment centers in Oregon. Beginning in 2022, the main express route providing service in the IBR corridor, Route 105, had two service variations. One pattern provides service between Salmon Creek and downtown Portland with a single intermediate stop at the 99th Street Transit Center, and one provides service between Salmon Creek and downtown Portland with two intermediate stops: 99th Street Transit Center and downtown Vancouver. This route currently provides weekday service with 20-minute peak and 60-minute off-peak headways.



Once the Modified LPA is constructed, C-TRAN Route 105 would be revised to provide direct service from the Salmon Creek Park and Ride and 99th Street Transit Center to downtown Portland, operating at 5-minute peak headways with no service in the off-peak. The C-TRAN Route 105 intermediate stop service through downtown Vancouver would be replaced with C-TRAN Route 101, which would provide direct service from downtown Vancouver to downtown Portland at 10-minute peak and 30-minute off-peak headways.

Two other existing C-TRAN express bus service routes would remain unchanged after completion of the Modified LPA. C-TRAN Route 190 would continue to provide service from the Andresen Park and Ride in Vancouver to Marquam Hill in Portland. This route would continue to operate on SR 500 and I-5 within the study area. Route headways would be 10 minutes in the peak periods with no off-peak service. C-TRAN Route 164 would continue to provide service from the Fisher's Landing Transit Center to downtown Portland. This route would continue to operate within the study area only in the northbound direction during PM service to use the I-5 northbound high-occupancy vehicle lane in Oregon before exiting to eastbound SR 14 in Washington. Route headways would be 10 minutes in the peak and 30 minutes in the off-peak.

C-TRAN express bus Routes 105 and 190 are currently permitted to use the existing southbound inside shoulder of I-5 from 99th Street to the Interstate Bridge in Vancouver. However, the existing shoulders are too narrow for bus-on-shoulder use in the rest of the I-5 corridor in the study area. The Modified LPA would include inside shoulders on I-5 that would be wide enough (14 feet on the Columbia River bridges and 11.5 to 12 feet elsewhere on I-5) to allow northbound and southbound buses to operate on the shoulder, except where I-5 would have to taper to match existing inside shoulder widths at the north and south ends of the corridor. Figure 1-8, Figure 1-16, Figure 1-21, and Figure 1-22 show the potential bus-on-shoulder use over the Columbia River bridges. Bus on shoulder could operate on any of the Modified LPA bridge configurations and bridge types. Additional approvals (including a continuing control agreement), in coordination with ODOT, may be needed for buses to operate on the shoulder on the Oregon portion of I-5.

After completion of the Modified LPA, two C-TRAN express bus routes operating on I-5 through the study area would be able to use bus-on-shoulder operations to bypass congestion in the general-purpose lanes. C-TRAN Route 105 would operate on the shoulder for the full length of the study area. C-TRAN Route 190 would operate on the shoulder for the full length of the corridor except for the distance required to merge into and out of the shoulder as the route exits from and to SR 500. These two express bus routes (105 and 190) would have a combined frequency of every 3 minutes during the 2045 AM and PM peak periods. To support the increased frequency of express bus service, eight electric double-decker or articulated buses would be purchased.

If the C Street ramps were removed from the SR 14 interchange, C-TRAN Route 101 could also use buson-shoulder operations south of Mill Plain Boulevard; however, if the C Street ramps remained in place, Route 101 could still use bus-on-shoulder operations south of the SR 14 interchange but would need to begin merging over to the C Street exit earlier than if the C Street ramps were removed. Route 101 would operate at 10-minute peak and 30-minute off-peak headways. C-TRAN Route 164 would not be anticipated to use bus-on-shoulder operations because of the need to exit to SR 14 from northbound I-5.



1.1.7.3 Local Bus Route Changes

The TriMet Line 6 bus route would be changed to terminate at the Expo Center MAX Station, requiring passengers to transfer to the new LRT connection to access Hayden Island. TriMet Line 6 is anticipated to travel from Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard through the newly configured area providing local connections to Marine Drive. It would continue west to the Expo Center MAX Station. Table 1-3 shows existing service and anticipated future changes to TriMet Line 6.

As part of the Modified LPA, several local C-TRAN bus routes would be changed to better complement the new light-rail extension. Most of these changes would reroute existing bus lines to provide a transfer opportunity near the new Evergreen Station. Table 1-3 shows existing service and anticipated future changes to C-TRAN bus routes. In addition to the changes noted in Table 1-3, other local bus route modifications would move service from Broadway to C Street. The changes shown may be somewhat different if the C Street ramps are removed.

Bus Route	Existing Route	Changes with Modified LPA
TriMet Line 6	Connects Goose Hollow, Portland City Center, N/NE Portland, Jantzen Beach and Hayden Island. Within the study area, service currently runs between Delta Park MAX Station and Hayden Island via I-5.	Route would be revised to terminate at the Expo Center MAX Station. Route is anticipated to travel from Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard through the newly configured Marine Drive area, then continue west to connect via facilities on the west side of I-5 with the Expo Center MAX Station.
C-TRAN Fourth Plain and Mill Plain bus rapid transit (The Vine)	Runs between downtown Vancouver and the Vancouver Mall Transit Center via Fourth Plain Boulevard, with a second line along Mill Plain Boulevard. In the study area, service currently runs along Washington and Broadway Streets through downtown Vancouver.	Route would be revised to begin/end near the Evergreen Station in downtown Vancouver and provide service along Evergreen Boulevard to Fort Vancouver Way, where it would travel to or from Mill Plain Boulevard or Fourth Plain Boulevard depending on clockwise/counterclockwise operations. The Fourth Plain Boulevard route would continue to serve existing Vine stations beyond Evergreen Boulevard.
C-TRAN #2 Lincoln	Connects the 99th Street Transit Center to downtown Vancouver via Lincoln and Kaufman Avenues. Within the study area, service currently runs along Washington and Broadway Streets between 7th and 15th Streets in downtown Vancouver.	Route would be modified to begin/end near C Street and 9th Street in downtown Vancouver.

Table 1-3. Proposed TriMet and C-TRAN Bus Route Changes



Bus Route	Existing Route	Changes with Modified LPA
C-TRAN #25 St. Johns	Connects the 99th Street Transit Center to downtown Vancouver via St. Johns Boulevard and Fort Vancouver Way. Within the study area, service currently runs along Evergreen Boulevard, Jefferson Street/Kaufman Avenue, 15th Street, and Franklin Street in downtown Vancouver.	Route would be modified to begin/end near C Street and 9th Street in downtown Vancouver.
C-TRAN #30 Burton	Connects the Fisher's Landing Transit Center with downtown Vancouver via 164th/162nd Avenues and 18th, 25th, 28th, and 39th Streets. Within the study area, service currently runs along McLoughlin Boulevard and on Washington and Broadway Streets between 8th and 15th Streets.	Route would be modified to begin/end near C Street and 9th Street in downtown Vancouver.
C-TRAN #60 Delta Park Regional	Connects the Delta Park MAX station in Portland with downtown Vancouver via I-5. Within the study area, service currently runs along I-5, Mill Plain Boulevard, and Broadway Street.	Route would be discontinued.

1.1.8 Tolling

Tolling cars and trucks that would use the new Columbia River bridges is proposed as a method to help fund the bridge construction and future maintenance, as well as to encourage alternative mode choices for trips across the Columbia River. Federal and state laws set the authority to toll the I-5 crossing. The IBR Program plans to toll the I-5 river bridge under the federal tolling authorization program codified in 23 U.S. Code Section 129 (Section 129). Section 129 allows public agencies to impose new tolls on federal-aid interstate highways for the reconstruction or replacement of toll-free bridges or tunnels. In 2023, the Washington State Legislature authorized tolling on the Interstate Bridge, with toll rates and policies to be set by the Washington State Transportation Commission (WSTC). In Oregon, the legislature authorized tolling giving the Oregon Transportation Commission the authority to toll I-5, including the ability to set the toll rates and policies. Subsequently, the Oregon Transportation Commission (OTC) is anticipated to review and approve the I-5 tollway project application that would designate the Interstate Bridge as a "tollway project" in 2024. At the beginning of 2024, the OTC and the WSTC entered into a bi-state tolling agreement to establish a cooperative process for setting toll rates and policies. This included the formation of the I-5 Bi-State Tolling Subcommittee consisting of two commissioners each from the OTC and WSTC and tasked with developing toll rate and policy recommendations for joint consideration and adoption by each state's commission. Additionally, the two states plan to enter into a separate agreement guiding the sharing and uses of toll revenues, including the order of uses (flow of funds) for bridge construction, debt service, and other required expenditures. WSDOT and ODOT also plan to enter into one or more agreements addressing implementation logistics, toll collection, and operations and maintenance for tolling the bi-state facility.



The Modified LPA includes a proposal to apply variable tolls on vehicles using the Columbia River bridges with the toll collected electronically in both directions. Tolls would vary by time of day with higher rates during peak travel periods and lower rates during off-peak periods. The IBR Program has evaluated multiple toll scenarios generally following two different variable toll schedules for the tolling assessment. For purposes of this NEPA analysis, the lower toll schedule was analyzed with tolls assumed to range between \$1.50 and \$3.15 (in 2026 dollars as representative of when tolling would begin) for passenger vehicles with a registered toll payment account. Medium and heavy trucks would be charged a higher toll than passenger vehicles and light trucks. Passenger vehicles and light trucks without a registered toll payment account would pay an additional \$2.00 per trip to cover the cost of identifying the vehicle owner from the license plate and invoicing the toll by mail.

The analysis assumes that tolling would commence on the existing Interstate Bridge—referred to as pre-completion tolling—starting April 1, 2026. The actual date pre-completion tolling begins would depend on when construction would begin. The traffic and tolling operations on the new Columbia River bridges were assumed to commence by July 1, 2033. The actual date that traffic and tolling operations on the new bridges begin would depend on the actual construction completion date. During the construction period, the two commissions may consider toll-free travel overnight on the existing Interstate Bridge, as was analyzed in the Level 2 Toll Traffic and Revenue Study, for the hours between 11 p.m. and 5 a.m. This toll-free period could help avoid situations where users would be charged during lane or partial bridge closures where construction delays may apply. Once the new I-5 Columbia River bridges open, twenty-four-hour tolling would begin.

Tolls would be collected using an all-electronic toll collection system using transponder tag readers and license plate cameras mounted to structures over the roadway. Toll collection booths would not be required. Instead, motorists could obtain a transponder tag and set up a payment account that would automatically bill the account holder associated with the transponder each time the vehicle crossed the bridge. Customers without transponders, including out-of-area vehicles, would be tolled by a license plate recognition system that would bill the address of the owner registered to that vehicle's license plate. The toll system would be designed to be nationally interoperable. Transponders for tolling systems elsewhere in the country could be used to collect tolls on I-5, and drivers with an account and transponder tag associated with the Interstate Bridge could use them to pay tolls in other states for which reciprocity agreements had been developed. There would be new signage, including gantries, to inform drivers of the bridge toll. These signs would be on local roads, I-5 on-ramps, and on I-5, including locations north and south of the bridges where drivers make route decisions (e.g., I-5/I-205 junction and I-5/I-84 junction).



1.1.9 Transportation System- and Demand-Management Measures

Many well-coordinated transportation demand-management and system-management programs are already in place in the Portland-Vancouver metropolitan region. In most cases, the impetus for the programs comes from state regulations: Oregon's Employee Commute Options rule and Washington's Commute Trip Reduction (CTR) law (described in the sidebar).

The physical and operational elements of the Modified LPA provide the greatest transportation demand-management opportunities by promoting other modes to fulfill more of the travel needs in the corridor. These include:

- Major new light-rail line in exclusive right of way, as well as express bus routes and bus routes that connect to new light-rail stations.
- I-5 inside shoulders that accommodate express buses.
- Modern bicycle and pedestrian facilities that accommodate more bicyclists and pedestrians and improve connectivity, safety, and travel time.
- Park-and-ride facilities.
- A variable toll on the new Columbia River bridges.

In addition to these fundamental elements of the Modified LPA, facilities and equipment would be implemented that could help existing or expanded transportation system management measures maximize the capacity and efficiency of the system. These include:

• Replacement or expanded variable message signs in the study area. These signs alert drivers to incidents and events, allowing them to seek alternate routes or plan to limit travel during periods of congestion.

State Laws to Reduce Commute Trips

Oregon and Washington have both adopted regulations intended to reduce the number of people commuting in single-occupancy vehicles (SOVs). Oregon's Employee Commute Options Program, created under Oregon Administrative Rule 340-242-0010, requires employers with over 100 employees in the greater Portland area to provide commute options that encourage employees to reduce auto trips to the work site. Washington's 1991 Commute Trip Reduction (CTR) Law, updated as the 2006 CTR Efficiency Act (Revised Code of Washington §70.94.521) addresses traffic congestion, air pollution, and petroleum fuel consumption. The law requires counties and cities with the greatest traffic congestion and air pollution to implement plans to reduce SOV demand. An additional provision mandates "major employers" and "employers at major worksites" to implement programs to reduce SOV use.

- Replacement or expanded traveler information systems with additional traffic monitoring equipment and cameras.
- Expanded incident response capabilities, which help traffic congestion to clear more quickly following accidents, spills, or other incidents.
- Queue jumps or bypass lanes for transit vehicles where multilane approaches are provided at ramp signals for on-ramps. Locations for these features will be determined during the detailed design phase.
- Active traffic management including strategies such as ramp metering, dynamic speed limits, and transit signal priority. These strategies are intended to manage congestion by controlling traffic flow or allowing transit vehicles to enter traffic before single-occupant vehicles.



1.2 Modified LPA Construction

The following information on the construction activities and sequence follows the information prepared for the CRC LPA. Construction durations have been updated for the Modified LPA. Because the main elements of the IBR Modified LPA are similar to those in the CRC LPA (i.e., multimodal river crossings and interchange improvements), this information provides a reasonable assumption of the construction activities that would be required.

The construction of bridges over the Columbia River sets the sequencing for other Program components. Accordingly, construction of the Columbia River bridges and immediately adjacent highway connections and improvement elements would be timed early to aid the construction of other components. Demolition of the existing Interstate Bridge would take place after the new Columbia River bridges were opened to traffic.

Electronic tolling infrastructure would be constructed and operational on the existing Interstate Bridge by the start of construction on the new Columbia River bridges. The toll rates and policies for tolling (including pre-completion tolling) would be determined after a more robust analysis and public process by the OTC and WSTC (refer to Section 1.1.8, Tolling).

1.2.1 Construction Components and Duration

Table 1-4 provides the estimated construction durations and additional information of Modified LPA components. The estimated durations are shown as ranges to reflect the potential for Program funding to be phased over time. In addition to funding, contractor schedules, regulatory restrictions on in-water work and river navigation considerations, permits and approvals, weather, materials, and equipment could all influence construction duration and overlap of construction of certain components. Certain work below the ordinary high-water mark of the Columbia River and North Portland Harbor would be restricted to minimize impacts to species listed under the Endangered Species Act and their designated critical habitat.

Throughout construction, active transportation facilities and three lanes in each direction on I-5 (accommodating personal vehicles, freight, and buses) would remain open during peak hours, except for short intermittent restrictions and/or closures. Advanced coordination and public notice would be given for restrictions, intermittent closures, and detours for highway, local roadway, transit, and active transportation users (refer to the Transportation Technical Report, for additional information). At least one navigation channel would remain open throughout construction. Advanced coordination and notice would be given for restrictions or intermittent closures to navigation channels as required.

Table 1-4.	Construction	Activities and	Estimated	Duration
TUDIC I I.	construction	/ cuvics and	Lotinuteu	Durution

Component	Estimated Duration	Notes
Columbia River bridges	4 to 7 years	 Construction is likely to begin with the main river bridges. General sequence would include initial preparation and installation of foundation piles, shaft caps, pier columns, superstructure, and deck.
North Portland Harbor bridges	4 to 10 years	• Construction duration for North Portland Harbor bridges is estimated to be similar to the duration for Hayden Island interchange construction. The existing North Portland Harbor bridge would be demolished in phases to accommodate traffic during construction of the new bridges.
Hayden Island interchange	4 to 10 years	• Interchange construction duration would not necessarily entail continuous active construction. Hayden Island work could be broken into several contracts, which could spread work over a longer duration.
Marine Drive interchange	4 to 6 years	• Construction would need to be coordinated with construction of the North Portland Harbor bridges.
SR 14 interchange	4 to 6 years	• Interchange would be partially constructed before any traffic could be transferred to the new Columbia River bridges.
Demolition of the existing Interstate Bridge	1.5 to 2 years	• Demolition of the existing Interstate Bridge could begin only after traffic is rerouted to the new Columbia River bridges.
Three interchanges north of SR 14	3 to 4 years for all three	 Construction of these interchanges could be independent from each other and from construction of the Program components to the south. More aggressive and costly staging could shorten this timeframe.



Component	Estimated Duration	Notes
Light-rail	4 to 6 years	• The light-rail crossing would be built with the Columbia River bridges. Light-rail construction includes all of the infrastructure associated with light-rail transit (e.g., overhead catenary system, tracks, stations, park and rides).
Total construction timeline	9 to 15 years	• Funding, as well as contractor schedules, regulatory restrictions on in-water work and river navigation considerations, permits and approvals, weather, materials, and equipment, could all influence construction duration.

1.2.2 Potential Staging Sites and Casting Yards

Equipment and materials would be staged in the study area throughout construction generally within existing or newly purchased right of way, on land vacated by existing transportation facilities (e.g., I-5 on Hayden Island), or on nearby vacant parcels. However, at least one large site would be required for construction offices, to stage the larger equipment such as cranes, and to store materials such as rebar and aggregate. Criteria for suitable sites include large, open areas for heavy machinery and material storage, waterfront access for barges (either a slip or a dock capable of handling heavy equipment and material) to convey material to the construction zone, and roadway or rail access for landside transportation of materials by truck or train.

Two potential major staging sites have been identified (see Figure 1-8 and Figure 1-21). One site is located on Hayden Island on the west side of I-5. A large portion of this parcel would be required for new right of way for the Modified LPA. The second site is in Vancouver between I-5 and Clark College. Other staging sites may be identified during the design process or by the contractor. Following construction of the Modified LPA, the staging sites could be converted for other uses.

In addition to on-land sites, some staging activities for construction of the new Columbia River and North Portland Harbor bridges would take place on the river itself. Temporary work structures, barges, barge-mounted cranes, derricks, and other construction vessels and equipment would be present on the river during most or all of the bridges' construction period. The IBR Program is working with USACE and USCG to obtain necessary clearances for these activities.

A casting or staging yard could also be required for construction of the overwater bridges if a precast concrete segmental bridge design is used. A casting yard would require access to the river for barges, a slip or a dock capable of handling heavy equipment and material, a large area suitable for a concrete batch plant and associated heavy machinery and equipment, and access to a highway or railway for delivery of materials. As with the staging sites, casting or staging yard sites may be identified as the design progresses or by the contractor and would be evaluated via a NEPA re-evaluation or supplemental NEPA document for potential environmental impacts at that time.



1.3 No-Build Alternative

The No-Build Alternative illustrates how transportation and environmental conditions would likely change by the year 2045 if the Modified LPA is not built. This alternative makes the same assumptions as the Modified LPA regarding population and employment growth through 2045, and it assumes that the same transportation and land use projects in the region would occur as planned.

Regional transportation projects included in the No-Build Alternative are those in the financially constrained 2018 *Regional Transportation Plan* (2018 RTP) adopted in December 2018 by the Metro Council (Metro 2018a) and in March 2019 (RTC 2019) by the Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council (RTC) Board of Directors is referred to as the 2018 RTP in this report. The 2018 RTP has a planning horizon year of 2040 and includes projects from state and local plans necessary to meet transportation needs over this time period; financially constrained means these projects have identified funding sources. The Transportation Technical Report lists the projects included in the financially constrained 2018 RTP.

The implementation of regional and local land use plans is also assumed as part of the No-Build Alternative. For the IBR Program analysis, population and employment assumptions used in the 2018 RTP were updated to 2045 in a manner consistent with regional comprehensive and land use planning. In addition to accounting for added growth, adjustments were made within Portland to reallocate the households and employment based on the most current update to Portland's comprehensive plan, which was not complete in time for inclusion in the 2018 RTP.

Other projects assumed as part of the No-Build Alternative include major development and infrastructure projects that are in the permitting stage or partway through phased development. These projects are discussed as reasonably foreseeable future actions in the IBR Cumulative Effects Technical Report. They include the Vancouver Waterfront project, Terminal 1 development, the Renaissance Boardwalk, the Waterfront Gateway Project, improvements to the levee system, several restoration and habitat projects, and the Portland Expo Center.

In addition to population and employment growth and the implementation of local and regional plans and projects, the No-Build Alternative assumes that the existing Interstate Bridge would continue to operate as it does today. As the bridge ages, needs for repair and maintenance would potentially increase, and the bridge would continue to be at risk of mechanical failure or damage from a seismic event.



2. METHODS

2.1 Introduction

This chapter outlines the proposed approach to collect and evaluate the beneficial and adverse impacts of the Modified LPA on land use. It includes a description of the study area, relevant laws and regulations, and methods for collecting data, assessing impacts, and evaluating possible mitigation measures. The analysis is designed to comply with NEPA and relevant federal, state and local laws. These methods are based on those developed for the CRC project, which completed the NEPA process with a signed ROD in 2011, followed by NEPA reevaluations in 2012 (to modify bridge clearance over the Columbia River) and 2013 (to evaluate phased construction). The CRC project was discontinued in 2014; the IBR Program is evaluating changes in regulations, policy, and physical conditions that have occurred since the completion of the ROD. The updated methods were used to evaluate the potential environmental impacts associated with the Modified LPA.

The methods described in this chapter have been updated for the IBR Program in the following ways:

- Maps and tables have been provided showing acreage to be converted to transportation use (also see the Acquisitions Technical Report).
- Federal, state, regional and local plans, policies and regulations have been updated.
- Zoning for Clark County, the City of Vancouver, and the City of Portland has been updated.
- Updated environmental guidance from the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) and Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) has been incorporated.

2.2 Study Area

The primary study area for the IBR Program runs along a 5-mile segment of Interstate 5 (I-5), approximately between the State Route (SR) 500 interchange in Washington and the I-5/Columbia Boulevard interchange in Oregon. The primary study area is shown in Figure 2-1. Most of the direct physical changes associated with the Modified LPA would occur within the primary study area, though mitigation could still occur outside of it. Temporary construction easements would be established directly adjacent to the proposed construction areas, while larger staging areas and casting yards could be located farther from the project footprint. The Modified LPA also includes expansion of the Ruby Junction Maintenance Facility in Gresham, Oregon.

In addition to the primary study area, the land use analysis also evaluates the potential for impacts within a secondary study area, shown in Figure 2-2. Because major transportation projects can affect regional growth trends and patterns, the secondary study area was identified to evaluate where indirect effects (e.g., traffic and development changes) could occur. The IBR Program team relied primarily on secondary data (including, but not limited to, housing statistics, geographic information system [GIS] databases, census data) to evaluate the potential for indirect land use effects.



Figure 2-1. Primary Study Area





Figure 2-2. Secondary Study Area





The secondary study area includes a broader area than the primary study area, extending from the I-5/I-84 interchange in the south to approximately the I-5/I-205 interchange in the north and extending 1 mile on both the east and west sides of the I-5 right of way. Because major transportation projects can impact regional growth trends and patterns, potential indirect impacts were analyzed based on traffic projections within this area. The analysis also considered existing and planned land uses in the Portland metropolitan and Clark County areas. Additional vehicular capacity and potentially improved transit capacity could potentially indirectly affect land uses and their intensities within these areas, including the potential for induced growth. The analysis also included a review for consistency with state, regional, and locally adopted plans.

2.3 Relevant Laws and Regulations

The following plans, policies, regulations, and zoning designations provide updated state, regional, and local guidance for the IBR Program's land use analysis.

2.3.1 Federal

- Rivers and Harbors Act Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act (33 United States Code [USC] 410 et seq.) administered by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.
- National Historic Preservation Act (16 USC § 470 et seq.) Section 106.
- National Trails System Act (16 USC 1241-1251).
 - > Oregon National Historic Trail.
 - > Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail.
- U.S. DOT Act Section 4(f) 49 USC § 303(c).
 - > This is addressed in the Section 4(f) Evaluation; refer to the SEIS for additional information.

2.3.2 State

- Oregon Statewide Planning Goals.
 - > Goal 12 Transportation.
 - > Goal 5 Oregon Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces.
 - > Goal 2 Land Use Planning.
- Oregon Transportation Plan.
 - 2018 adopted amendment to incorporate the Statewide Transportation Strategy as part of the Oregon Transportation Plan (in the process of being updated at the time of writing this report).
- Oregon Highway Plan updates through 2015 (in the process of being updated at the time of writing this report).
- Oregon's State Agency Coordination (SAC) Rule [OAR 731-015-0075 (1) through (8)] requires ODOT to analyze a project's compatibility and compliance with state land use goals and local comprehensive plans within the context of a Draft EA or EIS. The SAC rule sets forth


parameters for coordination with planning officials from all applicable local, state, regional, and federal planning agencies. The rule also mandates that the Oregon Transportation Commission must adopt a finding of compatibility with applicable comprehensive plans before project design can be approved.

- Washington Transportation Plan.
 - > Phase 2 Implementation 2017–2040.
 - Replacing 2007–2026 long-range transportation plan.
 - > 2040 and Beyond.
- Washington Growth Management Act.
- Washington state laws governing statewide transportation planning (RCW 47.06) and regional transportation planning organizations (RCW 47.80) require WSDOT to cooperate with city and county governments and planning agencies, transit agencies, and other appropriate local planning entities when planning improvements to highways of statewide significance, including the Interstate system.

2.3.3 Regional

- Metro 2040: Regional Framework Plan Chapters 1 (Land Use) and 2 (Transportation), as updated.
- Metro's 2018 Regional Transportation Plan 2018 updates.
 - > Including Climate Smart Strategy plans.
- C-TRAN 2030 Transit Development Plan 2016 updates.
- Regional Transportation Plan for Clark County 2019 updates.

2.3.4 Local

- Multnomah County Comprehensive Plan 2016 updates.
- City of Portland 2035 Comprehensive Plan, as amended through March 2020.
- City of Portland. The Portland Plan, April 2012.
- City of Portland and Multnomah County. Climate Action Plan, June 2015.
- City of Portland Transportation System Plan.
 - > With City of Portland Comprehensive Plan 2016 updates.
- City of Portland Enhanced Transit Corridors Plan, adopted June 20, 2018.
- City of Portland Central City 2035 Plan.
 - > Adopted in July 2018, was appealed and re-adopted on July 8, 2020.
 - > Central City 2035 N/NE Quadrant Plan Lloyd Center 2012 updates.
- Portland Development Commission Interstate Corridor Urban Renewal Plan Amended and Restated through July 27, 2011.
- Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan (1997).



- Kenton Neighborhood Plan (1993), as amended by the Kenton Downtown Plan (2001).
- Hayden Island Plan (2009).
- Hayden Island Plan District (HI), Portland Zoning Code Chapter 33.532.
- Portland International Raceway Plan District (PIR), Portland Zoning Code Chapter 33.566.
- East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan (1990).
- Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 Natural Resources Management Plan (1997).
- City of Vancouver Comprehensive Plan 2011–2013 updates.
 - Vancouver Comprehensive Plan update process was initiated in 2022 and is currently anticipated to conclude in 2025.
- Vancouver Moves.
 - > Update to City of Vancouver 2004 Transportation Plan.
 - > In process, anticipated to be completed by in 2023.
- City of Vancouver Strategic Plan (2016–2021) 2018 updates.
 - Strategic Plan is currently under review. An update is expected to be completed in 2023.
- Vancouver City Center Vision & Subarea Plan (2007).
- City of Vancouver Heritage Tree Program 2011 updates.
- City of Vancouver Shoreline Master Program 2017 and 2019 updates.
- Port of Vancouver Waterfront Development Master Plan, November 2015.
- Clark County Comprehensive Growth Management Plan (2015–2035) 2016 updates.

2.3.5 Plans and Policies Changed or Removed from the CRC Land Use Technical Report

- U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration 2004 "New Starts Guidelines and Standards for Assessment of Transit Supportive Land Use."
 - Rather than using this document to specifically analyze local codes and policies against the approach presented in the report, the updated technical report used this document for general guidance.

2.3.6 Applicable Clark County/City of Vancouver Zoning

The following Clark County/City of Vancouver comprehensive plan and zoning designations are located within the study area. See Figure 3-4 and Figure 3-5.

- Commercial (COM)
 - > City Center (CX)
 - > Community Commercial (CC)
 - > General Commercial (CG)

Land Use Technical Report



- Neighborhood Commercial (CN)
- Open Space/Green Space
 - Parks
- Residential
 - > Urban Low Density Residential
- Low Density Residential (R-9)
 - > Urban High Density Residential
- Higher Density Residential (R-22, R-18, and R-30)
 - > Public Facilities
 - Central Park Mixed Use (CPX)
 - Industrial
 - Light Industrial (LI)
 - > Water
- Overlays
 - > Transit Overlay (Tier One and Tier Two)
 - > Central Park Plan District
 - > Historic Reserve Conservation
 - > Social and Health Conservation
 - > Noise Impact Overlay District
 - > Education and Recreation Conservation
 - > Heritage Overlay District
 - > Central City Plan District
 - > Shoreline Plan District
 - > Airport Approach Zone
 - > Airport Transition Zone
 - > Airport Height Overlay District
 - > Hough Neighborhood Overlay District

2.3.7 Applicable City of Portland Zoning and Overlays

The following City of Portland Comprehensive Plan and zoning designations are located within the study area. See Figure 3-12.

- Multi-Dwelling Neighborhood (MD-N)
 - Residential Multi-Dwelling (RM1)
- Mixed Use Neighborhood (MU-N)
 - > Commercial Employment (CE)



- > Commercial Mixed Use 1 (CM1)
- Commercial Mixed Use 2 (CM2)
- Manufactured Dwelling Park (MDP)
 - > Residential Manufactured Dwelling Park (RMP)
- Industrial Sanctuary (IS)
 - General Industrial 2 (IG2)
- Open Space (OS)
- Mixed Employment (ME)
 - General Employment 2 (EG2)
- Overlays.
 - > Aircraft Landing (h)
 - Airport Noise Impact (x)
 - > Environmental Conservation (c)
 - > Design (d)
 - Prime Industrial (k)
 - > Historic Resources

2.4 Effects Guidelines

The approach for evaluating potential land use effects of the Modified LPA is based on guidelines developed by the U.S. Department of Transportation and Federal Highway Administration (1987), WSDOT, and ODOT. WSDOT guidelines are presented in the *Environmental Manual* (WSDOT 2020). ODOT is in the process of updating the EA and EIS components of its *NEPA Manual* (ODOT 2021); therefore, ODOT will rely on the FHWA guidelines for evaluating potential land use effects of the Modified LPA. The analysis included a check for consistency with state, regional, and local plans and regulations. Potential land use effects evaluated by this approach include:

- Effects from converting land area to a transportation use from other non-transportation uses:
 - > Property acquisitions and relocations.
- Changes in noise levels, vibration, dust, or visual changes inconsistent with existing land uses.
- Conflicts or inconsistencies with local plans or zoning resulting from the Modified LPA.

Changes in development intensities or changes in the mix of land uses resulting from loss of land area for project construction were also evaluated.

2.5 Data Collection

This Land Use Technical Report was prepared using information obtained from a variety of sources. Agency and environmental documents, local maps, project drawings, aerial photographs, and field visits provided information on existing conditions in the study area. The WSDOT *Environmental*



Manual, federal guidance documents, and other materials were employed to structure the analysis. Neighborhood, local, regional, and state plans and development regulations were reviewed to identify goals and policies pertaining to transportation and land use.

2.5.1 Data Sources and Approach

For this evaluation, the Program team examined the land use planning context in both Oregon and Washington—specifically in the Portland-Vancouver metropolitan area. The team reviewed the general historical development of the area and recent development trends. GIS and preliminary project designs were used to analyze the changes in land use that could result from the Modified LPA, including indirect impacts to land use such as displacements indirectly influencing development or redevelopment on surrounding parcels.

The Program team conducted field visits to verify and correct information gathered from the Metro Regional Land Information System and the Clark County GIS Services and Assessment for existing land uses. Local agencies were consulted to verify the accuracy of land use and zoning maps.

The collection of land use data included:

- Reviewing the Program's consistency with state, regional, and local plans and policies including comprehensive plans, transportation plans, zoning ordinances, subarea plans, shoreline management master plans, and site-specific master or facility plans. The Program team contacted relevant agencies to discuss any potential plan or ordinance amendments to identify inconsistencies with applicable plans and development regulations.
- Interviewing local, regional, and state planning agencies and other relevant agencies to gather data and interpret policies.
- Identifying special districts, centers, and overlays, such as Vancouver's Central Park, through a review of relevant policies and correspondence with local planning agencies. This included a review of planned developments, connectivity, access to the interstate and transit systems, and noise and air quality.
- Reviewing required permits and development regulations for areas in the primary study area that may be impacted by construction activities. To conduct the permitting review, the team considered allowed uses, buffers around sensitive areas, demolition of significant structures, and other regulated actions.

2.6 Analysis Methods

2.6.1 Long-Term Operational Impacts

To analyze long-term land use impacts, the Program team compared conceptual designs and operational plans to the information collected on existing land uses, zoning, comprehensive plan designations, designated special districts, overlays, and subarea plans. The findings from other IBR Program technical reports including the Transportation, Acquisitions, Economics, and Air Quality Technical Reports, were reviewed to identify land use impacts. Long-term land use impacts were classified as either direct or indirect, as discussed below.



2.6.1.1 Direct Land Use Impacts

The analysis of direct land use impacts included evaluation of the following:

- The extent to which property acquisitions and relocations of existing uses within the primary study area could change land uses by converting from a non-transportation use to a transportation use including necessary changes to zoning, special district plans, and overlays. The types of property impacts that are considered include:
 - > Acquisition (land, subsurface, airspace).
 - Full acquisition, with or without displacement of the use.
 - Partial acquisition of the parcel, with or without displacement of the use.
 - > Easement (land, subsurface, airspace).
 - Permanent.
 - Temporary.

In addition to the land required to accommodate new or improved transportation facilities, acquisition of land, of space underground (subsurface), or of space in the air (airspace) could be required for the long-term maintenance of these facilities. These impacts could be a permanent acquisition where the agency obtains complete ownership of the property, or they could be a permanent easement where the agency would obtain some rights to the land, air, or subsurface, but not ownership.

Temporary acquisitions would be required to construct the highway, transit, and bicycle and pedestrian features of the Modified LPA. These temporary acquisitions could be obtained via easement or lease where the project would obtain certain rights, such as the right to access or store materials on the property, but not ownership of the property. There are three types of temporary acquisitions that would likely be required: construction easements, staging areas, and casting yards. Please refer to the Acquisitions Technical Report for more information on permanent and temporary acquisitions.

- The compatibility of new uses (such as roadway or transit facilities) with surrounding existing or planned uses and whether such uses could disrupt or divide the physical arrangement of a community.
- Visual, noise, vibration, and air quality changes inconsistent with existing land uses.

The long-term effects analysis included review of relevant state, regional, and local plans to determine plan consistency.

- The Modified LPA was evaluated for consistency with state, regional, and local plans and implementing regulations including comprehensive plans, transportation plans, zoning ordinances, subarea plans, shoreline management master plans, and site-specific master or facility plans.
- The Program team contacted relevant agencies to discuss potential plan or ordinance changes to identify inconsistencies with applicable plans and development regulations.



2.6.1.2 Indirect Impacts

40 CFR Section 1508.8 defines indirect effects as follows:

Indirect effects, which are caused by the action and are later in time or farther removed in distance, but are still reasonably foreseeable. Indirect effects may include growth inducing effects and other effects related to induced changes in the pattern of land use, population density or growth rate, and related effects on air and water and other natural systems, including ecosystems.

This analysis considered how direct impacts, such as displacements, could indirectly influence development or redevelopment on surrounding parcels. The analysis also considered whether the transportation improvements could potentially result in induced growth by reviewing local plans to determine the prevailing comprehensive plan and zoning designations within the primary and secondary study areas, along with the extent to which the IBR Program's proposed transportation improvements have been incorporated into regional growth management planning.

2.6.2 Short-Term Construction Impacts

The land use analysis estimated short-term construction impacts based on conceptual designs for the Modified LPA, construction plans developed for the CRC LPA, and the findings from other technical reports.

The analysis included evaluation of the impacts of construction activities to surrounding uses, special districts, overlays, and plan areas. These include activities with impacts to access, noise, air pollution, traffic, neighborhoods, economics, historic resources, ecosystems, and others. Such impacts could include changes to land uses resulting from temporary reduction or loss of accessibility to businesses or residences, disturbance of livability, or disruption of significant public activities or events.

2.6.3 Mitigation

Where potential impacts are identified, the Program team conducted an analysis to identify potential and appropriate mitigation measures, including measures that may be identified in other disciplines, with the intent of identifying mitigation measures directly related to the impacts. The measures will be further refined through work with the participating and sponsoring agencies and in keeping with adopted federal and state guidelines.



3. AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

3.1 Introduction

This chapter describes the existing land uses, recent and pending development, planned land uses, zoning and overlay districts, and development trends in the primary and secondary study areas as shown in Figure 3-1 through Figure 3-8. It identifies the state, regional, and local transportation and land use plans and development regulations that apply to the project. This chapter also identifies the current land use patterns and zoning districts within the study area.

Sophisticated transportation and land use plans and development regulations that implement those plans are part of this region's character. Oregon's statewide planning laws, described below, and Washington State's Growth Management Act agree on general principles of compact urban form, preservation of rural areas, use of urban growth boundaries, and multimodal transportation systems. Regional plans help to tailor these goals for the Portland-Vancouver area. Local plans refine the goals further and establish policies to implement them. Zoning and other development regulations are adopted through ordinances to implement these planning principles. Zoning in the study area includes numerous overlays for the protection of historic, scenic, environmental, and other resources.

3.2 Oregon

The primary study area in Oregon is largely characterized by commercial land uses with smaller amounts of vacant land, multifamily residential, and parks or open space. The Oregon portion of the secondary study area comprises several neighborhoods and is largely residential. Commercial development is the dominant land use along the major transportation corridors such as Interstate Avenue and Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard. Figure 3-1 through Figure 3-3 show the existing land uses in the primary and secondary study areas of the areas in Portland that would be affected by the proposed project.

3.2.1 Existing Land Uses

The southern portion of the secondary study area, as shown in Figure 3-2, includes the Lloyd District, which is a mix of residential and commercial land uses and includes regional facilities such as the Moda Center, the Veterans Memorial Coliseum, and the Oregon Convention Center. This area is a major employment center for the region and includes several large office buildings which house the Bonneville Power Administration, State of Oregon, Oregon Metro (Metro), Tri-County Metropolitan Transportation District (TriMet) offices, the Lloyd Center Mall, and various small businesses. Residential uses also make up a large amount of the southern portion of the secondary study area. Light-rail runs east-west along NE Holladay Street in the Lloyd District and travels north along Interstate Avenue. This light-rail service is part of the existing MAX light-rail transit system, which runs between Gresham and Hillsboro, traveling through downtown Portland, and connects to the Portland International Airport. The MAX light-rail also runs north-south from the Expo Center through Union Station, Pioneer Square, and Portland State University, ending in Milwaukie. The area is also well served by a large number of bus routes.







ource: Clark County, Portland Metro RLIS, ODOT, WSDOT, ESRI, Manbox, OpenStreetMa





Figure 3-2. Existing Land Uses, North Portland/East Central Portland





Figure 3-3. Existing Land Uses, Columbia Boulevard/Hayden Island/Columbia River



The area of North Portland between N Columbia Boulevard and the Columbia River, as shown in Figure 3-3, is primarily industrial and commercial uses. Multifamily housing, parks, public facilities, and open space are also present. A number of large properties in this area have single uses such as the Portland International Raceway, the Expo Center, and an Amazon delivery facility that occupies the site of the former Portland Meadows horse racing track. This area includes the Columbia Slough and Hayden Island. Currently, the MAX light-rail line ends at the Expo Center just south of the Columbia River.

Hayden Island (Figure 3-3) is located in the Columbia River and is only accessible via I-5. Hayden Island Drive is the main road within the neighborhood. The west side of Hayden Island and the far eastern tip of the island are predominantly open space, and the western side is unincorporated. In the eastern portion of the study area, the primary uses are commercial, including the Jantzen Beach Center (a large shopping mall) and surrounding retailers. Residential uses in the area include multifamily residential developments, manufactured homes, and floating homes associated with small marinas. The Columbia River forms the boundary between Oregon and Washington. It is lined on both sides by marinas, homes, hotels, restaurants, and public facilities.

3.2.2 Recent and Pending Development

Information on recent and pending development was compiled using desktop GIS-based resources and the City of Portland's PortlandMaps website.

Recent and pending development within the primary study area that has taken place since the publication of the CRC Final EIS is described below. Projects are listed from south to north.

- Portland Expo Center The Expo Center is located west of I-5, north of N Expo Road, and south of N Marine Drive. A study is underway (launched in early 2020) to assess the value and opportunities for development at the Expo Center. Potential future scenarios were presented to community open houses for feedback in spring 2021. Metro invited community groups, businesses, and other interested parties to suggest future uses for the Expo Center site. On October 21, 2022, Metro announced that it had received eight proposals for redevelopment of the site.
- Harbor Sky Lot 1 Development A five-story, 113-apartment building has been completed and is currently undergoing inspections (as of fall 2022) at 1245 N Anchor Way.
- Harbor Sky A multifamily building was built in 2017 east of I-5 along the riverfront at 1055 N Anchor Way.
- Marine View A multifamily building was built in 2016 at 905 N Marine Drive.
- Floor and Décor A new 80,000-square-foot, single-story flooring retail store was built in 2021; it is directly east of and adjacent to I-5.
- Jantzen Beach Center Redevelopment The commercial center, located west of I-5, north of N Jantzen Avenue, and south of N Hayden Island Drive, was recently redeveloped and includes several available spaces for lease.
- Retail A new commercial retail building was built in 2013 west of and adjacent to I-5 at 12235 N Center Avenue.

Land Use Technical Report



- Wood Springs Inn This proposed development is in the planning phase and underwent early
 assistance consultation with the Portland Bureau of Planning and Sustainability (BPS) in
 January 2021. As proposed, the project would consist of a 123-room hotel constructed along
 the north property boundary of the Thunderbird Hotel parcel, adjacent to the existing I-5
 southbound bridge. The project would also include a 4,000-square-foot retail store and gas
 station abutting the N Hayden Island Drive right of way. The proposed site for this project is
 also identified as a potential staging or casting location for the Modified LPA. As of
 January 2023, BPS had no record of this proposed development proceeding beyond early
 assistance consultation to subsequent phases of development review.
- Jantzen Bay Marinas Relocation of two marina docks and piles, including 88 boat slips, and the addition of berths for 24 floating-home slips immediately east of the existing Interstate Bridge fronting North Portland Harbor. The project includes proposed mitigation along the Jantzen Bay Marina riverbank, removal of the existing boat ramp for additional parking, relocation of an existing fuel dock, and upsizing of an existing lift station (if needed). This project underwent an early assistance consultation with BPS in October 2020, but no formal permitting or land use reviews have been initiated.

3.3 Washington

3.3.1 Existing Land Uses

Downtown Vancouver, as shown on Figure 3-4, includes the central business district (south of Mill Plain Boulevard and west of I-5), residential areas, and the Central Park neighborhood, which includes National Park Service property and the Vancouver National Historic Reserve. Land uses in the area are primarily commercial including retail, offices, industrial, governmental, and residential uses. The downtown serves as the governmental and cultural center of Clark County and southwest Washington. Community facilities located in the downtown area include an Amtrak train station, C-TRAN BRT facilities (including Turtle Place Transit Station), Esther Short Park, and government offices. The current I-5 corridor is a significant division in the downtown area with the commercial/office center on the west and the Vancouver National Historic Reserve and Clark College on the east. A robust network of bus routes serves the downtown and inner neighborhoods of Vancouver.

North of the central city, commercial development is centered around I-5 and Highway 99, as shown on Figure 3-5. Spreading east and west away from I-5, much of the secondary study area is designated single-family residential with some multifamily districts scattered along major roadways. Public facilities, parks, and open spaces are found throughout the secondary study area. The Vancouver urban growth boundary is just to the north of this area. The boundary currently intersects I-5 at approximately 209th Street.

The uptown commercial district (between Mill Plain and Fourth Plain Boulevards on Main Street) is a transitional area between downtown and the lower-density land to the north. Residential uses predominate with major transportation corridors (primarily Fourth Plain Boulevard and Main Street) supporting commercial uses. The neighborhoods directly on each side of I-5—Arnada, Shumway and Rose Village—have many vintage homes and a tight street grid. The current municipal boundaries of the City of Vancouver run roughly along 63rd Street.















Hazel Dell is primarily a suburban residential area and includes areas north of 63rd Street and south of Salmon Creek and 119th Street. The residential areas are heavily single-family with larger lots than are found in areas farther south. The commercial areas (along Highway 99 and Hazel Dell Avenue) have frequent bus service but are primarily auto-oriented. Infill development has maintained a healthy pace in the Felida and Hazel Dell areas with single housing units as well as very small subdivisions being built on previously overlooked parcels. A major C-TRAN park-and-ride facility is located west of I-5 and adjacent to the north side of the Hazel Dell Town Center.

The northernmost portion of the secondary study area is suburban in character and has been developed more recently. It includes some undeveloped areas with a rural character. Residential areas are predominantly large-lot single-family parcels. Commercial areas along 134th Street and Highway 99 are auto-oriented. This area includes a number of regional facilities— the Exposition Center, the Clark County Fairgrounds, the Clark County Amphitheater, and Legacy Salmon Creek Hospital. The Washington State University Vancouver campus is located just outside the secondary study area. I-5 and I-205 come together in this area, as do 134th Street, Salmon Creek Avenue (serving the University), and Highway 99. The confluence of these major roadways has resulted in significant congestion, which has led to development moratoria in the area twice in the past. A large C-TRAN park-and-ride facility, the Salmon Creek Park and Ride, is located between 136th Street and 139th Street.

The Columbia Business Center (CBC) is an industrial park located approximately 1.2 miles upriver from the Interstate Bridge. It was once the location of the Henry J. Kaiser Vancouver Shipyard, established in 1942 as an emergency shipyard to build vessels for World War II. The last ship was delivered in 1946 and the shipyard was closed thereafter. The CBC includes approximately 2.3 million square feet of space in 27 buildings and approximately 1.0 million square feet of leasable space. The CBC provides both barge and rail access. The BNSF Railway mainline borders the north side of the property. The East Slip is used to receive and ship fabricated steel products, construction materials, and supplies. The West Slip is not active and as of 2021 there were no plans to improve it. There is a dock located just to the west of the West Slip, which is used by a marine shipyard services company.

3.3.2 Recent and Pending Development

Information on recent and pending development was compiled from desktop review of planned projects listed on the City of Vancouver's Be Heard public engagement website (City of Vancouver 2022a), the City of Vancouver's Building and Permitting Services website (City of Vancouver 2022b), and in the *Vancouver Waterfront Master Plan* (Columbia Waterfront LLC 2022). Information from desktop resources was verified and updated through email correspondence with City of Vancouver staff (Turner 2023).

The character of development in downtown Vancouver has changed greatly during the past decade. The focus of the downtown and waterfront areas has broadened from employment-related uses to tourism and recreation development, retail shopping, meeting and convention activities, housing, and entertainment. Along with revitalizing overall downtown activity, development has emphasized new residential opportunities and revitalization of the retail core and central waterfront. New and growing uses in the downtown include hotels, eateries, bars/taverns, and personal services.



The Vancouver City Center Vision Plan, adopted in 2007, continues to guide development in and around downtown Vancouver. The Historic Trust is a nonprofit that maintains and preserves the City-owned Officers Row and West Vancouver Barracks historic properties as well as the Providence Academy located west of I-5 and Officers Row. In 2015, the Port of Vancouver developed the Port of Vancouver Waterfront Development Master Plan to define a vision for the Columbia River waterfront and guide future development.

Esther Short Park and Propstra Square are located in downtown Vancouver between Esther and Columbia Streets and 6th and 8th Streets. Esther Short Park is the oldest public square in Washington and is considered the oldest city park in the West. Private donations of \$3.6 million and City investment of \$2 million were used in 1998 to redevelop the park, which features new a plaza (Propstra Square), gardens, and amenities. The site is active year-round with a variety of events, programs, concerts, food vendors, and other activities.

Specific recent and ongoing development projects in this area, from south to north, include:

- Vancouver Waterfront Portions of this development are currently open, while others remain in construction and additional phases are still planned. The project's master plan consists of a pier and parks/open space, hotels, 3,300 new residential units, 1.25 million square feet available for office space, and 250,000 square feet for restaurants and retail space (Columbia Waterfront, LLC 2022). The development is located west of I-5 along the waterfront.
- Terminal 1 This project is located west of I-5 along the waterfront. It is currently in the construction phase and consists of approximately 10 acres of land to be developed for a hotel, public marketplace and dock, public spaces, mixed-use development (office, residential, and retail space), a public trail, and public spaces. The master plan provides a schedule of completion in 2027 with the first three blocks completed in 2023.
- Waterfront Gateway A 6.4-acre City-owned site located west of I-5 between the Columbia River waterfront and historic downtown. The properties are situated south of W 6th Street, north of the railroad berm, west of Columbia Street, and east of Grant Street. Future development is anticipated to include office, commercial, retail and housing space in a multistory mixed-use environment.
- 103 Columbia Street A commercial building in the construction phase, consisting of 104,000 square feet, located west of I-5 at 103 Columbia Street.
- Kirkland Renaissance Boardwalk Project This project, started in 2021, is located to the east of I-5 along the waterfront and consists of four new buildings including residential and a mix of retail, office, and restaurant space.
- Hurley Building Condominium A commercial office condominium building built in 2018, is located at 275 W 3rd Street.
- 210 W 4th Street A commercial office space remodel completed in 2021.
- 400 Washington Street Apartments An approximately 40,000-square-foot apartment building located in downtown Vancouver, west of I-5. The project is currently under construction and will contain 186 units and 5,500 square feet of ground floor commercial space.



- Hyatt Place A five-story, 113-room hotel at 415 Washington Street with below-grade parking, a swimming pool, and 2,006 square feet of street-level retail. The rooftop will have a small, covered bar and large outdoor seating area. The project is currently under review.
- 101 E 6th Street Commercial office building built in 2015.
- Vancouver Center Condo Multifamily mixed-use building with apartments and retail built in 2019 at 608 Washington Street.
- Block 10 A six-story, mixed-use building at 815 Columbia Street including 110 multifamily units, 79,000 square feet of office space, and 10,000 square feet of retail. The project was completed in 2022 and is now occupied.
- Vancouver Community Library The new library was completed in 2011 and consists of 80,000 square feet of space.
- The Academy The Academy project (Aegis) will rehabilitate the Providence Academy building (located adjacent to I-5) in two phases. Phase 1 consists of 147 apartments, 6,000 square feet of commercial space, and a 5,000-square-foot public plaza. Phase 2 consists of 195 apartments and a 201-space parking structure. Phase 1 is currently under construction. Phase 2 has received land use approval but has not started construction.
- New Seasons Downtown Vancouver Projected to open in fall 2023, the New Seasons grocery store will encompass 26,000 square feet at 1506 Main Street north of Mill Plain Boulevard.
- Vancouver Innovation, Technology and Arts Elementary School A new elementary school located east of the I-5 corridor at 1111 Fort Vancouver Way.
- Several multifamily buildings have been built around Mill Plain Boulevard and to the north, primarily to the west of I-5.
- Vancouver Barracks The federally established Vancouver National Historic Reserve includes many buildings previously used by the United States military.

In 2012, the East and South Barracks were transferred from the U.S. Army to the National Park Service. The National Park Service completed a master plan for the East and South Barracks in 2012 which envisioned a mix of public offices and museum space, with nonprofit and private-sector offices, businesses, shops, and restaurants. Rehabilitation and infrastructure improvements were conducted on the Vancouver Barracks between 2013 and 2020. In 2018, design and archaeological work was conducted to move the Vancouver Barracks toward the "public-service campus" envisioned in the master plan.

3.4 Transportation and Land Use Plans

This section discusses the applicable plans and implementing regulations against which the project has been reviewed for consistency. Federal plans are covered first, followed by state plans, bi-state, regional, and local transportation and land use plans.



3.4.1 Federal

3.4.1.1 Rivers and Harbors Act – Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act (33 USC 410 et seq.), administered by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899 requires authorization from the Secretary of the Army, acting through the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, for the construction of any structure in or over any navigable water of the United States. Structures or work outside the limits defined for navigable waters of the United States require a Section 10 permit if the structure or work affects the course, location, or condition of the water body. The law applies to any dredging or disposal of dredged materials, excavation, filling, rechannelization, or any other modification of a navigable water of the United States, and applies to all structures, from the smallest floating dock to the largest commercial undertaking. It further includes, without limitation, any wharf, dolphin, weir, boom, breakwater, jetty, groin, bank protection (e.g., riprap, revetment, bulkhead), mooring structures such as pilings, aerial or subaqueous power transmission lines, intake or outfall pipes, permanently moored floating vessel, tunnel, artificial canal, boat ramp, aids to navigation, and any other permanent or semi-permanent obstacle or obstruction.

3.4.1.2 National Trails System Act (16 USC 1241–1251)

The National Trails System Act instituted a national system of recreational, scenic, and historic trails. National Historic Trails follow as closely as possible and practicable the original trails or routes of travel of national historic significance. The act requires that historic routes, remnants, and artifacts be identified and protected for public use and enjoyment. There are two National Historic Trails in the study area as described below.

OREGON NATIONAL HISTORIC TRAIL

The Oregon National Historic Trail, a route of approximately 2000 miles, extends from near Independence, Missouri, to the vicinity of Portland, Oregon. The trail follows a route identified as "Primary Route of the Oregon Trail 1841–1848," which includes Fort Vancouver (see Figure 3-6). The route follows the Columbia River through the study area with a stop at Fort Vancouver before continuing and turning south onto the Willamette River.





Source: NPS n.d.

LEWIS AND CLARK NATIONAL HISTORIC TRAIL

The Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail, a trail of approximately 4,900 miles, extends from the Ohio River in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, to the mouth of the Columbia River in Oregon. It follows the outbound and inbound routes of the Lewis and Clark Expedition. The Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail follows the Columbia River, passes through the study area (see Figure 3-7), and continues to the Pacific Ocean west of Astoria.







Source: NPS n.d.

3.4.2 Oregon

In 1973, the Oregon legislature enacted Senate Bill 100,⁹ which requires all cities and counties to adopt and implement comprehensive land use plans that comply with 19 statewide goals and guidelines. Adopted comprehensive plans are implemented by a variety of ordinances used to enforce the provisions of the plans, capital facility plans, and other programs.

The statewide goals include goals to provide infrastructure to urban areas and to direct high-density growth to urbanized locations. In 1978, to comply with Statewide Goal No. 14, Urbanization, Metro adopted a regional urban growth boundary (UGB) for the Portland metropolitan area. The UGB defines the area within the three Oregon metropolitan counties—Multnomah, Clackamas, and Washington—where urban-level zoning, infrastructure, and development may occur. Local jurisdictions' comprehensive plans and implementing ordinances must provide urban services necessary to achieve the level of urban development envisioned in the UGB assumptions. Oregon Metro forecast that between 2018 and 2038, there could be between 365,000 and 659,000 additional people residing in the seven-county region, with the most likely growth of 524,000 more people (Metro 2018b). In 2011, Metro expanded the UGB by approximately 2,015 acres to address new housing and job needs; in 2014, an additional 1,178 acres in Washington County were added; and in 2018 the UGB

⁹ ORS 197.175(2)



was expanded by another 2,181 acres. The UGB has profoundly affected the land use and development patterns in the metropolitan area by promoting infill and redevelopment rather than expansion.

Local comprehensive plans are based on the regional transportation policy set in 1976. At that time, the policy shifted from emphasizing automobile accommodation to a broader approach aimed at the efficient use of land and integration with the transportation system. A 1973 governor's task force on transportation concluded that fiscal and environmental realities made it impractical to rely on new radial highways to meet future travel demand, and that most of the new commuter growth into the central city needed to be accommodated with mass transit. As a result, for over 20 years land use and transportation plans have been based on the policy that no new radial highway capacity would be built in the region. Instead, future capacity and level of service to and from the central city would depend primarily on high-capacity transit.

The statewide goals relevant to the project are described briefly below.

3.4.2.1 Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 2: Land Use Planning

Goal 2 requires each local government in Oregon to have and follow a comprehensive land use plan and implementing regulations. Comprehensive plans must comply with the requirements of each applicable statewide planning goal.

3.4.2.2 Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 5: Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces

This planning goal protects and plans for Oregon's natural resources, scenic and historic areas, and open spaces by creating inventories. There are six Goal 5 resource categories that rely on state or federal inventories: wild and scenic rivers, state scenic waterways, groundwater resources, Oregon recreation trails, Sage Grouse habitat, and wilderness areas.

3.4.2.3 Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 12: Transportation Planning

In 1991, the Land Conservation and Development Commission adopted the Transportation Planning Rule (TPR), which implements Goal 12, to further enhance the planning connection between land use and transportation. The TPR specifies what must be included in local planning efforts for transportation and what must be addressed and included in a transportation system plan (TSP). The TPR directs counties and metropolitan planning organizations to prepare regional TSPs that are consistent with the state TSP. In turn, counties and cities must prepare local TSPs which are consistent with the regional plans. Therefore, all regional and local TSPs must be consistent with the Oregon Transportation Plan and the adopted modal and facility plans. Transportation Planning Rule Section 660-012-0160 (6), as amended in 2022, states that:

Metro shall adopt a regional transportation plan in which the projected vehicle miles traveled per capita at the horizon year using the financially-constrained project list is lower than the estimated vehicle miles traveled per capita at the base year by an amount that is consistent with the metropolitan greenhouse gas reduction targets in OAR 660-044-0020.



Statewide Planning Goal 12 provides and encourages a safe, convenient, and economic transportation system. Goal 12 requires cities, counties, and the state to create a TSP that considers all relevant modes of transportation: mass transit, air, water, rail, highway, bicycle, and pedestrian.

The following subsections describe the Oregon state transportation plans and policies that are relevant to the proposed project.

THE OREGON TRANSPORTATION PLAN

The Oregon Transportation Plan (OTP) is the overarching policy document among a series of plans that together form the state TSP. The OTP considers all modes of Oregon's transportation system as a single system and addresses the future needs of Oregon's airports, bicycle and pedestrian facilities, highways and roadways, pipelines, ports and waterway facilities, public transportation, and railroads through 2030. It assesses state, regional, and local public and private transportation facilities. The OTP establishes goals, policies, strategies, and initiatives for transportation. The plan provides the framework for prioritizing transportation improvements based on varied future revenue conditions, but it does not identify specific projects for development. The plan adopted September 20, 2006, supersedes the 1992 OTP. An update to the OTP is currently underway; the update will be complete in 2023 and will replace the 2006 version.

Many of the OTP goals and policies have a bearing on the IBR Program, especially the following:

• Goal 1 – Mobility and Accessibility

To enhance Oregon's quality of life and economic vitality by providing a balanced, efficient, costeffective and integrated multimodal transportation system that ensures appropriate access to all areas of the state, the nation and the world, with connectivity among modes and places.

- Policy 1.1 Development of an Integrated Multimodal System
- > It is the policy of the State of Oregon to plan and develop a balanced, integrated transportation system with modal choices for the movement of people and goods.
- > Policy 1.2 Equity, Efficiency and Travel Choices
- It is the policy of the State of Oregon to promote a transportation system with multiple travel choices that are easy to use, reliable, cost-effective and accessible to all potential users, including the transportation disadvantaged.
- Goal 3 Economic Vitality

To promote the expansion and diversification of Oregon's economy through the efficient and effective movement of people, goods, services, and information in a safe, energy efficient and environmentally sound manner.

> Strategy 3.1.6

Systematically address barriers to efficient truck movements on roads and highways, including intermodal connectors, while balancing the needs and safe access of all modes.

Land Use Technical Report



Strategy 3.1.7

Give priority to freight mobility projects that are located on identified freight routes of statewide or regional significance, remove identified barriers to the safe, reliable and efficient movements of goods, and facilitate public and private investment that creates or sustains jobs.

• Goal 4 – Sustainability

To provide a transportation system that meets present needs without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs from the joint perspective of environmental, economic and community objectives. This system is consistent with, yet recognizes differences in, local and regional land use and economic development plans. It is efficient and offers choices among transportation modes. It distributes benefits and burdens fairly and is operated, maintained and improved to be sensitive to both the natural and built environments.

> Policy 4.1 – Environmentally Responsible Transportation System

It is the policy of the State of Oregon to provide a transportation system that is environmentally responsible and encourages conservation and protection of natural resources.

> Strategy 4.1.5

In the construction and maintenance of transportation infrastructure and facilities, reduce the consumption of non-renewable construction materials, promote their efficient use and reuse, and reduce other environmental impacts such as stormwater impacts where appropriate.

• Goal 6 – Funding the Transportation System

To create a transportation funding structure that will support a viable transportation system to achieve state and local goals today and in the future.

> Policy 6.2 – Achievement of State and Local Goals

It is the policy of the State of Oregon to plan and manage the transportation finance structure to contribute to the accomplishment of state and local environmental, land use and economic goals and objectives.

STATEWIDE TRANSPORTATION STRATEGY

In 2018, the Oregon Transportation Commission adopted an amendment to incorporate the Statewide Transportation Strategy as part of the OTP. The Oregon Statewide Transportation Strategy, or STS, is a state-level scenario planning effort that examines all aspects of the transportation system, including the movement of people and goods, and identifies a combination of strategies to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The STS identifies a variety of effective GHG emissions-reduction strategies in transportation systems, vehicle and fuel technologies, and urban land use patterns. The STS Short-Term Implementation Plan identifies actions for ODOT to pursue in the next 2 to 5 years to help move the STS forward. This plan will in turn help Oregon to achieve its goal of a 75% reduction in



GHG emissions from 1990 levels by 2050. The STS recommends seven programs for ODOT implementation:

- 1. Electric Vehicles and Low Emission Fuels
- 2. Eco-Driving
- 3. Road User Charge Economic Analysis
- 4. Scenario Planning and Strategic Assessments
- 5. Intelligent Transportation Systems
- 6. Transportation Planning and Project Selection
- 7. Stakeholder Coordination

THE OREGON HIGHWAY PLAN

The Oregon Highway Plan (OHP) of 1999 includes contextual statements and policies that may have an impact on the alternatives' analysis for the IBR Program. The OHP has been updated multiple times since 1999 to incorporate amendments in a 2015 version (ODOT 2015).

Several policies in the OHP establish general mobility objectives and approaches for maintaining mobility. It includes the following policies from the Policy Element:

- Policy 1A (State Highway Classification System) describes the functions and objectives for several categories of state highways. Greater mobility is expected on Interstate and Statewide Highways than on Regional and District Highways.
- Policy 1B (Land Use and Transportation) has an objective of coordinating land use and transportation decisions to maintain the mobility of the highway system. The policy identifies several land use types and describes the levels of mobility appropriate for each.
- Policy 1C (State Highway Freight System) has an objective of maintaining efficient through movement on major truck freight routes. The policy identifies highways that are freight routes.
- Policy 1G (Major Improvements) has the purpose of maintaining highway performance and improving highway safety by improving system efficiency and management before adding capacity.

Alternate standards for the Portland metropolitan area have been included in the policy. These standards have been adopted with an understanding of the unique context and policy choices that have been made by local governments in that area, including:

- A legally enforceable regional plan prescribing minimum densities, mixed-use development, and multimodal transportation options.
- Primary reliance on high-capacity transit to provide additional capacity to the radial highway corridors serving the central city.
- Implementation of an advanced traffic management system including highway ramp meters, real-time traffic monitoring, and incident response to maintain adequate traffic flow.
- An air quality attainment and maintenance plan that relies heavily on reducing auto trips through land use changes and increases in transit service.

Land Use Technical Report



The alternate standards were granted to the Portland metropolitan area with a mutual understanding that reduced mobility standards would result in congestion that could not be reduced by state highway improvements.

- Action 1F.1 provides mobility targets as the measure by which the state assesses the existing or forecasted operational conditions of a facility, and as such, are a key component ODOT uses to determine the need or feasibility of providing highway or other transportation system improvements.
- Action 1G.2 states that ODOT will support any major improvements to state highway facilities in local comprehensive plans and transportation system plans only if the improvements meet nine specific conditions.
- Action 1G.3 requires an intergovernmental agreement implementing cost-sharing when a project has major benefits to the local system, especially when local sponsors of the project envision purposes beyond those needed to meet state transportation objectives.
- Policy 3C: Interchange Access Management Areas

It is the policy of the State of Oregon to plan for and manage grade-separated interchange areas to ensure safe and efficient operation between connecting roadways.

The following actions provide specific guidance applicable to the IBR Program. These requirements have implications for land use authorities as well as transportation system planners.

- Action 3C.1: Develop interchange area management plans to: protect the function of interchanges, provide safe and efficient operations between connecting roadways, and minimize the need for major improvements of existing interchanges.
- Action 3C.2: To improve an existing interchange or construct a new interchange requires:
 - Necessary supporting improvements, such as road networks, channelization, medians and access control in the interchange management area must be identified in the local comprehensive plan and committed with an identified funding source, or must be in place;
 - > The design of urban interchanges must consider the need for transit and park and ride facilities, along with the interchange's effect on pedestrian and bicycle traffic; and
 - When possible, access control shall be purchased on crossroads for a minimum distance of 1320 feet (400 meters) from a ramp intersection or the end of a free flow ramp terminal merge lane taper.
- Policy 4C: High-Occupancy Vehicle (HOV) Facilities

It is the policy of the State of Oregon to utilize HOV facilities to improve the efficiency of the highway system in locations where travel demand, land use, transit, and other factors are favorable to their effectiveness. A systems planning approach shall be taken in which individual HOV facilities complement one another and the other elements of the multimodal transportation system.



Actions for this policy include those that promote HOV lanes, park-and-ride facilities with preferential HOV parking, the development of high-occupancy toll lanes, and light-duty commercial truck buy-in for HOV lanes.

• Policy 4D: Transportation Demand Management

It is the policy of the State of Oregon to support the efficient use of the state transportation system through investment in transportation demand management strategies. There are three major implications for this policy. Transit demand-management programs need to be, and are, in place and supported. Additional transit demand-management strategies may need to be employed during the construction of the new facility. Lastly, Action 4D2 calls on ODOT to investigate further the effectiveness, feasibility, and impacts of tolling and congestion-based pricing.

• Policy 5A: Environmental Resources

It is the policy of the State of Oregon that the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of the state highway system should maintain or improve the natural and built environment including air quality, fish passage and habitat, wildlife habitat and migration routes, sensitive habitats (e.g., wetlands, designated critical habitat, etc.), vegetation, and water resources where affected by ODOT facilities.

- Action 1B.5: Develop and implement plans that support compact development, including but not limited to highway segment designations. Support plans, strategies and local ordinances that include:
 - > Parallel and interconnected local roadway networks to encourage local automobile trips off the state highway;
 - > Transit, bicycle and pedestrian facilities, including street amenities that support these modes;
 - > Design and orientation of buildings and amenities that accommodate pedestrian and bicycle use as well as automobiles use;
 - > Provision of public and shared parking;
 - > Infill and redevelopment;
 - > Expansion of intensive urban development guided away from state highways rather that along state highways; and
 - > Other supporting public investments that encourage compact development and development within centers.

Once the OTP update is complete in 2023, the OHP will be updated to replace the 1999 version.

3.4.3 Washington

The State of Washington adopted the Growth Management Act in 1990. This act requires most local jurisdictions to define and implement a land use policy framework that emphasizes reducing the inappropriate conversion of land to sprawling, low-density development. This emphasis is evident in



statewide requirements to coordinate land use and transportation plans and strongly supports multimodal transportation systems. The law also requires designation of urban growth areas around cities.

In Washington's portion of the study area, the Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council (RTC) has planning authority over transportation only. Clark County provides regional land use planning services, which end at the county line. Clark County has significant authority over land use planning in the unincorporated areas of the county and governs legislative changes to the urban growth boundaries.

RTC has adopted the *Metropolitan Transportation Plan for Clark County* for Southwest Washington, which incorporates light-rail as a component of the multimodal transportation system in the Vancouver metropolitan region. The adopted Clark County Comprehensive Growth Management Plan and City of Vancouver Comprehensive Plan identify the location of the urban growth area that encompasses the lands planned for urban development.

Urban growth boundaries function similarly in Washington and Oregon, but the processes differ for changing boundaries. Through the Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission, the state exercises more control than in Washington. In Washington, the Department of Commerce serves in a more advisory capacity. The Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Board hears appeals to the plans and makes decisions that are binding on the local jurisdictions.

The following subsection discusses the Washington Transportation Plan goals and policies that relate to the proposed project.

3.4.3.1 Washington Transportation Plan

The Washington Transportation Plan (WTP), developed by WSDOT, is the state's long-range transportation plan (WSDOT 2018). The WTP establishes a 20-year vision for the development of the statewide transportation system. The plan includes two phases:

- Phase 1 (Policy)
 - The WTP was updated in 2015 to provide the legislature with statewide policy recommendations for long-range transportation planning through the year 2035. In 2018, the Transportation Commission updated the plan to WTP 2040 and Beyond (WSDOT n.d.), which incorporates findings from WTP Phase 2. The policy plan is to be consistent with Growth Management Act objectives and support the six statewide transportation goals (listed below) established under RCW 47.04.280 by the legislature. It must be prepared with input from diverse transportation interests, identify significant statewide policy issues, and recommend to the legislature policies and strategies that support a safe and efficient transportation system.
- Phase 2 (Implementation 2017–2040)
 - Phase 2 provides a plan to guide the statewide multimodal transportation system in order to accomplish the vision laid out in WTP Phase 1.

WTP 2040 and Beyond integrates six statewide goals:



1. Economic Vitality

Promote and develop transportation systems that stimulate, support, and enhance the movement of people and goods to ensure a prosperous economy.

2. Preservation

Maintain, preserve, and extend the life and utility of prior investments in transportation systems and services.

3. Safety

Provide for and improve the safety and security of transportation customers and the transportation system.

4. Mobility

Improve the predictable movement of goods and people throughout Washington State, including congestion relief and improved freight mobility.

5. Environment and Health

Enhance Washington's quality of life through transportation investments that promote energy conservation, enhance healthy communities, and protect the environment.

6. Stewardship

Continuously improve the quality, effectiveness, and efficiency of the transportation system.

3.4.4 Regional

3.4.4.1 Oregon

In Oregon, Metro is the regional government entity established to manage growth, infrastructure, land use and development, and transportation issues that cross jurisdictional boundaries within the greater Portland region. The Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT), serves as the metropolitan planning organization board for the region in a partnership with the Metro Council requiring joint action on all transportation-related metropolitan planning organization decisions. JPACT recommends priorities and develops plans for the region, and the Metro Council must adopt the recommendations before they become transportation policies. Metro, which was established in 1979 and whose charter was approved in 1992, is charged with regional planning of transportation systems and urban growth areas in the Portland metropolitan area. In cooperation with local jurisdictions in the service district, Metro has developed and adopted the Regional Urban Growth Goals and Objectives (RUGGO) that include the region 2040 Growth Concept (Metro 2018c) and Growth Concept Map (Metro 2020). Metro has also adopted the Urban Growth Management Functional Plan (Metro 2018d), the Regional Framework Plan (Metro 2014), and the 2018 Regional Transportation Plan (Metro 2018a). These plans call for "targeting public investments to reinforce a compact urban form" and state that "A regional transportation system shall be developed which reduces reliance on a single mode of transportation through development of a balanced and cost-effective transportation system." Fundamental to the implementation of these plans is a multimodal transportation system



that assures mobility and supports the integration of higher-density centers of employment and housing with transit service.

The effect of these plans is to focus future development into specific areas, including the Portland central city, regional centers, and along transit corridors and main streets connected by a balanced transportation system, including light-rail and bus transit.

2040 GROWTH CONCEPT AND THE REGIONAL FRAMEWORK PLAN

The Metro 2040 Growth Concept (2018b) defines regional growth and development in the Portland metropolitan region. Metro adopted the growth concept in December 1995 as part of the Region 2040 planning and public involvement process. Policies in the 2040 Growth Concept encourage efficient use of land, protection of farmland and natural resources, a balanced transportation system, a healthy economy, and diverse housing options. The 2040 Growth Concept includes land use and transportation policies that will allow the cities located within the Portland metropolitan area to manage growth, protect natural resources, and make improvements to facilities and infrastructure while maintaining the region's quality of life.

The 2040 Growth Concept is the unifying concept around which the Regional Framework Plan (Metro 2014) is based. The Regional Framework Plan, amended in 2014, sets forth regional growth management policies for the area within Metro's jurisdiction. The plan also incorporates goals, objectives, and policies established in other documents, including RUGGO and the Metropolitan Greenspaces Master Plan (Metro 1992). The Regional Framework Plan creates an integrated framework to meet the goals identified in the 2040 Growth Concept.

Chapter 2 (Transportation) of the *Regional Framework Plan* sets a direction for future transportation planning and decision-making by Metro and implementing agencies. This chapter includes the following transportation goals:

• GOAL 1: Vibrant Communities

Objective 1.1: 2040 Growth Concept Implementation - Focus growth and transportation investment in designated 2040 growth areas (the Portland central city, regional and town centers, corridors, main streets, and employment and industrial areas).

• GOAL 2: Shared Prosperity

Objective 2.1: Connected Region - Build an integrated system of throughways, arterial streets, freight routes and intermodal facilities, transit services and bicycle and pedestrian facilities, with efficient connections between modes that provide access to jobs, markets and community places within and beyond the region.

• GOAL 3: Transportation Choices

Objective 3.1: Travel Choices - Plan communities and design and manage the transportation system to increase the proportion of trips made by walking, bicycling, shared rides and use of transit and reduce vehicle miles traveled.

Objective 3.2: Active Transportation System Completion - Complete all gaps in regional bicycle and pedestrian networks.



Objective 3.3: Access to Transit - Increase household and job access to current and planned frequent transit service.

• GOAL 4: Reliability and Efficiency

Objective 4.1: Regional Mobility - Maintain reasonable person-trip and freight mobility and reliable travel times for all modes in the region's mobility corridors, consistent with the designated modal functions of each facility and planned transit service within the corridor.

• GOAL 5: Safety and Security

Objective 5.1: Transportation Safety - Eliminate fatal and severe injury crashes for all modes of travel.

Objective 5.3: Preparedness and Resiliency - Reduce the vulnerability of regional transportation infrastructure to natural disasters, climate change and hazardous incidents.

• GOAL 6: Healthy Environment

Objective 6.1: Biological and Water Resources - Protect fish and wildlife habitat and water resources from the negative impacts of transportation.

Objective 6.2: Historic and Cultural Resources - Protect historic and cultural resources from the negative impacts of transportation.

Objective 6.3: Green Infrastructure - Integrate green infrastructure strategies in transportation planning and design to avoid, minimize and mitigate adverse environmental impacts.

• GOAL 7: Healthy People

Objective 7.1: Active Living - Improve public health by providing safe, comfortable and convenient transportation options that support active living and physical activity to meet daily needs and access services.

Objective 7.2: Clean Air - Reduce transportation-related air pollutants, including criteria pollutants and air toxics emissions.

Objective 7.3: Other Pollution Impacts - Minimize air, water, noise, light and other transportation-related pollution health impacts.

• GOAL 8: Climate Leadership

Objective 8.1: Climate Smart Strategy Implementation - Implement policies, investments and actions identified in the adopted Climate Smart Strategy, including coordinating land use and transportation; making transit convenient, frequent, accessible and affordable; making biking and walking safe and convenient; and managing parking and travel demand. Objective 8.2: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction - Meet adopted targets for reducing transportation-related greenhouse gas emissions.

• GOAL 9: Equitable Transportation

Objective 9.1: Transportation Equity - Eliminate disparities related to access, safety, affordability and health outcomes experienced by people of color and other historically marginalized communities.



• GOAL 10: Fiscal Stewardship

Objective 10.1: Infrastructure Condition - Plan, build and maintain regional transportation assets to maximize their useful life, minimize project construction and maintenance costs and eliminate maintenance backlogs.

• GOAL 11: Transparency and Accountability

Objective 11.1: Meaningful Public and Stakeholder Engagement - Engage more and a wider diversity of people in providing input at all levels of decision-making for developing and implementing the plan, particularly people of color, English language learners, people with low income and other historically marginalized communities.

Objective 11.2: Performance-Based Planning - Make transportation investment decisions using a performance-based planning approach that is aligned with the RTP goals and supported by meaningful public engagement, multimodal data and analysis.

2018 REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN (METRO)

The 2018 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) is a 25-year blueprint for the Portland metropolitan region's transportation system which is updated every 5 years (last updated in 2018). The plan is being updated at the time of writing this report and is anticipated to be adopted in late 2023. The RTP establishes policies and priorities for all forms of transportation and anticipates the region's current and future transportation needs. These policies focus on ensuring that the region's transportation system works in the most effective way, and they recognize the importance of the movement of goods and services for the regional economy (Metro 2018a). The RTP includes two project lists: financially constrained and strategic. The I-5 Replacement project is included as project 10893 on the financially constrained project list. The RTP lists a time goal of 2028–2040 for the project with an estimated cost of \$2,820,000,000. The project is described as follows:

Replace I-5/Columbia River bridges and improve interchanges on I-5. Project adds protected/buffered bikeways, cycletracks and a new trail/multiuse path or extension.

As with RTC's *Metropolitan Transportation Plan for Clark County*, complex regional modeling substantiates the balance of land use and transportation changes in the RTP. Projected land uses are converted into model inputs that reflect the intensity, type, and location of new development. The planned transportation improvements, in all modes, are then added to the model network so that the impacts of the projected land uses can be determined. As system failures are identified, additional transportation, and sometimes land use, changes are made to achieve optimal system function. This foundation of iterative modeling gives the list of projects significance beyond just financing. The list represents the transportation side of the balanced transportation and land use plans.

CLIMATE SMART STRATEGY (METRO)

The *Climate Smart Strategy for the Portland Metropolitan Region* was adopted in 2014 to reduce the region's per capita GHG emissions from cars and light trucks by at least 20% by 2035. The plan is a regional strategy to realize local visions for land use and transportation while also reducing GHG emissions (Metro 2014a). The 2015 and 2016 action list included advocating for increased federal,



state, regional, and local transportation funding for all transportation modes, with top priorities of maintaining and preserving existing infrastructure and implementing transit service enhancement plans and transit-supportive investments. The strategy also calls for advocating for federal and state governments to advance Oregon's transition to cleaner, low carbon fuels and more fuel-efficient vehicle technologies, and seeking opportunities to advance local and regional projects that best combine the most effective GHG emissions-reduction strategies.

TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PLAN (TRIMET)

The Oregon legislature enacted the Keep Oregon Moving act in 2017 to fund the expansion of public transportation services. TriMet was designated the Qualified Entity to administer the Statewide Transportation Improvement Fund (STIF) planning process, and receiving and distributing STIF funds for Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington counties. The improvement plan utilized input from public engagement with transit riders and other interested parties to establish transit improvement priorities and possible funding allocations. The plan establishes a 5-year roadmap for the rollout of future services and programs to improve service in low-income communities. It also provides for planned revenue and service improvements and programs within the next 2 years (Fiscal Year 2021–23; TriMet 2020).

3.4.4.2 Washington

C-TRAN 20-YEAR TRANSIT DEVELOPMENT PLAN

C-TRAN provides transit services in Clark County, with routes into Portland as well. C-TRAN's system is largely made up of fixed routes, with limited dial-a-ride shuttle service in outlying areas. In 2010, C-TRAN adopted a 20-Year Transit Development Plan, which was updated in 2016 (C-TRAN 2016). Major elements of the plan include a preferred service alternative, a service improvement program, Americans with Disabilities Act paratransit cost containment strategies, capital and technology improvements, and a financial plan. The plan includes high-capacity transit planning and its integration with other services. Both light-rail transit and BRT improvements are in the plan.

REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN FOR CLARK COUNTY

RTC regularly updates the RTP for Clark County. The RTP was updated in 2019 to identify future regional transportation system needs and outline transportation plans and improvements necessary to maintain mobility within and through Clark County, as well as access to land uses within the region (RTC 2019).

RTP Goals

The goals of the RTP are to:

- Support economic development and community vitality.
- Ensure safety and security of the transportation system.
- Provide reliable mobility for personal travel and freight movement by addressing congestion and transportation system bottlenecks. Also, provide access to locations throughout the region while protecting the integrity of neighborhoods by discouraging cut-through traffic.



- Maximize efficient management and operation of the transportation system through transportation demand management and transportation system management strategies.
- Protect environmental quality and natural resources and promote energy efficiency.
- Ensure that the RTP reflects community values to help build and sustain a healthy, livable, and prosperous community.
- Provide a financially viable and sustainable transportation system.
- Maintain and preserve the regional transportation system to ensure system investments are protected.

3.4.5 Local

3.4.5.1 Oregon

COUNTY

Multnomah County Comprehensive Plan and Transportation System Plan

The *Multnomah County Comprehensive Plan* (Multnomah County 2016a) describes policies that guide decisions made by the Land Use Planning Division, as well as the relationship between Multnomah County land use decisions and the policies adopted by the Metro Council and statewide planning agencies. The plan was updated in 2016 to focus on rural areas of the county by integrating multiple area plans into one planning framework document and to provide direction for specific land use regulations. The *Multnomah County Transportation System Plan* (Multnomah County 2016b) is a separate document that guides decisions about transportation system improvements over the next 20 years or more. The TSP focuses on addressing both current and year 2035 needs of the transportation system.

CITY

City of Portland Comprehensive Plan

The 2035 Comprehensive Plan, amended in March 2020, is built on the 2012 Portland Plan, the Climate Action Plan, and Portland's 1980 Comprehensive Plan (City of Portland 2020a). The new plan continues the commitment to linking land use and transportation decisions. It expands the reasons for, and approaches to, improving Portland as a place that is walkable, bikeable, and transit-friendly with active main streets. The plan continues Portland's commitment to compact development with active employment centers, expanded housing choices, and access to parks and open space. The comprehensive plan is a long-range land use and public facility investment plan to guide future growth and the physical development of the city. Specific comprehensive plan designations, as implemented through Title 33 of the Portland City Code, Planning and Zoning, are discussed in Section 3.5. Figure 3-8 shows the general landscape of currently existing uses within the primary and secondary study areas, which overall reflect the mix of land use types envisioned in the comprehensive plan.



The following comprehensive plan goals and policies support the IBR Program: *Goals*

• Goal 9.A – Safety

The City achieves the standard of zero traffic-related fatalities and serious injuries. Transportation safety impacts the livability of a city and the comfort and security of those using City streets. Comprehensive efforts to improve transportation safety through equity, engineering, education, enforcement and evaluation will be used to eliminate traffic-related fatalities and serious injuries from Portland's transportation system.

• Goal 9.B: Multiple goals

Portland's transportation system is funded and maintained to achieve multiple goals and measurable outcomes for people and the environment. The transportation system is safe, complete, interconnected, multimodal, and fulfills daily needs for people and businesses.

• Goal 9.E: Equitable transportation

The transportation system provides all Portlanders options to move about the city and meet their daily needs by using a variety of safe, efficient, convenient, and affordable modes of transportation. Transportation investments are responsive to the distinct needs of each community.

• Goal 9.G: Opportunities for prosperity

The transportation system supports a strong and diverse economy, enhances the competitiveness of the city and region, and maintains Portland's role as a West Coast trade gateway and freight hub by providing efficient and reliable goods movement, multimodal access to employment areas and educational institutions, as well as enhanced freight access to industrial areas and intermodal freight facilities. The transportation system helps people and businesses reduce spending and keep money in the local economy by providing affordable alternatives to driving.








Policies

• Policy 3.72 Industry and port facilities.

Enhance the regionally significant economic infrastructure that includes Oregon's largest seaport and largest airport, unique multimodal freight, rail, and harbor access; the region's critical energy hub; and proximity to anchor manufacturing and distribution facilities.

• Policy 9.3 Transportation System Plan.

Maintain and implement the Transportation System Plan (TSP) as the decision-making tool for transportation-related projects, policies, programs, and street design.

• Policy 9.6 Transportation strategy for people movement.

Implement a prioritization of modes for people movement by making transportation system decisions according to the following ordered list: 1. Walking 2. Bicycling 3. Transit 4. Fleets of electric, fully automated, multiple passenger vehicles 5. Other shared vehicles 6. Low or no occupancy vehicles, fossil-fueled non-transit vehicles

• Policy 9.7 Moving goods and delivering services.

In tandem with people movement, maintain efficient and reliable movement of goods and services as a critical transportation system function. Prioritize freight system reliability improvements over single-occupancy vehicle mobility where there are solutions that distinctly address those different needs.

• Policy 9.11 Land use and transportation coordination.

Implement the Comprehensive Plan Map and the Urban Design Framework though coordinated long-range transportation and land use planning. Ensure that street policy and design classifications and land uses complement one another.

City of Portland Transportation System Plan

Updated in 2020, the TSP is a detailed long-range plan to guide the City of Portland's transportation system functions and investments (City of Portland 2020b). The TSP ensures that new development and allowed land uses are consistent with the identified function and capacity of, and adopted performance measures for, affected transportation facilities. The TSP includes a financial plan to identify revenue sources for planned transportation facilities included in the List of Significant Projects. The TSP is the transportation element of the City's Public Facilities Plan, and certain components of the TSP are elements of the comprehensive plan. The TSP lists the Interstate Bridge replacement and interchange improvements as a financially constrained project to be completed in 1 to 10 years.

City of Portland and Multnomah County Climate Action Plan

In 1993, Portland was the first city in the United States to create a local action plan for cutting carbon. Portland's *Climate Action Plan* is a strategy to put Portland and Multnomah County on a path to prepare for the impacts of a changing climate by achieving a 40% reduction in carbon emissions by 2030 and an 80% reduction by 2050 (compared to 1990 levels). The 2015 *Climate Action Plan* (City of

Land Use Technical Report



Portland and Multnomah County 2015) builds on the accomplishments to date with ambitious new policies, fresh research on consumption choices, and engagement with community leaders serving low-income households and communities of color to advance equity through the City and County's climate action efforts. The *Climate Action Plan* identifies twenty 2030 objectives and more than 100 actions to be completed or significantly underway in the next 5 years. It focuses principally on major actions to be taken to accelerate emission reductions.

NEIGHBORHOOD OR AREA-SPECIFIC

This section describes designated area and neighborhood plans, plan districts, and natural resource management plans that apply to portions of the primary study area. Figure 3-8 shows the geographic extent of neighborhood plans and plan districts that intersect with the primary study area, and Figure 3-9 shows the extent of natural resource management plan areas within the primary study area.

Hayden Island Plan

In April 2008, the Portland Bureau of Planning and Sustainability completed the *Draft Hayden Island Plan.* In the summer of 2009, the recommended Final Plan was approved by City Council (City of Portland 2009). The *Hayden Island Plan* focuses on the entire portion of Hayden Island within the City of Portland and is contiguous with the Hayden Island Plan District as identified in Chapter 33.532 of the Portland Zoning Code.

The *Hayden Island Plan* was developed cooperatively with residents, business owners, and other interested parties to address the unique situation of the island while considering the best plan for its future. It also envisions growth in ways that create a resident population that is large enough to support local-serving businesses and amenities. To accomplish this vision, the plan recommends preserving existing uses while promoting new mixed-use development to meet the future needs of the community.

The plan has numerous provisions applicable to the IBR Program. It was developed while the CRC project was being designed and incorporates CRC designs into the plan. In concept, the Modified LPA is generally consistent with the plan's vision for innovative stormwater management, light-rail station design, traffic patterns (including providing the capability to access local street systems south of North Portland Harbor without using I-5), and other elements. As the IBR Program progresses, additional evaluation may be needed and modifications to the *Hayden Island Plan* may be necessary to show detailed locations of project-related infrastructure (bridges, interchanges, light-rail stations, etc.) and changes to local traffic patterns as applicable.









The regulations of the Hayden Island (HI) Plan District, which is contiguous with the area covered by the Hayden Island Plan and codified in Chapter 33.532 of the Portland Zoning Code, are intended to preserve and enhance both the character and opportunities of Hayden Island to:

- Create a transportation network that provides for all modes and allows people to easily move from one mode to another.
- Focus higher intensity, mixed-use development near the light rail station.
- Provide opportunities for a range of housing types, and encourage mixed-use development, including commercial uses, to serve the residential uses.
- Ensure transitions between residential and nonresidential zones and neighborhoods.
- Recognize the current function of the Jantzen Beach SuperCenter as an auto-oriented shopping mall and its long-term potential for more intense development that is less auto-oriented and more pedestrian-friendly resulting from major investments in the transportation system.

The environmental zoning that applies to much of the plan district is designed to preserve and restore the unique and valuable natural resources of the island, such as the shallow water habitat.

Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan

The Adopted Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan was adopted in 1997 to address the unique development challenges present in the Bridgeton neighborhood, which is located along the south shore of North Portland Harbor, immediately east of I-5 and across from Hayden and Tomahawk Islands (City of Portland Bureau of Planning 1997a). Development consists largely of houseboats, rowhouses, and detached single-family homes. Significant wetland and riparian resources exist throughout the neighborhood as well. The entire Bridgeton neighborhood is within the area covered by the *East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan* (City of Portland 1990). The Bridgeton neighborhood is also part of the area encompassed by the *Adopted Albina Community Plan* (City of Portland Bureau of Planning 1993a)—along with the Kenton neighborhood—and is discussed below.

The following goals in the Adopted Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan pertain to the IBR Program:

- Transportation and Public Utilities Create a transportation network that provides accessibility and safety while retaining the special charm, character, pedestrian and bicycle orientation, and scenic views of Bridgeton.
- Environment Protect and enhance the integrity of North Portland Harbor, the shoreline dike, the Bridgeton Slough, and other natural resources of the Bridgeton neighborhood.

Kenton Neighborhood Plan (as amended by the Kenton Downtown Plan)

The Adopted Kenton Neighborhood Plan (City of Portland Bureau of Planning 1993b) was developed in 1993 as an outgrowth of the Adopted Albina Community Plan, which covers a 19-square-mile area of north and northeast Portland. As the Kenton neighborhood and Bridgeton neighborhood (discussed above) are the only areas of the Albina plan area located within the primary study area for the IBR Program, the Adopted Albina Community Plan is not discussed in detail in this technical report. The Adopted Kenton Neighborhood Plan was amended by the Kenton Downtown Plan in 2001 (City of Portland Bureau of Planning 2001), with the main objective of bringing back the Denver Avenue Business District as a neighborhood-serving retail corridor.

Land Use Technical Report



The *Adopted Kenton Neighborhood Plan* contains policies, projects, programs, and regulatory provisions that are specific to Kenton. The following policy in the Kenton plan pertains to the IBR Program:

Policy 5: Transportation

1. Participate in the development of a light rail transit line that will serve the neighborhoods and commercial areas of North and Northeast Portland.

Portland International Raceway Plan District

The Portland International Raceway (PIR) Plan District regulations are intended to preserve and enhance the special character and opportunities of the area, which comprises part of West Delta Park. The PIR Plan District is a transition area between the natural areas of Smith and Bybee Lakes to the west and the freeway-oriented "special event" uses to the east: the East Delta Park sports complex, PIR, and the Expo Center. The PIR Plan District recognizes existing uses within the district and their impacts and works to minimize the impacts of future development.

Development associated with the IBR Program that takes place within the boundaries of the PIR Plan District would need to be shown to be consistent with the provisions of the PIR Plan District where applicable. These provisions are found in Chapter 33.566 of the Portland Zoning Code.

East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan

The *East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan* (NRMP) was adopted in 1990 pursuant to Portland comprehensive plan policies in place at that time: Policies 3.6 (Neighborhood Plans), 8.14 (Natural Resources) and 8.15 (Wetlands/Riparian/Water Bodies Protection; City of Portland 1990). The plan is intended to promote a consistent approach to development within the environmentally sensitive areas of Portland previously identified as East Peninsula Drainage District No. 2. The geographic boundaries of this area include N Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard on the west; N Marine Drive on the north; NE Columbia Boulevard on the south, and the Peninsula Drainage Canal on the east.

Preservation of wetlands and wildlife habitats has been identified as a neighborhood priority. As such, the following policies of the East Columbia Neighborhood NRMP are pertinent to development associated with the Modified LPA:

- Policy 4: Water Quality. Enhance the water quality in the area's wetlands and drainageways by utilizing pollution control measures to maintain good water quality and implement vector control practices.
- Policy 6: Protection of Wetland/Natural Resource Areas. Protect significant resource areas by discouraging filling and development of sensitive and unique habitats in the neighborhood and requiring buffering of new developments adjacent to these sites.
- Policy 9: Buffering. Separate existing and new wetlands from new residential, commercial, and industrial uses with setbacks and buffer areas.

Natural Resources Management Plan for Peninsula Drainage District No. 1

The NRMP for Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 was adopted in 1997 after being initiated at the request of the Kenton Neighborhood Association and the Portland Planning Bureau in 1993 (City of Portland Bureau of Planning 1997b). The plan is intended to promote a consistent approach to



development within the environmentally sensitive areas of Portland bounded by I-5 and N Denver Avenue on the east; North Portland Harbor on the north; the Columbia Slough on the south, and the BNSF railroad tracks on the west. The NRMP encompasses portions of the Kenton neighborhood plan area and the entirety of the PIR Plan District. Much like the East Columbia Neighborhood NRMP, preservation, enhancement, and restoration of wetlands and wildlife habitats are key priorities of the Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 NRMP.

The following policies of the Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 NRMP are pertinent to development associated with the Modified LPA:

- Natural Resource Policy No. 3: Protect and manage all wetlands within the Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 to avoid, minimize, and if necessary, compensate for fill or destruction of material from wetlands.
- Land Use and Recreation Policy No. 3: Support a MAX Light Rail Transit Station for West Delta Park that supports the activities at the Expo Center, PIR, and Heron Lakes Golf Course.
- Land Use and Recreation Policy No. 4: Support development that conforms to the other policies of the NRMP and implements NRMP Management Objectives.

Portland Interstate Corridor Urban Renewal Plan

The Interstate Corridor Urban Renewal Area is located in North Portland and incorporates regional features such as I-5, the Willamette River, and the Columbia Slough. Developed by the Portland Development Commission (now Prosper Portland), adopted in 2000, and amended in 2001, the *Interstate Corridor Urban Renewal Plan* sets forth a comprehensive program to address economic and social challenges and to capitalize on the opportunities of the community (PDC 2001). The goals and objectives are to improve livability, increase job opportunities, assist small businesses, and benefit from major infrastructure projects, including the Interstate MAX light rail line. In January 2017, the Portland City Council adopted the *North/Northeast Community Development Initiative Action Plan* (Prosper Portland 2017). The goal of the plan is to use the remaining tax increment fund resources (allocated for economic and redevelopment purposes) to foster economic prosperity among communities and individuals who have not fully participated in or benefited from economic opportunities in the Interstate Corridor Urban Renewal Area.

The following goals in the Interstate Corridor Urban Renewal Plan pertain to the IBR Program.

- Economic Development/Jobs Goal 10 Job Access: Optimize access of area residents to employment opportunities both inside and outside of the URA.
- Transportation Goal 7 Transportation Modes: Encourage alternatives to auto travel by improving facilities for pedestrians, bicyclists, buses, and light rail, while still accommodating auto travel in the area.
- Transportation Goal 8 Truck Access: Maintain good truck access to businesses within the urban area, but discourage truck movement from passing through the area on residential streets.



3.4.5.2 Washington

COUNTY

Clark County Comprehensive Growth Management Plan

The Clark County 20-Year Comprehensive Growth Management Plan 2015–2035 directly governs the unincorporated portions of the county, but it has a regional function in that it represents the coordinated land use and transportation system plans for the county and seven cities (Clark County 2016). The following polices and strategies were derived from the adopted plan of 2016. The plan will be updated in 2025 to address the 20-year periodic update. Figure 3-10 shows the designated land uses in the plan that are relevant to the IBR Program. Relevant policies in the plan are described below.

Framework Plan Policies

In order to achieve the vision of Clark County as a collection of distinct communities surrounded by open space, agriculture and forest uses, Clark County and each of the cities will adopt certain types of policies. The general framework policies are outlined below by element of the Comprehensive Growth Management Plan (20-Year Plan). The process-oriented countywide planning policies which were adopted by the county in August 1992 and amended in 2000, 2004, 2007 and 2016 are found in each applicable plan element. The framework policies guide implementation of the vision of Clark County's future preferred by many of its residents. The policies provide a framework within which the county can bridge the gap between the general land use concepts presented in the Community Framework Plan and the detailed (parcel-level) 20-Year Plan required by the State Growth Management Act.



Figure 3-10. Comprehensive Plan, Clark County



The Transportation Element (Section 5) implements and is consistent with the Land Use Element. The Community Framework Plan envisions a shift in emphasis of transportation systems from private vehicles to public transit (including high-capacity transit,) and non-polluting alternatives such as walking and bicycling. The following policies are intended to coordinate the land use planning, transportation system design, and funding to achieve this vision.

- 5.1.0 The regional land use planning structure is to be integrated within a larger public transportation network (e.g., transit corridors, commercial nodes, etc.).
- 5.1.1 Encourage transportation systems that provide a variety of options (high-capacity transit, high-occupancy vehicles, buses, autos, bicycles or walking) within and between rural centers.
- 5.1.2 Streets, pedestrian paths and bike paths are to be a part of a system of fully connected and scenic routes to all destinations. Establish design standards for development to promote these options and work cooperatively with C-TRAN to ensure that programs for improvements in transit service and facilities as well as roadway and pedestrian facilities are coordinated with these standards.
- 5.1.4 Encourage use of alternative types of transportation, particularly those that reduce mobile emissions (bicycle, walking, carpools and public transit).
- 5.1.9 Establish major inter-modal transportation corridors that preserve mobility for interstate commerce and freight movement (Promote inter-modal connections to port, rail, truck, bus and air transportation facilities. Preserve and improve linkages between the Port of Vancouver and other regional transportation systems).

Section 8, Historic, Archaeological and Cultural Preservation, discusses historic preservation, requiring programs to identify archaeological and historic resources, protect them, and educate the public about the history of the region. This policy could impact the development of new highways and the movement of rights-of-way into cultural landscapes and historic structures.

Section 10, Community Design, calls for development of high-quality design and site planning standards for publicly funded projects (e.g., civic buildings, parks). This policy encourages considering aesthetic values in the design and selection process for the I-5 bridge replacement project. *Comprehensive Plan Policies*

The following policies refer specifically to the unincorporated areas of Clark County.

- Land Use: Policy 1.1.13 Vancouver Urban Growth Area is now or will be a major urban area activity center with a full range of residential, commercial and industrial uses, high capacity transit corridors, schools, major cultural and public facilities.
- Land use Policy 1.3.2 Devise specific policies and standards to promote higher density urban, commercial, and mixed-use development and to support pedestrian and transit travel within high density residential and commercial areas.
- Environment: Policy 4.1.2 The county and each municipality shall cooperate to ensure the preservation and protection of natural resources, critical areas, open space, and recreational lands within and near the urban area through adequate and compatible policies and regulations.



- Transportation: Policy 5.0.1 Clark County, Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) and the Regional Transportation Planning Organization (RTPO), state, bi-state, municipalities, and C-TRAN shall work together to establish a truly regional transportation system which:
 - Reduces reliance on single occupancy vehicle transportation through development of a balanced transportation system, high-capacity transit, bicycle and pedestrian improvements, and transportation demand management;
 - > Encourages energy efficiency;
 - > Minimizes environmental impacts of the transportation systems development, operation and maintenance.
- 5.2.1 Roadway improvements which provide for additional capacity for the automobile shall also accommodate alternative travel modes.
- 5.2.2 Transit related options, including high capacity transit, shall be encouraged in order to reduce congestion and to improve and maintain air quality.
- Economic Development: Policy 9.1.12 Encourage use of a multimodal transportation system that facilitates the reduction of travel times and reduces the need for additional road construction within the region.

CITY

City of Vancouver Comprehensive Plan

The Vancouver Comprehensive Plan 2011–2030 was last updated in 2011 and is currently undergoing an update, which is anticipated to run from 2022 through 2025 (City of Vancouver 2011). The plan encourages compact urban centers, transit, and supportive development regulations for areas along the defined high-capacity transit corridors identified along I-5 and SR 500. The City maintains a separate transportation plan that includes policy statements. The comprehensive plan applies to the downtown Vancouver and North Vancouver project subareas. Figure 3-11 shows the land use designations of the Vancouver Comprehensive Plan for the primary and secondary study areas. Relevant policies from the plan are cited below.





Figure 3-11. Comprehensive Plan, Vancouver



Community Development

- CD-2. Efficient Development Patterns: Encourage efficient development throughout Vancouver to achieve average densities of eight units per acre. Encourage higher density and more intense development in areas that are more extensively served by public facilities, particularly by transportation and transit services.
- *CD-4. Urban Centers and Corridors: Achieve the full potential of existing and emerging urban activity centers and the corridors that connect them, by:*
 - > Promoting or reinforcing a unique identity or function for individual centers and corridors.
 - > Planning for a compact urban form with an appropriate mix of uses.
 - > Establishing connectivity and accessibility within each center and to other areas.
 - > Providing a range of transportation options.
- CD-11. Archaeological and Historic Resources: Protect and preserve cultural, historic and archaeological resources. Promote preservation, restoration, rehabilitation, and reuse of historically or architecturally significant older buildings. Increase knowledge and awareness of historic and archaeological resources. Work with Clark County to maintain State certified Local Government status.

Economic Development

The following two polices are intended to protect employment opportunities, especially where they may yield family-wage jobs.

- EC-5. No Net Loss Of Employment Capacity: Restrict zone changes or legislative approvals which lessen long-term capacity for high wage employment, unless accompanied by other changes within the same annual review cycle that would compensate for the lost capacity, or unless the proposed change would promote the long-term economic health of the city.
- ED-6. Efficient Use Of Employment Land: Maximize utilization of land designated for employment through more intensive new building construction, and redevelopment and intensification of existing sites.

The plan also calls for protecting historic structures and trees. Many of these immediately adjoin the existing I-5 right of way.

Public Facilities and Services

Although transportation issues are addressed more fully in the City's Transportation Plan, the comprehensive plan's Public Facilities and Services element refers to a balance of transportation choices, human scale, livable design, and efficiency.

• PFS-17. Use transportation and land use measures to maintain or reduce single-occupant motor vehicle miles traveled per capita to increase system efficiency and lower overall environmental impacts. Further analysis will be needed to determine whether increased vehicular capacity on I-5 will encourage urban sprawl and vehicle miles traveled.



City of Vancouver Transportation Plan

The City's TSP, updated in 2004, includes vision statements for the City's evolving transportation system (City of Vancouver 2004). The vision is one of accessibility, not just mobility, emphasizing system efficiency, connectivity, multimodalism, and a walkable community.

The plan includes a future transit system map. The map shows high-capacity transit running north along I-5, east across Fourth Plain Boulevard or SR 500, and south on I-205. There is also a longer-term project shown headed north along I-205. The plan designates Main Street as a Tier 1 Transit Corridor, meaning that Main Street is targeted for short-term improvement to enhance transit service. These improvements would include signalization changes and pedestrian improvements. The Transportation Plan lists light rail as a Strategic Option.

The City of Vancouver is in the process of updating the TSP, through *Vancouver Moves*, to help define the future of the City's transportation system. The plan will guide how the City develops its streets, coordinates transportation infrastructure improvements with land uses, and responds to future growth and demands on the transportation network over the next 20 years. The City's update to the TSP is anticipated to be completed in 2023 and may result in updates to this report upon completion. The City of Vancouver Strategic Plan

The 2016–2021 Strategic Plan helps guide the City's decision-making and resource allocation in addition to performance tracking and reporting. The plan's goals include developing and maintaining a safe, balanced, and innovative transportation system that will meet the needs of future generations and support redevelopment of the Columbia River waterfront (City of Vancouver 2018a). The strategic plan is currently under review, and an update is anticipated to be completed in 2023. Vancouver City Center Vision and Subarea Plan

The 2007 Vancouver City Center Vision and Subarea Plan divides the downtown into six areas and includes a list of goals and guiding principles (City of Vancouver 2007). Land use goals include focusing waterfront redevelopment on residential uses, with significant public access, recreation, cultural, hospitality, entertainment, and limited commercial uses. The plan advocates protecting key historic buildings and established residential neighborhoods.

Detailed goals include:

- Strengthen the primary street connections, (Columbia and Esther) to the waterfront.
- Support a secondary connection to the waterfront (e.g., Daniels).
- Connect downtown with the Vancouver National Historic Reserve via a 7th Street (Heritage Way) pedestrian bridge.
- Ensure that expansion of I-5 and Columbia River crossing improvements improve access to the city center and minimize potentially negative effects.
- Overcome the barrier-like feeling of the BNSF railroad berm between downtown and the waterfront.
- Provide improved access into the southern and western areas of the city center.



• Focus waterfront redevelopment on residential uses supported by significant public access, recreation, cultural, hospitality, entertainment, and limited commercial uses.

The plan specifically addresses the IBR Program with the following directions:

- Analyze proposed engineering designs that could potentially affect adjoining properties negatively and result in wasteful use of downtown land.
- Enhance existing connections between the Vancouver National Historic Reserve and downtown.
- In addition to the I-5 southbound ramp to 6th Street, explore other opportunities to improve access to downtown.
- Integrate the Heritage Way Bridge concept into the I-5 improvements project.
- Integrate all modes of transportation, including high-capacity transit, bicycle, and pedestrian circulation, to achieve a true regional multimodal corridor.
- Coordinate I-5 improvements with city center access and circulation needs.

City of Vancouver, Heritage Tree Program

In 1998, the City of Vancouver established the Heritage Tree program, updated in 2018, to preserve and recognize the significant trees in the community (City of Vancouver 2018b). Portland has a similar program. Vancouver has designated a number of significant trees within the primary study area. One goal of the program is to provide a way for people to save trees on private property from unnecessary removal and aggressive maintenance actions. With the consent of the property owner, trees receive Heritage Tree status if they meet at least one of the following requirements; at least 36 inches in diameter; located on a special site; related to a historical event; an unusual species for the area; or an exemplary form of the species. All Heritage Trees are inventoried and can be easily identified by plaques with their designation either on or adjacent to the tree.

City of Vancouver Shoreline Master Program

Implementing the Washington State Shoreline Management Act of 1971, the City of Vancouver adopted its Shoreline Master Program in 1975. The program was most recently amended in 2021 to ensure compliance with the State's current guidance and policies and to address issues identified by the City and Washington State Department of Ecology (City of Vancouver 2021). The program is meant to protect natural values and functions of the shorelines while guiding and allowing appropriate development. The program includes shoreline use and development regulations, which are informed by program goals. The goal for transportation, utilities, and institutional facilities is to provide for these facilities in shoreline areas without adverse effects on existing shoreline use and development or shoreline ecological functions and/or processes. When new utility and transportation facilities are developed in the shoreline jurisdiction, they must protect, enhance, and encourage development of physical and visual shoreline public access.

Within the study area, Vancouver has adopted a Columbia River Shoreline Enhancement Plan District (Vancouver Municipal Code [VMC] 20.620) that specifically implements the Shoreline Management Act south of the BNSF railroad between the railroad bridge and Wintler Park. This plan district emphasizes public access.



NEIGHBORHOOD/AREA-SPECIFIC Downtown Vancouver Transportation System Plan

The City of Vancouver adopted a subarea plan and redevelopment plan in 1996 for the Esther Short neighborhood, which includes most of downtown. Much of the plan has been incorporated into the *Vancouver City Center Vision and Subarea Plan* (City of Vancouver 2007), which updated and largely supplanted it. It has significance for the project beyond that of most neighborhood plans. The Downtown Vancouver TSP addresses transportation conditions and plans from Fourth Plain Boulevard south to the Columbia River. Transit service objectives that are relevant to the project are quoted below.

- Objective 7.6: Provide sufficient downtown street and intersection capacity to accommodate future potential light rail transit operations along a preferred rail alignment.
- Objective 7.7: Provide sufficient sidewalk capacity in the downtown area to accommodate transit facilities such as passenger shelters.
- Objective 7.8: Provide key pedestrian links between major activity areas (current and future) and transit focal points such as the 7th Street transit center.
- Objective 12.1: This objective strongly asserts the use of the TSP in City decision making, including financing and prioritization of projects.

About light rail transit, the plan states:

- The extension of MAX service into Vancouver is a key ingredient to the region's growth management strategy and the overall I-5 Corridor plan. ... LRT in Vancouver would directly benefit the downtown area by improving access to downtown Vancouver, particularly during the peak commuter hours. LRT service would also greatly improve the City's ability to collect and disperse Special Event Center crowds. Key issues involving LRT include identifying an appropriate terminal location in Vancouver, which should be addressed as part of the City of Vancouver's city-wide Transportation System Plan. Other, more regional issues revolve around funding and timing, which should be addressed in the I-5 Trade Corridor Study. The City of Vancouver should take actions now that will support the Plan and help make transit more successful for downtown Vancouver. These include:
 - > Designating Main and Washington Streets as transit streets Main Street for local transit service and Washington Street for regional transit service.
 - > Restricting curb cuts along both Washington and Main Streets to improve the pedestrian environment, making it easier for people to avoid using their cars.
 - > Supporting increases in density and activity in the transit corridor.
 - > Allowing reduced parking requirements in the transit corridor.

Central Park Plan

The City of Vancouver's *Central Park Plan* was initially adopted in 1979. In 2008, in recognition of dramatic changes to the area, the Vancouver City Council adopted the updated Central Park Subarea Plan, "A Park for Vancouver," and its design guidelines (City of Vancouver 2008). The plan concept calls for a unified sense of place by celebrating a shared historic landscape and emphasizing design of



key features such as a "great street" network. The plan was created following a community planning process involving local citizens, other interested parties, and public agencies.

Key features identified in the planning process were prioritized by participants. Gateway features ranked highest, meaning that the Modified LPA should contribute to, or not conflict with, the gateway on McLoughlin just south of the proposed park and ride. The plan describes gateways as:

...attractive entry points to the Subarea that visually signal arrival and differentiate the Subarea from the surrounding areas...and will likely include special signage, landscaping, paving, and structures.

The plan policies address the construction of a station/park-and-ride facility and seek to integrate it as a service for Central Park users:

CP-17 New Park and Ride facilities shall be located and built to facilitate shared non-peak-hour parking with Central Park institutions and to minimize impervious surface and land used for parking.¹⁰

The plan also includes the following language specific to the IBR Program's predecessor, the CRC project:

Vision: The I-5 Columbia River Crossing improves access to Central Park from all parts of the city and region.

CP-22 Work with Project Partners to ensure that the Columbia River Crossing project is consistent with the goals and policies of the Central Park Plan and by addressing the following:

- A. Create new linkages between Central Park and the Vancouver City Center;
- B. Enhance the Mill Plain connection as the primary gateway to the Central Park Subarea;
- C. Enhance the Evergreen, McLoughlin, and Fourth Plain Boulevard connections as gateways between the City Center and the Central Park Subarea;
- D. Integrate all modes of transportation, including high-capacity transit, bicycle and pedestrian circulation, to achieve a true regional multimodal corridor;
- E. Coordinate I-5 improvements with Central Park Subarea access and circulation needs;
- F. Any new interchanges that are to be built due to the realignment of I-5 shall provide multimodal access on all sides and shall provide smooth connections to existing paths, sidewalks and bike lanes between Central Park and the City Center; and
- G. To reduce potential impacts of an expanded I-5 freeway and bridge, a cap(s) over I-5 should be provided linking Central Park and the City Center.

¹⁰ City of Vancouver, Central Park Plan Update, page 23.



Port of Vancouver Waterfront Development Master Plan

The 2015 *Waterfront Development Master Plan* defines a vision for the Columbia River waterfront that is consistent with the Port's mission to provide economic benefit to the community through leadership, stewardship, and partnership in maritime-related development. The plan includes elements such as public access, active modes of transportation, and planning for the Interstate Bridge replacement and its alignment relative to adjacent development (Port of Vancouver 2015).

Highway 99 Sub-Area Plan

The *Highway 99 Sub-Area Plan*, developed by Clark County in 2008, covers the area from 63rd Street north to approximately 134th Street (Clark County 2008). This plan serves as a guide for public investments and for Team 99, a group of business leaders in the corridor. The plan addresses the CRC project and notes that all planning efforts for the *Highway 99 Subarea Plan* will support the project recommendations for high-capacity transit including light rail or BRT.

3.5 Zoning and Overlay Districts

Zoning districts for Portland, Multnomah County, Vancouver, and Clark County are based on the principle of separating uses such as residential, commercial, industrial, etc. The codes dictate allowed uses, building heights and other development standards, and off-site impacts. Both Portland and Vancouver use overlays to protect natural resources, urban form, and historic properties. The zones found within the primary and secondary study areas are depicted in Figure 3-12 through Figure 3-21, The zones found within the primary study area are described below.

3.5.1 City of Portland Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Designations

Figure 3-12 shows the zoning designations for the project study area in Portland. The following are City of Portland Comprehensive Plan Designations as implemented through the existing zoning within the study area.

Multi-Dwelling – Neighborhood (MD-N) – Comprehensive plan use designation which allows low-rise multi-dwelling development mixed with single-dwelling housing types at a scale that is compatible with, but somewhat larger than, single-dwelling residential. This designation is intended for areas near, in, and along centers, neighborhood corridors, and transit stations in locations where transit-supportive densities at a low-rise residential scale are desired.

• Residential Multi-Dwelling (RM1) – A low-scale multi-dwelling zone applied around centers and corridors in locations near single-dwelling residential areas. Housing is generally characterized by one- to three-story buildings with front setbacks that relate to the patterns of residential neighborhoods. The types of new development include duplexes, rowhouses, courtyard housing, and small apartment buildings. Primary uses include household living and limited commercial on corridors. This residential designation comprises a small portion of the study area east of I-5 on Hayden Island.



Figure 3-12. Zoning – Portland, Oregon





Mixed Use – Neighborhood (MU-N) – Comprehensive plan designation promoting mixed-use development in neighborhood centers and along neighborhood corridors to preserve or cultivate locally serving commercial areas with a storefront character. This designation is intended for areas where urban public services, generally including complete local street networks and access to frequent transit, are available or planned, and development constraints do not exist.

- Commercial Employment (CE) A medium-scale zone intended for sites along corridors in areas between designated centers, especially along Civic Corridors that are also major truck streets. The emphasis of this zone is on commercial and employment uses. Buildings are generally expected to be up to four stories. Specific allowable uses include retail sales and services, office space, quick vehicle servicing, vehicle repair, self-service storage, household living, institutional uses, and limited manufacturing and other low-impact industrial uses.
- Commercial Mixed Use 1 (CM1) a small-scale, commercial mixed-use zone intended for sites in smaller mixed-use nodes within lower-density residential areas, on neighborhood corridors, and at the edges of neighborhood centers, town centers and regional centers. Buildings in this zone are generally expected to be up to three stories. Specific allowable uses include retail sales and services, office space, household living, institutional uses and very limited manufacturing uses.
- Commercial Mixed Use 2 (CM2) a medium-scale, commercial mixed-use zone intended for sites in a variety of centers and corridors, in other mixed-use areas that are well served by frequent transit, or within larger areas zoned for multi-dwelling development. Buildings in this zone are generally expected to be up to four stories, except in locations where bonuses allow up to five stories. Specific allowable uses include retail sales and services, office space, household living, vehicle repair, institutional uses and limited manufacturing uses.

Commercial encompasses a large section of the study area along the I-5 corridor from N Marine Drive north to the northern end of Hayden Island, east to N Jantzen Beach Avenue, and west extending past the study area.

Manufactured Dwelling Park (MDP) – This designation allows multi-dwelling residential development in manufactured dwelling parks. Allowed housing is manufactured dwellings that are assembled off-site. The designation is intended to reflect the unique features of manufactured dwelling parks in terms of a self-contained development with smaller dwellings on individual spaces with an internal vehicle circulation system, pedestrian pathways, and open area often resulting in lower building coverage than other multi-dwelling designations.

• Residential Manufactured Dwelling Park (RMP) – A low-scale multi-dwelling zone that allows manufactured dwelling parks, which are places where four or more manufactured dwellings are located on a site. Housing is characterized by manufactured dwellings, which are assembled off-site and moved to the park location. Manufactured dwellings are the only housing type allowed in the zone.

The manufactured-dwelling park designation encompasses a small section of the study area on the north of Hayden Island, west of I-5.

Industrial Sanctuary (IS) – This designation is intended to reserve areas that are attractive for manufacturing and distribution operations and encourage the growth of industrial activities in the



parts of the city where important freight and distribution infrastructure exists, including navigable rivers, airports, railways, and pipelines. A full range of industrial uses are permitted and encouraged.

• General Industrial 2 (IG2) – Generally has larger lots and irregular or large block pattern. The area is less developed, with sites having medium and low building coverages which are usually set back from the street. Specific allowable uses include manufacturing, warehouse and freight movement, wholesale sales, industrial service, railroad yards, parks and open spaces.

Industrial zoning makes up the middle swath of the study area, west of I-5, from N Expo Road north to N Marine Drive and a small section at the very southwest end of the study area.

Open Space (OS) – The OS zone is intended to preserve and enhance public and private open, natural and improved park and recreational areas. Open space encompasses the majority of the southern end of the study area from Highway 99 E to just south of N Victory Boulevard.

Mixed Employment (ME) – This designation encourages a wide variety of office, creative services, manufacturing, distribution, traded sector, and other light-industrial employment opportunities, typically in a low-rise, flex-space development pattern. Most employment uses are allowed but limited in impact by the small lot size and adjacency to residential neighborhoods.

• General Employment 2 (EG2) – Generally features larger lots and an irregular or large block pattern. The area consists of sites with medium and low building coverages and buildings which are set back from the street. Specific allowable uses include manufacturing, warehouse, wholesale sales, industrial services, parks and open spaces, educational institutions, hospitals, quick vehicle servicing, vehicle repair and self-service storage.

Mixed Employment encompasses a small section of the southwest end of the study area, adjacent to I-5.

3.5.2 City of Portland Overlay Zones

The following describes the overlay designations found in the primary study area, which are shown in Figure 3-13 through Figure 3-16.

Aircraft Landing (h) – The Aircraft Landing (h) overlay zone provides safer operating conditions for aircraft in the vicinity of Portland International Airport by limiting the height of structures and vegetation.

Airport Noise Impact (x) – The Portland International Airport Noise Impact (x) overlay zone reduces the impact of aircraft noise on development within the noise impact area surrounding the Portland International Airport. The zone achieves this by limiting residential densities and by requiring noise insulation, noise disclosure statements, and noise easements.

Environmental Conservation (c) – The Environmental Conservation (c) overlay zone conserves important resources and functional values in areas where the resources and functional values can be protected while allowing environmentally sensitive urban development. This overlay zone is applied wherever the City determines that significant resources and functional values are present.



Environmental Protection (p) – The Environmental Protection (p) overlay zone provides the highest level of protection to the most important resources and functional values. Development will be approved in this zone only in rare and unusual circumstances.

Design (d) – The Design (d) overlay zone promotes the conservation, enhancement, and continued vitality of areas of the City with special scenic, architectural, or cultural value. This is achieved through the creation of design districts and applying the Design Overlay Zone as part of community planning projects, development of design guidelines for each district, and by requiring design review or compliance with the Community Design Standards. In addition, design review or compliance with the Community Design Standards ensures that certain types of infill development will be compatible with the neighborhood and enhance the area.

Prime Industrial (k) – The Prime Industrial (k) overlay zone limits new parks, open areas and commercial outdoor recreation; prohibits self-service storage and major event entertainment uses; and prohibits future quasi-judicial comprehensive plan map amendments. This overlay preserves Portland's limited supply of prime industrial land for industrial use.

Historic Resource Overlay – The Historic Resource overlay protects historic resources that have been identified as significant to the history of the city and region. The regulations implement Portland's comprehensive plan policies that address historic preservation by advancing the following objectives:

- Recognize the role historic resources have in promoting education and enjoyment for those living in and visiting the region.
- Foster awareness, memory, and pride among the region's current and future residents in their city and its diverse architecture, culture, and history.
- Recognize social and cultural history, retain significant architecture, promote economic and environmental health, and steward important resources for the use, education, and enjoyment of future generations.





Figure 3-13. Overlay Zones – Design Overlay Zones and City Historic Landmarks, Portland, Oregon





Figure 3-14. Overlay Zones – Environmental Protection and Conservation Zones, Portland, Oregon





Figure 3-15. Overlay Zones – Prime Industrial Overlay Zone, Portland, Oregon





Figure 3-16. Overlay Zones – Noise and Aircraft Zones, Portland, Oregon



3.5.3 City of Vancouver Zoning Districts

The following describes the overlay designations found in the study area within Vancouver, which are shown in Figure 3-17.

Commercial (COM) – Commercial zoning districts ensure that a full range of retail and office uses are available throughout the City so that residents can fulfill all or most of their needs for goods and services within close proximity of their homes.

- City Center (CX) Provides for a concentrated mix of retail, office, civic, and housing uses in downtown Vancouver. Typical uses include retail sales, hotels/motels, restaurants, professional offices, educational, cultural and civic institutions, public buildings, and commercial parking.
- Community Commercial (CC) Designed to provide for retail goods and services purchased regularly by residents of several nearby neighborhoods. The zone accommodates offices, institutions, and mixed-use housing.
- General Commercial (CG) Designed to allow for a full range of retail, office, mixed-use, and civic uses with a citywide to regional trade area. Some light-industrial uses are allowed, but limited. Development is expected to be auto-accommodating, walking, cycling, transit is encouraged.
- Neighborhood Commercial (CN) This district is designed to provide for small-scale, convenience commercial uses to serve adjacent residential neighborhoods. Typical uses include convenience markets, personal services, restaurants, bakeries, and video rental shops. Walking, bicycle, and transit trips should be encouraged through building design, landscaping, and access.

Commercial encompasses the southwest vicinity of the study area in Vancouver from the Columbia River north to W 19th Street with a couple block radius extending north past the primary study area.

Open Space/Green Space – This district intends to protect, preserve, conserve, and enhance natural areas, greenways, and parks.

• Parks – The Park District is land that has been or is intended to be developed to provide for moderate-to high-intensity recreational activities in addition to passive or low-intensity recreational experiences. Environmental preservation, conservation, and enhancement are also objectives in the development and maintenance of park districts.

Parks are located throughout the primary study area, including Esther Short Park to the west of I-5 and Vancouver Central Park on the east side of I-5, which encompasses the Waterfront Park, the Old Apple Tree Park, Fort Vancouver, Officers Row, and Marshall Park.









Residential – Urban Low Density Residential – These districts are primarily design to preserve and promote neighborhoods of detached single dwellings at low intensities.

• Low Density Residential (R-9) – The R-9 zoning district is designed to accommodate detached single dwellings with or without accessory residential units at a minimum lot size of 5,000 square feet.

Within the study area, this district is located along the I-5 corridor from Fourth Plain Boulevard to 39th Street.

- Urban High Density Residential These districts are designed to promote medium-highdensity residential neighborhoods.
 - > Higher Density Residential (R-22, R-18, and R-30)
 - R-18: Designed to accommodate attached homes such as duplexes, rowhouses, gardentype apartments, at a minimum lot size of 1,800 square feet per unit. Professional office uses are permitted under certain circumstances (for R-18, R-22, R-30).
 - R-22: Designed to accommodate rowhouses, garden-type apartments, and lower-density multi-dwelling structures at a minimum lot size of 1,500 square feet per unit.
 - R-30: Designed to accommodate multi-dwelling structures at a minimum lot size of 1,500 square feet per unit.

High-density residential development is concentrated along Main Street from Fourth Plain Boulevard to the north end of the primary study area, north of Fourth Plain east of Main Street, along 39th Street between Main Street and I-5, and directly west of I-5 along McLoughlin Boulevard.

Public Facilities – Central Park Mixed Use (CPX) – This designation is for all land located within the Vancouver Central Park Plan District that contains a number of existing parks and governmental, health, recreational, educational, and cultural facilities. This zone contains the Vancouver National Historic Reserve that includes Officers Row, Vancouver Barracks, Fort Vancouver and Pearson Air Park.

This designation encompasses the eastern side of the study area along I-5 from Highway 14 north to E Fourth Plain Boulevard and a small section on the northwest end of the study area from E 40th Street north.

Industrial – Industrial zoning districts ensure that a full range of job opportunities are available throughout the City so that residents can work close to home if they choose. The location of land must be carefully selected and designed to minimized potential for adverse impacts on established residential areas.

• Light Industrial (LI) – This zoning district provides appropriate locations for combining light, clean industries, including industrial service, manufacturing, research/development, warehousing activities, and general office uses and limited retail.

Industrial zoning is located in the very northern portion of the study area, east of I-5.



Park – Consisting of neighborhood, community, and regional parks, this designation provides for the environmental preservation, conservation and enhancement of park districts. These parks provide for passive and low-, medium-, and high-intensity recreational activities.

3.5.4 City of Vancouver Overlay Districts

Figure 3-18 through Figure 3-20 show the Vancouver Overlay Districts in the study area.

Heritage Overlay District – These two districts preserve the unique architectural character and historic or cultural significance of specific areas within downtown. They ensure that all new development is compatible in scale, character, and design with existing structures, and that older buildings are preserved and their original character restored. One overlay applies to the House of Providence Academy on Evergreen Boulevard, and the other applies to the southernmost blocks of Main Street.

Hough Neighborhood Overlay District – This district protects the low-density residential character of the Hough neighborhood, while allowing for the continued use of multifamily and nonresidential structures currently in place. It also allows for rebuilding these structures if they become damaged. This overlay applies to approximately 20 blocks north of Mill Plain Boulevard, between Daniels and Markle Streets.

Noise Impact Overlay District – This district is in place to inform property owners within the district of unusually high noise levels from nearby airports, railroads, and highways. It applies to a section of the Columbia River shoreline beginning at Columbia Shores Boulevard and extending west to the Esther Short Park neighborhood, and those blocks that abut I-5 up to McLoughlin Boulevard. The overlay requires that any new residential construction within the district employ construction techniques that insulate residents from this high noise level.

Office Development Overlay District – This district requires careful review of any nonresidential development planned along major streets to protect neighborhoods from increased pedestrian and automotive traffic, noise and light pollution, or changes to community aesthetic. This overlay is located along Main Street from Fourth Plain Boulevard to 45th Street.

Transit Overlay District (Tier 1 and Tier 2) – This district provides financial incentives to promote high-density residential and commercial development along main traffic corridors that is both pedestrian and transit-friendly. It provides specific guidelines for desired uses, densities, orientation, setback, and floor-area ratios for nonresidential and residential structures. The overlay is broken into two tiers. The stricter, Tier 1 zoning is located in patches along Main Street and Fourth Plain Boulevard, often at major intersections or interchanges. Tier 2 zoning applies to a much larger area along Main Street, from Mill Plain Boulevard to 159th Street, and along Fourth Plain Boulevard.

Vision Overlay District – This district protects against structures that could interfere with views from the residential slopes east of I-5. This overlay applies to the area bounded by 5th, 6th, U, and Z Streets.

Airport Height Overlay District – This district protects against structures that could obstruct the airspace associated with Pearson Airfield. This overlay applies to the Pearson Airfield approach and



take-off zones that extend south into the Columbia River and west across the I-5 to the SR 14 interchange.

Shoreline Management Area – This overlay is in place to implement the policies and procedures set forth by the Shoreline Management Act of 1971. It prevents uncoordinated development of valuable shorelines and promotes land use that preserves and protects water quality, the natural environment, and public access. In the study area, shorelines regulations are implemented by the Columbia River Shoreline Enhancement Plan District.

Vancouver Central Park Plan District – This Plan District was established in 2008 to preserve and enhance the established urban civic character of the area and its significant historical, natural, educational, recreational, public utility and social service resources. This Plan District implements the adopted goals and policies of the Central Park Plan, (Ordinance M-3865); Fort Vancouver National Historic Site General Management Plan; Vancouver National Historic Reserve Cooperative Management Plan; and the Vancouver National Historic Reserve Long Range Plan. This District includes the following subdistricts: Historic Reserve Conservation, Officer's Row Conservation, Education and Recreation Conservation, Social and Health Conservation

Central Park Neighborhood Overlay District – To allow the present mix of uses in the Central Park Neighborhood Overlay District to continue while maintaining the residential character of the neighborhood and the R9 zone.

Downtown District – This zone provides an implementing mechanism for the City's Design Review Committee functions. New development, redevelopment, signage, and more are reviewed by the committee to ensure consistency with design principles for downtown. Section 20.630.010 includes these different principles, though more are provided in design-related documents adopted by the City (e.g., Central Park Plan). Design regulations pertain to building lines, rain protection, blank walls, maximum building heights, parking, waterfront development, and more.





Figure 3-18. Overlay Districts – Noise, Vision and Transportation, Vancouver, Washington





Figure 3-19. Overlay Districts – Neighborhood and Historic Preservation, Vancouver, Washington





Figure 3-20. Overlay Districts – Development and Shoreline, Vancouver, Washington

iource: Clark County, ODOT, WSDOT, ESRI, Mapbox, OpenStreetMap



3.5.5 Clark County Zoning

Figure 3-21 shows the Clark County zoning located in the secondary study area in unincorporated Clark County, Washington.

Low Density Residential (R1-20, R1-10, R1-7.5, R1-6 and R1-5) – This designation provides for predominantly single-family residential development with densities of between 5 and 10 units per gross acre. Minimum densities ensure that new development will maximize the efficiency of public services. Duplex and attached single-family homes may be permitted through infill provisions or approval of a Planned Unit Development. In addition, public facilities, churches, institutions and other special uses may be allowed in this designation if certain conditions are met. The zones may be applied in a manner that provides for densities slightly higher than existing urban development, but the density increase should continue to protect the character of the area.

Medium Density Residential (R-12, R-18 and R-22) – This designation provides land for single-family attached housing, garden apartment, and multifamily developments ranging from 10 to 22 dwelling units per gross acre. Minimum densities ensure that areas build out to the density planned, ensuring that the urban areas accommodate anticipated residential needs. Areas planned for urban medium residential use and assisted living facilities shall be located near commercial uses and transportation facilities in order to efficiently provide these services. Public facilities and institutions are allowed under certain conditions.

High Density Residential (R-30 and R-43) – These areas provide for the highest density housing in the urban area with 43 units per gross acre. Minimum densities ensure that these areas build out to the density planned, ensuring that the urban areas accommodate anticipated residential needs including assisted living facilities. Areas with this designation shall be located in transit corridors and near commercial and employment centers to provide demand for commercial and transportation services while providing easy access to employment. Institutions and public facilities are allowed in this zone under certain conditions.

General Commercial (CG) – This designation is applied to existing strip commercial areas as highway or limited commercial zoning. The strip commercial areas are generally characterized as narrow bands of commercial uses adjacent to major and minor arterial roadways. The 20-Year Plan strongly discourages additional strip commercial (highway or limited commercial base zones) being applied to new areas or extending existing strip commercial areas.

Mixed Use (MX) – Areas within this designation are implemented with the list of uses allowed in the mixed use (MX) zone and are intended to provide the community with a mix of compatible urban retail service, office, and residential uses. The mix of uses should be mutually supporting and pedestrian and transit-oriented. Pedestrian and transit orientation shall be accomplished through design requirements governing such elements as scale, bulk, street orientation, landscaping, and parking.





Figure 3-21. Zoning – Clark County, Washington



Employment Center (EC) – Areas within this designation are implemented with Office Campus (OC) and Business Park (BP) base zones and are intended to provide the community with a compatible office and attractive new non-polluting industries. Office and Business Park areas are designated for more intensive job-related land uses that pay family wages, such as professional offices, research, and technology related industries located in a campus like setting. Business Park areas may also be targeted by special public or private incentive programs that provide up front public service improvements or other inducements to attract family-wage employment where higher job densities are encouraged. These areas are specifically targeted by local government and private sector job development organizations to consider special incentives to attract large scale businesses with public improvements, tax incentives, expedited development review or other considerations.

Light Industrial (ML) – Areas within this designation provide for light manufacturing, warehousing, and other land intensive uses. Services and uses which support industrial uses are allowed in these areas but limited in size and location to serve workers within the light-industrial area. Industrial lands are located in areas of compatible land uses with arterial access to the regional transportation network.

Heavy Industrial (MH) – This designation is implemented with a heavy industrial base zone and provides land for heavy manufacturing, warehousing, and industrial uses that may be incompatible with other categories of land use. This designation is appropriate for areas that have extensive rail and shipping facilities.

Public Facilities (PF) – This designation is applied to land uses that have facilities or are for public use. Public schools, government buildings, water towers, sewer treatment plants, and other publicly owned uses are included in this designation. The implementing base zone may be Public Facilities.

Open Space – These areas provide visual and psychological relief from man-made development in the urban area. Open space also provides opportunities for recreational activity and environmental preservation, maintenance, and enhancement. Open space may include, but is not limited to developed parks, trails and greenways, special areas, public and private recreational facilities, critical lands, and public gathering spaces. Open space is not implemented with a base zone but may be implemented with specific overlay, combining district or development review standards.


4. LONG-TERM EFFECTS

4.1 No-Build Alternative

The No-Build Alternative would not directly address current deficiencies in the Interstate Bridge's structure, design, or capacity. As such, existing land uses served by the structure, as well as interstate commerce and daily commute patterns, would remain vulnerable to high levels of congestion, unsafe conditions, and potential earthquake-induced failure.

There would also be no high-capacity transit service between the regional centers of downtown Vancouver and downtown Portland. This would be inconsistent with the stated policies and goals of applicable regional transportation plans.

Under the No-Build Alternative, increased growth in the region by 2045 would result in a level of traffic congestion that would impair road-based freight movement and reduce the region's productivity. This could indirectly impede the effective implementation of land use plans and hinder goals for economic development. For example, high levels of traffic congestion may undermine economic development opportunities. A loss in the growth of local jobs could impacts such as decreased property values, reduced demand for downtown revitalization, and increased commercial vacancies.

For more information on the changes in traffic conditions between existing conditions and the No-Build scenario, refer to the Transportation Technical Report.

Regional transportation plans, as well as the numerous plans developed by the City of Vancouver, call for high-capacity transit in Vancouver, which would not be provided under the No-Build scenario. Further details are provided below. The following discussion is organized topically rather than by jurisdiction, as there are many plans that are pertinent and there are many similarities among their policies. Representative policies are referenced with each topic. Please refer to Section 3.4, Transportation and Land Use Plans, for more details on specific plans.

4.1.1 Consistency with Plans and Policies

4.1.1.1 Mobility

Capacity constraints along I-5 limit the number of vehicles and people that can be accommodated along the corridor in the peak travel directions (southbound during the morning peak, northbound during the afternoon/evening peak). The current and projected levels of congestion on I-5 make the No-Build Alternative inconsistent with policies and goals for acceptable operation.

In the OHP, Action 1F.1 provides mobility targets for Oregon highways. These targets are largely based on volume-to-capacity (V/C) ratios, which compare the number of vehicles using a given roadway to the number of vehicles it was designed to accommodate. Higher V/C ratios indicate increasingly congested roadways. The *Metro 2040 Growth Concept* and the *Regional Framework Plan* include sections on transportation that require a "reasonable and reliable" travel time for moving freight.

Land Use Technical Report



The discussion below uses the concepts of demand and throughput to illustrate how the bottleneck at the bridge limits the number of vehicles that can cross during the morning and afternoon/evening peaks. The number of vehicles that are able to pass through the corridor at the Interstate Bridge during a given time period is referred to as vehicle throughput. The number of vehicles that want to pass through the corridor during a given time period is referred to as vehicle demand.

In 2019, during the morning peak, the 4-hour southbound throughput at the Interstate Bridge was 19,100 vehicles, while 4-hour demand was also 19,100 vehicles. In other words, during the morning peak, all vehicles that wanted to pass could eventually do so over a 4-hour time period. Conditions in 2019 were similar for the afternoon/evening peak, where the 4-hour northbound vehicle throughput (18,980 vehicles) equaled the 4-hour demand. However, increased travel demand will continue to exceed the bridge's capacity and further extend the period of time required to cross the bridge. For the No-Build Alternative, the northbound vehicle demand in 2045 (modeled for the 4-hour afternoon peak period) is anticipated to exceed throughput by roughly 42%. The projected excess demand for the morning peak would be nearly equivalent.

In addition to continued increases in congestion on the bridge itself, the level of congestion and delay spilling over into other areas of the regional and local transportation systems is anticipated to worsen under the No-Build Alternative—for example, for vehicles attempting to enter southbound I-5 from westbound SR 14. Backups in such areas can be anticipated to result in vehicles diverting their travel to seek alternative connections to I-5, in turn increasing congestion on local Portland streets and downtown Vancouver streets, along with increased backups at local intersections in both cities.

While increased delays and congestion would not affect or change the pattern of land use in the study area, existing land uses could experience additional vehicle noise, air quality, and access impacts related to increased traffic congestion on adjacent streets. In general, the Modified LPA is expected to substantially improve traffic conditions on I-5 relative to the No-Build Alternative. See the Transportation Technical Report for detailed analysis and discussion of the comparative effects of the Modified LPA versus the No-Build Alternative, as well as mitigation measures that would be incorporated in areas where the Modified LPA could continue to have impacts.

4.1.1.2 Multimodalism

A number of policies in many plans refer to a balance of transportation modes. This includes the WTP, *Metro 2040 Growth Concept, Regional Framework Plan* (Metro 2014b), *Vancouver Comprehensive Plan, Vancouver Transportation System Plan,* and *Clark County Comprehensive Plan.* The existing bridge has no accommodations for high-capacity transit. The existing bike and pedestrian facilities are narrow pathways adjacent to the high-speed traffic lanes, which have high noise levels and may discourage bike and pedestrian trips on the bridge. The No-Build Alternative is inconsistent with policies requiring a balanced transportation system.

4.1.1.3 High-Capacity Transit

The No-Build Alternative would be inconsistent with the need and plan for a regional high-capacity transit system. The 2018 Regional Transportation Plan (Metro 2018a) outlines several policies to support RTP Goals, including Policy 4 to: Make transit more convenient by expanding high-capacity transit; improving transit speed and reliability through the regional enhanced transit concept (3-82 RTP).



The regional light rail system is also supported in Portland's Central City Plan 2035, Policy 3.11. The Vancouver Transportation Plan supports all travel modes, including high-capacity transit. These and numerous other plans call for connecting Vancouver and Portland.

4.2 Modified LPA

4.2.1 Direct Impacts

Long-term direct land use impacts are defined as conversions of land to transportation use from its existing use. The analysis of direct impacts below is largely based on the acquisition data developed for the Modified LPA, as described in the Acquisitions Technical Report. While the Acquisitions Technical Report discusses each temporary and permanent acquisition, including specific buildings that would be acquired and uses that would be displaced, this report considers the land use implications of those acquisitions to determine whether the acquisitions (individually or as a whole) would have an effect on broader land use patterns, balances between land uses and land use plans.

In total, the Modified LPA would convert approximately 47 acres of land to transportation use. Although these conversions would reduce the area of land available for non-transportation uses to a small extent, they would comprise only a small portion of the total land in the Portland/Vancouver area, and therefore would not be substantial in a regional context. These changes, which would result from the extension of light rail transit, the development of parking structures, and other transportation infrastructure, would be consistent with the goals and policies of adopted land use plans. Some of the Modified LPA design options would differ in their direct land use impacts in downtown Vancouver; those differences are discussed below.

4.2.1.1 Oregon

OREGON MAINLAND

Impacts summarized in this section include those between the southern terminus of the project at Victory Boulevard and the south shore of North Portland Harbor. The extent of direct land use impacts from property acquisitions in Oregon would be the same for all of the design options. The permanent acquisition of property would be required in this area to accommodate the reconstruction of the Marine Drive interchange and the extension of light-rail from its current terminus at the Portland Expo Center over North Portland Harbor. Approximately 12.2 acres of property would need to be permanently acquired in this area (see Table 4-1 and Figure 4-1). There would be no subsurface impacts within the Oregon Mainland portion of the project. Please refer to the Acquisitions Technical Report for additional information regarding acquisitions and displacements.

On the Oregon mainland, the LPA would require full and partial acquisitions in the following zoning designations: Commercial Employment (CE), Commercial Mixed Use 2 (CM2), General Industrial 2, (IG2), and Open Space (OS), as shown in Table 4-1. Typical uses allowed in these zones include retail sales and services, office space, and vehicle repair uses in the CE and CM2 zones; manufacturing, warehouse and freight movement, railroad yards, and open spaces in IG2 zones; and golf courses, parking areas, recreational fields, and boat ramps in OS zones.



As described in Chapter 1, the construction activities associated with the Modified LPA would likely require both temporary and permanent modifications to portions of the Portland Metro Levee System, which is a system of federal flood control levees located along the south bank of the Columbia River/North Portland Harbor within the primary study area. Modifications may include activities to restore temporarily disturbed portions of the levees, permanent modifications where proposed infrastructure would intersect with the existing levees, or changes in access to the levees as a result of roadway reconfiguration. Modifications or improvements would be coordinated for consistency with the planned future condition of the levees under the Urban Flood Safety & Water Quality Districts Joint Contracting Authority's Levee Ready Columbia project. The assessment of long-term effects to land use presented in this section includes those associated with potential modifications to the federal levee system.

The critical question for land use is whether the proposed acquisitions, collectively, would constitute an impact to any single land use category, the mix of uses, or the planned land use pattern and intensity in the area. The acquisition of new right of way, displacement of active land uses, and other impacts on the Oregon mainland are not expected to lead to changes in land use patterns, zoning, or land use plans.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total Permanent Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Permanent Impact Area (acres)
CE	Full	1	69,379	1.59
CM2	Partial	3	2,399	0.06
IG2	Full	1	44,344	1.02
IG2	Partial	13	323,137	7.42
OS	Partial	4	92,840	2.13

Table 4-1, Orego	on Mainlanc	Right-of-W	/av Acquisiti	ons by Zone
Tuble I I. Olege	mannan		ay nequisiti	

CE = Commercial Employment; CM2 = Commercial Mixed Use 2; IG2 = General Industrial 2; OS = Open Space; sq ft = square feet



Figure 4-1. Property Impacts – Oregon Mainland



RUBY JUNCTION

TriMet's Ruby Junction Maintenance Facility in Gresham, Oregon would require permanent acquisitions impacting approximately 4.98 acres of property (see Table 4-2 and Figure 4-2). One of the acquisitions includes a vacant residence located in a heavy industrial zoned area.

These acquisitions would support the expansion of the existing maintenance facility to accommodate additional vehicles required for the extension of light-rail transit as part of the Modified LPA. Impacts would affect heavy industrial (HI) and Ruby Junction Station Center – Ruby Junction Overlay zoned properties. Station Center (SC) zoning accommodates uses which are directly supportive of light-rail transit, and the Ruby Junction overlay designation permits auto-dependent uses and small-scale light-industrial uses. The Heavy Industrial zone provides space for industrial users that may include operational characteristics that could create compatibility issues for adjacent land uses.

The acquisition of new right of way, displacement of active land uses, and other impacts in the Ruby Junction area would not lead to a change in land use patterns, zoning, or land use plans.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total Perm Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Perm Impact Area (acres)
н	Full	4	191,966	4.41
НІ	Partial	2	11,298	0.26
SC-RJ	Partial	1	13,375	0.31

Table 4-2. Ruby Junction Acquisitions by Zone

HI = Heavy Industrial; SC-RJ = Ruby Junction Station Center – Ruby Junction Overlay; sq ft = square feet









HAYDEN ISLAND

Impacts summarized in this section include those on Hayden Island and associated portions of North Portland Harbor. The permanent acquisition of property would be required in this area to accommodate the realignment of I-5; reconstruction of the Hayden Island interchange, N Jantzen Street and N Hayden Island Avenue; extension of N Tomahawk Island Drive; and the extension of light-rail over Hayden Island. Approximately 19.88 acres of property would need to be permanently acquired in this area (see Table 4-3 and Figure 4-3). There would be no subsurface impacts within the Hayden Island portion of the project.

Impacts would affect properties located in Commercial Employment (CE) and Commercial Mixed Use 1 (CM1) zones. Both of these zones allow uses such as retail services, office space, and limited manufacturing. Several retail/service-related businesses south of Tomahawk Island Drive would be displaced, including several restaurants, a mattress store, a cell phone retail outlet, and a marijuana dispensary. One business within the Jantzen Beach Center would be impacted. Several residences, located in Commercial Employment zoning, would also be displaced. Nineteen of the 32 residential displacements on Hayden Island would be floating homes located in Row 9 of the Jantzen Bay moorage in North Portland Harbor east of I-5. The westernmost ramp access to the moorage would also be eliminated, though no floating homes would remain in this moorage following construction. The remaining 13 residential displacements on Hayden Island would also be floating homes, which are located in Rows A and B and the east side of Row C in the Jantzen Beach Moorage, Inc., located in North Portland Harbor west of I-5.

Although some commercial businesses and floating homes would be displaced by the project, land use patterns are not anticipated to change because new development would be required to be consistent with Portland land use plans and underlying zoning.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total Perm Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Perm Impact Area (acres)
CE	Full	17	473,932.8	10.88
CE	Partial	11	316,404	7.26
CM1	Full	2	11,912	0.27
CM1	Partial	9	63,823	1.47

Table 1-3 Havden	Island Right-of	-Way Acquisition	hy Zonin	a Decignation
Table 4-5. Hayuen	istanu Right-Oi	-way Acquisition	T Dy Zomm	gDesignation

CE = Commercial Employment; CM1 = Commercial Mixed Use 1; sq ft = square feet





Figure 4-3. Property Impacts – Hayden Island Acquisition



4.2.1.2 Washington

DOWNTOWN VANCOUVER

Impacts summarized in this section include those from the Columbia River north to McLoughlin Boulevard (impacts on 17th Street and McLoughlin Boulevard are summarized in the Upper Vancouver section). The permanent acquisition of property would be required in this area to accommodate the reconstruction of the SR 14 and Mill Plain interchanges, the realignment of I-5 between those two interchanges, the construction of the Waterfront Park and Ride, and the extension of light-rail to Evergreen Boulevard. Several of the Modified LPA design options would differ somewhat in the amounts and types of property acquired; these differences are discussed below.

As shown in Table 4-4 and Figure 4-4, the Modified LPA option with a centered I-5 mainline and a single auxiliary lane would impact properties in the CX and CPX zoning designations in downtown Vancouver. Typical uses in the City Center zoning district include retail, office, civic, and housing uses, whereas the CPX district is designed to enhance and protect existing facilities and fulfill the vision and policies identified in the Central Park Plan. The CPX district contains the Vancouver National Historic Reserve, parks, and governmental, health, and educational facilities. The Modified LPA would acquire 1.35 acres of the CPX zone and 2.81 acres of CX, as well as 0.31 acre of property designated as water on the City of Vancouver Zoning Map.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total Permanent Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Permanent Impact Area (acres)	Total Subsurface Easement Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Subsurface Easement Impact Area (acres)
СРХ	Partial	7	58,933	1.35	0	0.00
СХ	Full	14	103,229	2.37	0	0.00
СХ	Partial	20	19,109	0.44	32,208	0.74
СХ	Subsurface Easement	2	0	0.00	11,416	0.26
Park	Partial	1	3,484.8	0.08	0	0
Water	Partial	1	13,613	0.31	0	0.00

Table 4-4. Downtown Vancouver Right-of-Way Acquisitions by Zone – Modified LPA with Centered I-5 and One Auxiliary Lane

CPX = Central Park Mixed-Use; CX = City Center; sq ft = square feet









Compared to the Modified LPA with centered I-5 mainline, the option that shifts the I-5 west would require larger areas of permanent acquisition on several properties, along with additional displacements (see Table 4-5). This design option would result in the full displacement of a 33-unit multifamily residential development at the northeast corner of E 7th Street and C Street, converting the parcel to transportation use. The adjoining property directly to the north would also be fully acquired, and three businesses would be displaced.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total Permanent Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Permanent Impact Area (acres)	Total Subsurface Easement Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Subsurface Easement Impact Area (acres)
СРХ	Partial	7	31,474	0.72	0	0.00
СХ	Full	16	203,096	4.66	0	0.00
СХ	Partial	18	30,946	0.71	12,844	0.29
СХ	Subsurface Easement	2	0	0.00	15,241	0.35
Park	Partial	0	0	0	0	0
Water	Partial	1	13,613	0.31	0	0.00

Table 4-5. Downtown Vancouver Right-of-Way Acquisitions by Zone – I-5 Westward Shift

CPX = Central Park Mixed-Use; CX = City Center; sq ft = square feet

Compared to either the I-5 centered or westward shift options with one auxiliary lane, the addition of a second auxiliary lane in each direction on I-5 would increase the total area of partial acquisitions by approximately 0.1 acres, including slightly more acquisition of property at Fort Vancouver (approximately 0.03 acres). There would be no additional change in land use or displacement of existing uses. Both the two-auxiliary-lane and I-5 westward shift options would require approximately 0.6 acres less in subsurface easement acquisitions than the other design options.

The City of Vancouver's plans call for providing connections between Main Street and the redeveloping Vancouver waterfront west of I-5. All Modified LPA design options would vacate the existing I-5 mainline right of way passing under the railroad berm. This space would then be used to provide a roadway connection, extending Main Street south toward the Columbia River and intersecting with Columbia Way.

The impacts of the Modified LPA and design options, including those from full and partial acquisitions, are not anticipated to lead to a change in land use patterns because the parcels that could be redeveloped after construction would still need to comply with Vancouver's land use zoning and district overlay requirements.

See the Acquisitions Technical Report for additional information on potential acquisitions.



UPPER VANCOUVER

Impacts summarized in this section include those occurring from McLoughlin Boulevard and 17th Street to the northern terminus of the study area. The permanent acquisition of property would be required in this area to accommodate the reconstruction of the Fourth Plain and SR 500 interchanges, the realignment of I-5 between these two interchanges, and potentially additional noise walls. The Modified LPA would permanently acquire approximately 0.9 acres of property and 3.0 acres of permanent subsurface easements in this area (see Table 4-6 and Figure 4-5).

Table 4-6 shows that the project would require full acquisitions of parcels zoned Low Density Residential (R-9). The City Center District (CX), Central Park Mixed Use (CPX), and Higher-Density Residential District (R-22) zoning designations would also be impacted by acquisitions. The CX District includes a mix of retail, office, civic, and housing uses. The CPX district is designed to enhance and protect existing facilities and fulfill the vision and policies identified in the Central Park Plan. The CPX district contains the Vancouver National Historic Reserve, parks, governmental, health and educational facilities. The R-22 district accommodates rowhouses, garden-type apartments, and lower-density multi-dwelling structures up to 22 units per acre, while the R-9 district is designed for detached single dwellings with a minimum lot size of 5,000 square feet.

The acquisition of new right of way, displacement of active land uses, and other impacts in Vancouver would not lead to a significant change in the mix of land uses, land use patterns, zoning, or land use plans.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total Permanent Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Permanent Impact Area (acres)	Total Subsurface Easement Impact Area (sq ft)	Total Subsurface Easement Impact Area (acres)
R-22	Partial	1	80	0.00	12,314	0.28
R-22	Subsurface Easement	4	0	0.00	7,226	0.17
R-9	Full	7	32,500	0.75	0	0.00
R-9	Partial	18	6,694	0.15	41,435	0.95
R-9	Subsurface Easement	35	0	0.00	69,504	1.60

Table 4-6. Upper Vancouver Right-of-Way Acquisitions by Zone

CPX = Central Park Mixed-Use; CX = City Center; R-9 = Low-Density Residential District; R-22 = Higher-Density Residential District; sq ft = square feet



Figure 4-5. Property Impacts – Upper Vancouver





4.2.2 Parking

Vancouver recognizes the need for parking, but also incorporates policies to encourage alternative modes of transportation. Vancouver's comprehensive plan Section 5.0, Transportation, includes the following Framework Plan Policy:

5.2.5 Establish residential, commercial and industrial development standards including road and parking standards, to support the use of alternative transportation modes.

The Modified LPA would expand light-rail along I-5 to downtown Vancouver. The alignment is not expected to substantially impact existing parking, and the project would include two park and rides providing over 1,200 additional parking spaces.

4.2.2.1 Park and Rides

Two multistory park-and-ride facilities would be built in Vancouver along the light-rail alignment, one near the Waterfront Station and one in the vicinity of the Evergreen Station. Five potential locations for these facilities (three for the Waterfront Park and Ride and two for the Evergreen Park and Ride) are currently being evaluated (see Figure 4-6 and Figure 4-7).

The Waterfront Station park-and-ride facility would include 570 parking spaces. As shown in Figure 4-6, the three site options are as follows:

- Site 1 is between Columbia Street and Washington Street and extends from W 4th Street to south of W 3rd Street. Currently, office commercial uses and a surface parking lot occupy this site; these would be displaced by the Modified LPA independent of park-and-ride construction. A park-and-ride facility at this location would result in no additional property impacts aside from those attributable to local street improvements.
- Site 2 would include a multilevel aboveground structure built underneath I-5 east of Washington Street and would require full acquisition of one parcel currently used for public parking and owned by the State of Washington.
- Site 3 is located west of Columbia Street at the intersection with W 4th Street. Construction of a park and ride at this location would potentially impact 1.5 acres of property and would result in four full acquisitions and the displacement of one business. This park and ride would be developed in coordination with the City of Vancouver's Waterfront Gateway Program and would be a joint use parking facility not exclusively constructed for park-and-ride users.















The Evergreen Station park and ride would provide 700 parking stalls at one of two potential locations (Figure 4-7):

- Site 1 is a 3.16-acre site adjacent to the Vancouver Community Library, which is currently being used for library parking or is vacant. No impacts to the library property would occur, and no business or residential displacements are anticipated. This park and ride would accommodate up to 700 parking spaces in a multilevel belowground structure developed in coordination with the privately owned Library Square development. It would be a joint use parking facility for park-and-ride users and patrons of other uses on the ground or upper levels as determined by a potential future private developer.
- Site 2 is bounded by Broadway Street, C Street, E 8th Street, and E 7th Street, the Modified LPA would use an existing parking structure at this location through a lease, and the site would not be acquired by the project. The existing parking structure currently serves the office tower above it and the Regal City Center across the street. This would be a joint use parking facility—not for the exclusive use of park-and-ride users—that could serve as additional or overflow parking if the 700 proposed parking spaces cannot be accommodated elsewhere.

There are three issues to assess in determining whether a downtown park-and-ride facility represents an adverse impact to land use. First, an adverse impact would occur if the facility displaced uses that are critical to the downtown. These might include civic uses (such as a city hall) or clusters of housing, retail, or commercial. As discussed above, Waterfront Park-and-Ride Site 1 would not displace any uses beyond those displacements that are attributable to the Modified LPA. Waterfront Park-and-Ride Site 2 would be constructed on the site of an existing public parking use. Site 3 would be developed in coordination with other planned development and would be a joint use parking facility not exclusively for park-and-ride users. Therefore, none of the Waterfront park-and-ride options would be anticipated to displace uses that are critical to downtown Vancouver. Evergreen Park-and-Ride Site 1 would provide parking for park-and-ride users jointly with other users without affecting the adjacent library, while Site 2 would use an existing parking structure. Therefore, neither of the Evergreen park-and-ride options would displace uses that are critical to downtown Vancouver.

Second, an adverse impact would occur if the facility were to absorb local street capacity in a manner that greatly impeded vehicular access to the more primary land uses in the downtown (entertainment, civic, retail, residential, etc.). Because the park-and-ride options are predominantly either sites with sufficient vacant area to construct a park and ride, sites where there is an existing public parking use, or sites where development would be coordinated with separately planned developments, none of the park-and-ride options would be anticipated to absorb local street capacity in a manner that impedes access to other uses in downtown Vancouver. Specifics of the design and agreements for the proposed park-and-ride facilities have not been determined. Depending on the design and agreements, the IBR Program would be required to compensate current property owners, and potentially neighboring property owners, for any impacts to their current property use, parking, or access.

Lastly, an adverse impact could occur if the facility were radically different in scale, massing, or visual appearance from other development in the area, thus undermining the urban form and density of the downtown. Specifics of the design of the proposed park-and-ride facilities have not been determined. However, none of the options proposed for either the Waterfront or Evergreen park-and-ride facilities



would be anticipated to differ radically in scale or massing from other development in downtown Vancouver. Waterfront Park-and-Ride Site 2 would occupy an existing parking structure, and Site 3 would be a joint use facility constructed in conjunction with other planned downtown development. Evergreen Park-and-Ride Site 1 would be constructed partly underground, which would minimize inconsistency with the scale and massing of the adjacent library building, while Site 2 would be located in an existing structure.

In light of the foregoing discussion, none of the potential park-and-ride location options as currently proposed would be anticipated to adversely impact land use when assessed against the identified critical issues. However, the City of Vancouver does not prioritize the use of land in downtown Vancouver and near the waterfront for park-and-ride facilities. If it is determined that such facilities are required to comply with FTA requirements for the project, careful evaluation of the number of spaces and footprint impact would be necessary. Further analysis will take place through the SEIS process as the various park-and-ride options are evaluated in greater detail.

4.3 Consistency with Plans and Policies

The implementation of high-capacity transit within the study area is supportive of state, regional, and local plans and policies and will help the region achieve anticipated development without expanding urban growth areas. The proposed project would support Washington State Growth Management Act policies and the Oregon Statewide Planning Goals pertaining to transportation and infrastructure improvements by accommodating and integrating with a variety of planned transportation facilities throughout the study area. It would also be consistent with goals for providing infrastructure to urban areas and for directing high-density growth to urbanized locations. Regional plans adopted by RTC, Clark County, and Metro would be supported by improved infrastructure in the urban core and the extension of a high-capacity transit system. In addition, the Modified LPA would support many components of Vancouver's and Portland's Comprehensive Plans. Consistency with neighborhood plans is addressed in the Neighborhoods and Population Technical Report.

The two regional transportation planning agencies, Metro and RTC, adopted the original LPA into their *2018 Regional Transportation Plan* and *Metropolitan Transportation Plan for Clark County*, respectively, in summer 2008 (Metro 08-3960B; RTC 07-08-10). The CRC project was included in the Oregon 2010–2013 Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP), the draft 2012–2015 Oregon STIP, and the Washington 2011–2014 STIP.

The 2018 Regional Transportation Plan includes replacing the Interstate Bridge in its project list, and the City of Portland TSP lists the Interstate Bridge replacement and interchange improvements as a financially constrained project to be completed in 1 to 10 years.

The following is an overview of the components of state, regional, and local plans with which the IBR Program complies. As addressed in Chapter 3, state, regional, and local plans implement and are consistent with Oregon statewide planning goals and Washington Growth Management Act goals. The Modified LPA is consistent with each of the plans discussed below because it incorporates the components and goals identified in the plans in the following ways:



- The project would provide greater mobility on an interstate because of greater capacity, separated bicycle/pedestrian lanes that could help users to bike/walk instead of drive, and light-rail transit.
- The proposed separate bicycle/pedestrian path would provide active transportation users with more space to safely travel across the bridge.
- The Modified LPA would provide interchange improvements at Hayden Island, SR 14, and Mill Plain, allowing improved access and connectivity within the region.

4.3.1 Statewide Planning Goals

The Oregon Statewide Planning Goals direct all Oregon cities and counties to implement comprehensive land use plans that comply with statewide goals and guidelines. The Modified LPA is consistent with Consistent with Goal 12, Transportation, which requires cities, counties and the state to create a TSP that addresses all relevant modes of transportation: mass transit, air, water, rail, highway, bicycle and pedestrian transportation.

Among other objectives of Goal 12, the Modified LPA would:

- Serve statewide, regional, and local transportation needs.
- Serve the mobility and access needs of those who cannot drive and other underserved populations.
- Provide for affordable, accessible and convenient transit, pedestrian, and bicycle access and circulation, with improved connectivity.
- Help to reduce pollution from transportation to meet statewide goals to reduce climate pollution.
- Facilitate the safe flow of freight, goods, and services within regions and throughout the state.

4.3.2 Growth Management Act

The Washington Growth Management Act (GMA) requires local jurisdictions to implement a land use policy framework that reduces conversion of rural land to urban development. The Modified LPA supports the GMA's stated goals pertaining to transportation and infrastructure, including encouraging efficient multimodal transportation systems that are based on regional priorities and coordinated with county and city comprehensive plans. The Program is also consistent with the Act's goals for providing infrastructure to urban areas and for directing high-density growth to urbanized locations.

4.3.3 Oregon Highway Plan

Several policies in the OHP establish general mobility objectives and approaches for maintaining mobility that are supported by the Modified LPA. These include the following policies from the Policy Element:



- Policy 1A (State Highway Classification System) describes the functions and objectives for several categories of state highways. Greater mobility is expected on Interstate and Statewide Highways than on Regional and District Highways.
- Policy 1B (Land Use and Transportation) has an objective of coordinating land use and transportation decisions to maintain the mobility of the highway system. The policy identifies several land use types and describes the levels of mobility appropriate for each.
- Policy 1C (State Highway Freight System) has an objective of maintaining efficient through movement on major truck freight routes. The policy identifies highways that are freight routes.
- Policy 1F (Highway Mobility Policy) has the objective of maintaining acceptable and reliable levels of mobility on the state highway system, consistent with the expectations for each facility type, location and functional objectives.
- Policy 1G (Major Improvements) has the purpose of maintaining highway performance and improving highway safety by improving system efficiency and management before adding capacity.

The OHP also places a priority on preserving system and seismic resiliency, as described through its funding priorities on pages 174 and 175 of the plan.

4.3.4 Metro 2040 Growth Concept, Climate Smart Strategy and the Regional Framework Plan

- Policy 2.13—Regional Motor Vehicle System: Provide a regional motor vehicle system of arterials and collectors that connect the central city, regional centers, industrial areas and intermodal facilities, and other regional destinations, and provide mobility within and through the region.
- Policy 2.14 Regional Public Transportation System: Provide an appropriate level, quality, and range of public transportation options to serve the region and support implementation of the 2040 Growth Concept, consistent with the RTP.
- Policy 2.15 Regional Freight System: Provide efficient, cost-effective and safe movement of freight in and through the region.
- Policy 2.19.2 Peak Period Pricing: Manage and optimize the use of highways in the region to reduce congestion, improve mobility, and maintain accessibility within limited financial resources.
- Apply peak period pricing appropriately to manage congestion. In addition, peak period pricing may generate revenues to help with needed transportation improvements.
- Consider peak period pricing as a feasible option when major, new highway capacity is being added to the regional motor vehicle system, using the criteria used in Working Paper 9 of the Traffic Relief Operations study.
- Seek opportunities to advance local and regional projects that best combine the most effective GHG emissions-reduction strategies.



4.3.5 City of Portland Comprehensive Plan

- Policy 6.23 Trade and freight hub: Encourage investment in transportation systems and services that will retain and expand Portland's competitive position as a West Coast trade gateway and freight distribution hub.
- Goal 9.B Multiple Goals: Portland's transportation system is funded and maintained to achieve multiple goals and measurable outcomes for people and the environment. The transportation system is safe, complete, interconnected, multimodal, and fulfills daily needs for people and businesses.
- Policy 9.2.a. Designate district classifications that emphasize freight mobility and access in industrial and employment areas serving high levels of truck traffic and to accommodate the needs of intermodal freight movement. Address freight movement and access needs when conducting multimodal transportation studies or designing transportation facilities.
- Policy 9.6 Transportation strategy for people movement. Implement a prioritization of modes for people movement by making transportation system decisions according to the following ordered list:
 - 1. Walking
 - 2. Bicycling
 - 3. Transit
 - 4. Fleets of electric, fully automated multiple passenger vehicles
 - 5. Other shared vehicles
 - 6. Low or no occupancy vehicles, fossil-fueled non-transit vehicles
- Policy 9.30 Multimodal goods movement. Develop, maintain, and enhance a multimodal freight transportation system for the safe, reliable, sustainable, and efficient movement of goods within and through the city.

4.3.6 Hayden Island Plan

The Modified LPA would displace sufficient commercial and residential activities on the island to constitute an adverse impact (see the Acquisitions, Neighborhoods and Populations, and Economics Technical Reports for more information). However, the provision of a light-rail station, the connection of Tomahawk Island Drive under I-5, and the improved access and capacity of the Hayden Island interchange all are expected to contribute to the viability and success of redevelopment plans for the island. The IBR Program would also support a number of specific recommendations identified in the Hayden Island Plan (plan text is italicized):

- Light Rail Transit (LRT) is the high-capacity transit mode that will effectively support a station community. The project would provide light-rail transit to, and a station on, Hayden Island.
- The LRT alignment adjacent to the freeway is preferred over a separated alignment in order to minimize the barrier effect of the CRC project as a whole. The preferred light-rail alignment on Hayden Island is adjacent to I-5 on the west side.



• The CRC project must provide the capability to access local street systems south of North Portland Harbor without using the freeway. The Modified LPA would meet this aspect of the plan by providing vehicular access between Marine Drive and Hayden Island on an arterial bridge.

4.3.7 Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan

The potential impacts of the Modified LPA on areas within the Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan area would result almost entirely from the construction of the Marine Drive interchange. Four businesses would be displaced within the area (see the Acquisitions, Neighborhoods and Populations, and Economics Technical Reports for more information).

The IBR Program would support specific recommendations identified in the Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan, as follows: (plan text is italicized):

- Policy 2, Transportation and Public Utilities
 - > Objective 1: Retain Bridgeton Road's ability to harmoniously mix automobiles, bicycles, and pedestrians;
 - > Objective 6: Locate new rights-of-way within the Bridgeton Neighborhood to provide for connectivity within the neighborhood and to the rest of the transportation network; and
 - > Objective 8: Provide opportunity for good access to transit.

New shared-use path connections throughout the Marine Drive interchange area would provide access between the Bridgeton neighborhood, Hayden Island, and the Expo Center light-rail station, in addition to providing connections to the existing portions of the 40-Mile Loop Trail.

4.3.8 Kenton Neighborhood Plan (as amended by the Kenton Downtown Plan)

Areas within the Kenton Neighborhood Plan area that could potentially be impacted by the Modified LPA extend from the Victory Boulevard interchange north along N Expo Road to the Expo Center and North Portland Harbor. The majority of the Modified LPA's direct impacts to the Kenton Neighborhood Plan area would take place in the areas affected by the Marine Drive interchange lying west of I-5 and on the Expo Center property. Two businesses would be displaced within the Kenton Neighborhood Plan area to construct the Marine Drive interchange (see the Acquisitions, Neighborhoods and Populations, and Economics Technical Reports for more information).

The IBR Program would support transportation-specific recommendations identified in the Kenton Neighborhood Plan, as follows (plan text is italicized):

• Policy 5, Objective 1: Participate in the development of a light rail transit line that will serve the neighborhoods and commercial areas of North and Northeast Portland. The project would broaden the extent of the Kenton Neighborhood's light-rail transit connectivity to other areas of North Portland including Hayden Island and extending beyond Hayden Island into Washington.



• Policy 5, Objective 7: Improve pedestrian and bicycle connections between the Denver Avenue business district and the industrial area to the north. In the Victory Boulevard interchange area, active transportation facilities would be provided along Expo Road between Victory Boulevard and the Expo Center, providing a direct connection between the Victory Boulevard and Marine Drive interchange areas.

4.3.9 Portland International Raceway Plan District

Areas of the PIR Plan District potentially affected by the Modified LPA overlap with portions of the Kenton Neighborhood Plan area, described above. Specifically, the primary study area for the Modified LPA includes a small portion of the PIR Plan District west of N Expo Road near the Victory Boulevard interchange. This area abuts the southern edge of a wetland complex that extends to the boundary of the Expo Center property and is located in the PIR Plan District's Transitional Open Space and Resource Conservation subdistricts.

The IBR Program is expected to avoid direct impacts within the PIR Plan District, as the footprint of the Modified LPA is adjacent to, but does not directly encroach on, areas within the district. However, because of the proximity of the project footprint, the potential exists for impacts to occur as design and construction planning are refined. Any currently unanticipated disturbance that may encroach on areas of the PIR Plan District as a result of future design changes or temporary construction activities would need to take into account the provisions of the PIR Plan District as identified in the district's master plan (plan text is italicized):

The RC subdistrict is identical to the boundaries of the city's Environmental Conservation "c" overlay. Most types of development are forbidden within this subdistrict, with the exception of some basic utilities, drainage facilities, and environmental restoration/enhancement projects.

4.3.10 East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan

The area governed by the East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan that could potentially be affected by the Modified LPA overlaps entirely with the areas discussed above under the Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan.

The IBR Program would support specific recommendations identified in the East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan as follows: (plan text is italicized):

• Policy 4: Water Quality. Enhance the water quality in the area's wetlands and drainageways by utilizing pollution control measures to maintain good water quality and implement vector control practices. The Modified LPA incorporates enhanced water quality treatment features into its design and, relative to the No-Build Alternative, would reduce pollutant loading in runoff that may reach nearby waters. See the Water Quality and Hydrology Technical Report for detailed discussion.



- Policy 6: Protection of Wetland/Natural Resource Areas. Protect significant resource areas by discouraging filling and development of sensitive and unique habitats in the neighborhood and requiring buffering of new developments adjacent to these sites; and
- Policy 9: Buffering. Separate existing and new wetlands from new residential, commercial, and industrial uses with setbacks and buffer areas.

The Modified LPA has been designed to avoid impacts to wetlands, including maintaining setbacks from wetland areas to the greatest extent possible. Where impacts are unavoidable, the mitigation goal is to fully replace impacted wetland functions and values, with emphasis on creating, preserving and restoring wetlands and other waters that provide habitat for fish and wildlife. The IBR Program team has begun, and will continue, coordination with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) and Oregon Department of State Lands (DSL) in furtherance of this goal. See the Wetlands and Other Waters Technical Report for detailed discussion.

4.3.11 Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 Natural Resources Management Plan

The area covered by the Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 Natural Resources that could potentially be affected by the Modified LPA overlaps entirely with the areas discussed above under the Kenton Neighborhood Plan and the PIR Plan District.

The IBR Program would support specific recommendations identified in Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 Natural Resources Management Plan as follows: (plan text is italicized):

- Natural Resource Policy No. 3: Protect and manage all wetlands within the Peninsula Drainage District No. 1 to avoid, minimize, and if necessary, compensate for fill or destruction of material from wetlands. The Modified LPA has been designed to avoid impacts to wetlands to the greatest extent possible. Where impacts are unavoidable, the mitigation goal is to fully replace impacted wetland functions and values, with emphasis on creating, preserving and restoring wetlands and other waters that provide habitat for fish and wildlife. The IBR Program team has begun, and will continue, coordination with the USACE and DSL in furtherance of this goal. See the Wetlands and Other Waters Technical Report for detailed discussion.
- Land Use and Recreation Policy No. 3: Support a MAX Light Rail Transit Station for West Delta Park that supports the activities at the Expo Center, PIR, and Heron Lakes Golf Course. The Modified LPA would expand light-rail transit service and establish additional light-rail transit center services at the Expo Center property.

4.3.12 City of Vancouver Comprehensive Plan

- CD-4. Urban Centers and Corridors: Achieve the full potential of existing and emerging urban activity centers and the corridors that connect them, by:
 - Promoting or reinforcing a unique identity or function for individual centers and corridors.
 - > Planning for a compact urban form with an appropriate mix of uses.
 - > Establishing connectivity and accessibility within each center and to other areas.



> Providing a range of transportation options.

In addition to the overall Program improvements supporting connectivity and accessibility and providing a range of transportation options, the addition of the Community Connector at Evergreen Boulevard would further balance roadway and transit development with improved bicycle and pedestrian facilities to address existing gaps in connectivity and neighborhood cohesion created by the past construction and presence of I-5.

4.3.13 Local Transportation System Plans

The Modified LPA's principal components are identified in Metro's RTP (Metro 2018a), the City of Portland TSP (City of Portland 2020b), C-TRAN's 20-Year Transit Development Plan (C-TRAN 2016), Clark County's RTP (RTC 2019), and the City of Portland's 2035 TSP (City of Portland 2020a) and are, therefore, consistent with those transportation system plans.

4.3.13.1 Regional Transportation Plan (Metro)

- RTP Project 10893: Replace the Interstate Bridge and improve interchanges on I-5. Project adds protected/buffered bikeways, cycletracks and a new trail/multiuse path or extension.
- RTP Project 10902: Transit service from the Expo Center to Vancouver, Washington, to increase travel options and alternatives to driving alone.

4.3.13.2 City of Portland Transportation System Plan

- TSP Project 11874: Hayden Island: Design and construct an arterial bridge from the Expo Center to East Hayden Island. Explore the feasibility of designs that would prioritize transit, bikes, and emergency vehicle access and not facilitate cut-through traffic for vehicles that do not have origins or destinations on the island.
- TSP Project 11411: Bike and Ride Facilities: Phase 1: Provide secure bike parking facilities and enhancements at TriMet stations and stops.
- TSP Project 11983: I-5 Multi-Use Path: Construct improvements to the I-5 MUP in Jantzen Beach to bring path up to current standards, improve safety, and improve access to the Interstate Bridge. Improve pedestrian crossings at Tomahawk Island Drive and Hayden Island Drive.

4.3.13.3 20-Year Transit Development Plan (C-TRAN)

• Includes the IBR elements of light-rail transit and BRT improvements.

4.3.13.4 Regional Transportation Plan for Clark County

• Includes IBR-related goals of providing reliable mobility for personal travel and freight movement by addressing congestion and transportation system bottlenecks.

4.3.13.5 2035 Transportation System Plan (Portland)

• Lists the I-5 Columbia River bridge replacement and interchange improvements as a financially constrained project to be completed within 1 to 10 years.



4.3.14 Tolling

As described in Chapter 1, tolling of cars and trucks that use the new I-5 river bridges is proposed as a method to help fund the IBR Program and to encourage the use of alternative modes of transportation. Tolls would be collected using an electronic toll collection system and would vary by time of day, with higher rates during peak travel periods and lower rates during off-peak periods. Medium and heavy trucks would be charged a higher toll than passenger vehicles. The use of higher toll rates during peak periods would support regional and local policies for managing traffic congestion. The use of tolling is not expected to change land use patterns because land use and development in the study area are governed by state land use and growth management laws, local land use plans and zoning regulations, and other controls. These require all development to be consistent with existing zoning and comprehensive planning in order to be permitted. Effective local plans and policies have been shown to control potential unplanned growth and land use changes resulting from transportation investments (CH2M Hill 2006; Tidd et. al 2013). Analysis using the Metro/RTC regional travel demand model shows an increase in transit mode share under the Modified LPA and design alternatives relative to the No-Build Alternative as a result of both improved transit investment and the introduction of variable rate tolling on the new Columbia River bridges. This shift to transit would reduce overall vehicle travel miles traveled across the Columbia River on an average weekday by approximately 1% compared to the No-Build Alternative. While tolling could divert some traffic from I-5 to I-205, the reduction in total vehicle trips because of toll and transit investments would make this diversion negligible in terms of overall travel. Therefore, tolling is not expected to induce changes in land use.

4.3.15 Park-and-Ride Integration with the Urban Environment

The Vancouver Comprehensive Plan includes policies to ensure that facilities needed to serve enhanced transit service, such as park and rides, are consistent with the goals of the relevant subarea plans and compatible with the surrounding development. The plan also describes C-Tran's 2030 plan for two new park-and-ride facilities with increased commuter service. The Modified LPA includes two proposed new park-and-ride facilities in downtown Vancouver, as discussed in Section 4.2.1.2. These facilities are in the early stages of design but would be developed to be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan's requirements.¹¹

¹¹ The City of Vancouver is currently updating its Comprehensive Plan. The update process is expected to take place from 2022 to 2025, and work will run parallel with the SEIS process. It is possible that policy updates resulting from the Comprehensive Plan update may need to be incorporated between publication of the Draft SEIS and the Final SEIS/ROD.



5. TEMPORARY EFFECTS

5.1 Introduction

Construction of the Modified LPA is expected to take between 9 and 15 years overall. Funding would be a large factor in determining the overall sequencing and construction duration. Contractor schedules, weather, materials, and equipment could also influence construction duration.

Interchanges on each side of the bridges must be partially constructed before any traffic can be transferred onto the new structures. Construction duration for the SR 14 interchange and Hayden Island interchanges would take approximately 1.5 to 4 years for each interchange, with both completed at the same time.

Completion of the light-rail extension requires construction of the new Marine Drive interchange, which is estimated to take approximately 3 years. Construction of this interchange would need to be coordinated with construction of the southbound I-5 lanes coming from Vancouver.

Demolition of the existing river crossing would take approximately 1.5 years; it would commence after traffic was rerouted to the new Columbia River bridges. However, work would need to be completed at the SR 14 and Hayden Island interchanges before the existing bridge could be decommissioned. The northbound bridge and the northbound off-ramp to SR 14 would need to be completed and opened before traffic could be routed to the new bridge structures.

The light-rail component of the Modified LPA would require up to 4 years for completion. A shorter construction period is possible if work on either side of the river precedes the completion of the new bridges. Light-rail is proposed to share the southbound bridge across the river; the bridge structure itself must be completed prior to construction of the light-rail components.

In most parts of the study area, impacts would not be continuous throughout this timeframe, but would be limited to the duration of active construction on a specific component of the Modified LPA. Because construction activities would be temporary, and therefore are unlikely to have any lasting impacts on land uses, land use patterns, or compliance with land use plans and policies. However, construction-related impacts from noise, dust, lighting (for nighttime construction), and traffic delays may have secondary impacts to land uses. Residential uses are particularly sensitive to the impacts of construction; commercial uses may also be affected if they rely upon easy access and a pleasant driving experience. Areas required for temporary easements would be restored to their former condition and use at the end of the construction period. Potential construction impacts are described below by area.

5.2 Oregon Mainland

To accommodate the construction of the southernmost end of the project, 44.73 acres of temporary construction easements would need to be acquired (see Table 5-1). This area includes several vacant properties adjacent to the river, as well as industrial uses adjacent to Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard and Delta Park (refer to Figure 4-1).



Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total TCE Impact Area (sq ft)	Total TCE Impact Area (acres)
CE	TCE	2	73,974	1.70
CM2	Partial	3	7,538	0.17
CM2	TCE	1	47	0.00
IG2	Partial	13	1,829,352	42.00
IG2	TCE	7	17,893	0.41
OS	Partial	3	19,051	0.44
OS	TCE	1	288	0.01

Table 5-1. Portland Mainland Temporary Construction Easements

CE = Commercial Employment; CM2 = Commercial Mixed Use 2; IG2 = General Industrial 2; OS = Open Space; sq ft = square feet; TCE = temporary construction easement

Approximately 175 parking spaces at the Expo Center would be temporarily unavailable for use. This loss of parking could negatively impact the Expo Center's ability to provide parking for attendees to its events. The Economics Technical Report addresses this in greater detail.

5.3 Hayden Island

To accommodate the construction of the Hayden Island interchange, associated local roadway improvements, and the extension of light-rail over Hayden Island, approximately 13.2 total acres of temporary construction easements would need to be acquired from one state-owned property on the river, the City of Portland Fire & Rescue (PF&R) property east of I-5, and the vacated Stanford's Restaurant site in the Jantzen Beach Center (see Table 5-2).

Bridge construction would disturb land use activities on Hayden Island. The existing commercial use pattern on the island is predominantly auto-oriented big-box retail. Shoppers and visitors to the area would likely face delays, detours, and other inconveniences. Noise, dust, and vibration impacts may also reduce the shopping center's attraction during construction, especially when compared to similar shopping centers nearby. However, these impacts are not expected to lead to a long-term or permanent change in land use because the impacts would be temporary, and the improvements being constructed would be consistent with planning and zoning for the area. The Economics Technical Report addresses this topic in greater detail, and Chapter 8 includes potential measures that could be used to help minimize temporary impacts to businesses. The acquisition of a temporary construction easement on a portion of the PF&R property would not displace the existing emergency services use of the property, but adjacent construction activities during construction of the Hayden Island Interchange could temporarily slow PF&R response times. The Public Services Technical Report addresses potential impacts to emergency services in detail.



Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total TCE Impact Area (sq. ft)	Total TCE Impact Area (acres)
CE	Partial	11	538,330	12.36
CE	TCE	3	2,531	0.06
CM1	Partial	9	32,838	0.75

Table 5-2. Hayden Island Temporary Construction Easements

CE = Commercial Employment; CM1 = Commercial Mixed Use 1; sq ft = square feet

5.4 Downtown Vancouver

Construction of the bridge landing in downtown Vancouver, local roads, sidewalks, and retaining walls along I-5 would require approximately 5.6 acres of temporary easements (see Table 5-3). Although I-5 is only one of many ways to access the area, many land uses in downtown Vancouver, particularly businesses which rely heavily on pass-by traffic, could be negatively impacted by the construction activities due to detours, access difficulties, noise, vibration, and dust. However, long-term changes in land use downtown are not anticipated. Businesses may temporarily or permanently close due to construction impacts. Because new or replacement development would need to conform with existing zoning regulations, overlay districts, and land use plans, the nature of uses that may take their place would be anticipated to be similar in character. Chapter 8 includes potential measures to help minimize temporary impacts on businesses.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total TCE Impact Area (sq ft)	Total TCE Impact Area (acres)
СРХ	Partial	4	51,991	1.19
СРХ	TCE	3	43,085	0.99
СХ	Partial	18	109,795	2.52
СХ	TCE	44	34,769	0.80
Water	Partial	1	1,897	0.04
Water	TCE	1	897	0.02

Table 5-3. Downtown Vancouver Temporary Construction Easements

CPX = Central Park Mixed-Use; CX = City Center; sq ft = square feet; TCE = temporary construction easement

5.5 Upper Vancouver

Construction of the Modified LPA would require approximately 5.9 acres of temporary easements to accommodate the reconstruction of sidewalks, the construction of retaining walls along I-5, and ramps associated with the SR 500 interchange (see Table 5-4). TCEs would be required at the Veterans



Affairs Health Care campus and Fort Vancouver. Noise, dust, and vibration from operation of vehicles and equipment, handling and movement of materials, construction worker activity, and other construction-related actions could affect visitor use at these locations.

Zoning	Acquisition Type	Count	Total TCE Impact Area (sq ft)	Total TCE Impact Area (acres)
СРХ	Partial	2	8,222	0.19
СРХ	TCE	2	200,834	4.61
СХ	Subsurface Easement	1	5	0.00
СХ	TCE	3	40,367	0.93
Park	TCE	3	1,413	0.03
R-22	Partial	1	21	0.00
R-22	TCE	2	823	0.02
R-9	Partial	18	2,168	0.05
R-9	Subsurface Easement	35	1,155	0.03
R-9	TCE	13	2,697	0.06

Table 5-4. Upper Vancouver Temporary Construction Easements

CPX = Central Park Mixed-Use; CX = City Center; R-9 = Low-Density Residential District; R-22 = Higher-Density Residential District; sq ft = square feet; TCE = temporary construction easement

5.6 Casting and Staging Yards

As described in Chapter 1, staging of equipment and materials would occur in many areas along the project corridor throughout construction, generally within existing or newly purchased right of way or on nearby vacant parcels. However, at least one large site would be required for construction offices, to stage the larger equipment such as cranes, and to store materials such as rebar and aggregate. A casting or staging yard could also be required for construction of the overwater bridges if a precast concrete segmental bridge design is used. A casting yard would require access to the river for barges including either a slip or a dock capable of handling heavy equipment and material; a large area suitable for a concrete batch plant and associated heavy machinery and equipment; and access to a highway or railway for delivery of materials. Major staging and casting sites have not yet been identified for the Modified LPA but may be identified during the design process or by the contractor.



6. INDIRECT EFFECTS

6.1 Overview

Indirect effects on land use are unplanned changes resulting from a project that lead to a different overall land use scenario in the future than would occur without the project. One type of indirect impact of particular concern for transportation projects is induced growth, which refers to the potential for transportation improvements to facilitate future unplanned land use changes that ultimately result in impacts to the environment. This chapter evaluates the Modified LPA's potential to result in indirect impacts, including induced growth, in light of the state, regional, and local planning frameworks that have been adopted in the study area.

Transportation improvements can reduce travel times between points and improve access to developable areas. If land is available and market and regulatory conditions support it, transportation corridors have the potential to alter the pattern of growth in a region, shifting a portion of future growth to locations with increased relative accessibility (Tidd et. al. 2013). For example, a new interchange may encourage complementary development such as gas stations and electric vehicle charging stations or hotels. Reduced driving times may create conditions of increased demand for suburban-scale residential development in undeveloped areas more distant from an urban center. Without planning policies and controls, such conditions could eventually lead to unplanned sprawl. Conversely, a robust land use planning framework can mitigate the potential for unplanned land use changes. Robust coordination of regional transportation planning with local land use planning can help to optimize investments, identify the transportation facilities and services needed to support planned land uses, and coordinate the nature and pattern of land development with available transportation services (NCHRP 1999). Effective local plans and policies have been shown to control potential unplanned growth resulting from transportation investment. This topic is discussed and analyzed in several case studies and academic reports that were reviewed in support of the Indirect and Cumulative Effects Technical Report for the CRC project Final EIS (CRC 2011).

The analysis in this chapter is based on a review of existing growth management plans, policies, and controls to assess the potential for the Modified LPA to result in unplanned land use changes. This effort included review of local plans to evaluate the extent to which the Modified LPA's anticipated improvements have been incorporated into regional growth management planning. Oregon state law dictates coordination between land use and transportation plans, which in turn governs how, when, and where road expansions can be built. Oregon's existing land use laws require agencies to first identify areas planned for land use development, then invest in the transportation system needed to support the planned development. Washington also has a framework of state and local growth management and planning controls designed to preempt sprawl and maintain urban levels of density and services within close proximity to urban centers. Therefore, the extent to which the Modified LPA's anticipated improvements have been incorporated into existing adopted land use plans indicates the extent to which local planning entities have identified the Modified LPA improvements as a component of planned (as opposed to unplanned) growth.



In Washington and Oregon, land use planning for urban areas is developed within a framework of growth management. The objective of growth management planning is to ensure that population and employment growth are concentrated in areas where urban services, such as transportation and transit infrastructure, are available to support higher densities. This approach is intended to discourage sprawl and inefficient land use and to help ensure that areas outside urban growth centers are preserved for agricultural, recreational, and other non-urban uses. The highway and transit improvements proposed in the Modified LPA have been developed in support of growth management planning goals in both states and are anticipated in the transportation and land use plans of the respective states, cities, and metropolitan planning organizations. The subsequent sections describe growth management planning in Oregon and Washington in the context of indirect effects, then address specific plans within the IBR Program study area.

6.2 Oregon and Washington Growth Management Planning

Oregon's Statewide Planning Program requires cities to ensure that land uses specified in comprehensive plans are supported by existing and planned transportation facilities. Metro's *The Nature of 2040* recommends a balanced transportation system providing a range of choices including using transit, walking, biking, and driving in a car. The Metro RTP (Metro 2018a) includes replacing the Interstate Bridge and improving the I-5 interchanges in its plans for future projects. The City of Portland's *2035 Comprehensive Plan* (City of Portland 2020a) includes Policy 9.6, which prioritizes implementing transportation strategies for people movement, including walking, bicycling, and transit. The *Hayden Island Plan* (City of Portland 2009; described further below) also anticipates the future development of light-rail in conjunction with Interstate Bridge replacement. As such, development of the Modified LPA is consistent with these goals of Portland's comprehensive plan and the *Hayden Island Plan*.

The State of Washington adopted the Growth Management Act (GMA) in 1990. This act requires most local jurisdictions to define and implement a land use policy framework that emphasizes reducing the inappropriate conversion of land to sprawling, low-density development. This emphasis is evident in statewide requirements to coordinate land use and transportation plans and strongly supports multimodal transportation systems. The law also requires designation of urban growth areas around cities. The GMA's goals are similar to the Statewide Planning Goals in Oregon. They discourage sprawling development, encourage focusing growth and development in existing urban areas with adequate public facilities, encourage economic development throughout the state consistent with comprehensive plans, encourage efficient multimodal transportation systems, and require that adequate public facilities and services necessary to support development be available when new development is ready for occupancy. Because the Modified LPA would be consistent with comprehensive land use plans and would encourage efficient multimodal transportation, its implementation would further the intent of the Washington GMA and Oregon's statewide land use planning law.

RTC has adopted the *Metropolitan Transportation Plan for Clark County* (RTC 2019), which incorporates light rail as a component of the multimodal transportation system in the Vancouver metropolitan region. The adopted Clark County *Comprehensive Growth Management Plan* (Clark County 2016) and *Vancouver Comprehensive Plan* (City of Vancouver 2011) identify the location of the urban growth area, which encompasses the lands planned for urban development. The Modified LPA, by incorporating



light-rail transit, facilitates the realization of the goals of the RTC metropolitan transportation plan. Additionally, by focusing on and improving connectivity for transit and nonmotorized active transportation modes (pedestrian, bicycle), within the study area, the Modified LPA helps to maintain density within the areas planned for urban development.

The City of Vancouver Comprehensive Plan recommends planning for a compact urban form with an appropriate mix of uses and providing a range of transportation options.¹² The Modified LPA supports these recommendations by implementing light-rail, improving connectivity within the area, and providing park-and-ride locations. It also supports and is consistent with the City's Transit Overlay District, which allows for "higher densities and more transit-friendly urban design" than afforded by base zoning.

6.3 Local Plans

Recent planning by the City of Portland for Hayden Island and by the City of Vancouver for its downtown area relies on the transportation improvements proposed by the IBR Program. Aspects of these plans relevant to the potential for unplanned land use effects are described below.

The Hayden Island Plan outlines a vision for the future growth and development of the eastern half of Hayden Island (Figure 6-1). This plan includes the expectation that access to the island will be improved by the new I-5 interchange and light-rail extension included in the Modified LPA. These access improvements are expected to facilitate new, transit-oriented development on the island. The Modified LPA would displace several commercial businesses, restaurants, and residences, as described in Chapter 4 and the Acquisitions Technical Report. If these displacements happened in isolation, they could have the potential to undermine the collective stability of the Jantzen Beach shopping center and surrounding businesses. However, the increased transit service and access improvements proposed in the Modified LPA would provide safe and equitable access to transportation options such as biking, walking, rolling, and public transit and would support greater density within the Hayden Island Plan area. The Modified LPA would thus support the Hayden Island Plan's vision and recommendations for redevelopment of commercial and residential uses in this area. No adverse indirect effects related to unplanned land use changes are anticipated on Hayden Island as a result of the Modified LPA. The Vancouver City Center Vision and Subarea Plan (VCCV; City of Vancouver 2007) identifies high-capacity transit through downtown Vancouver as a key transportation goal and encourages further development in the downtown area. By extending light-rail transit service into downtown Vancouver, the Modified LPA would provide transportation capacity to support increased downtown development, furthering the goals of the VCCV. Another goal in the VCCV is extending Main Street to Columbia Way. By replacing the Interstate Bridge and raising the grade of the freeway over the Vancouver waterfront and southern downtown area, the project would facilitate

¹² The City of Vancouver is currently updating its comprehensive plan. The update process is expected to take place from 2022 to 2025 and work will run parallel with the SEIS process. It is possible that policy updates resulting from the comprehensive plan update may need to be incorporated between publication of the Draft SEIS and the Final SEIS/ROD.

Land Use Technical Report



extension of Main Street to Columbia Way. The Main Street extension would support the City's vision of providing greater connectivity to the waterfront and would also benefit planned redevelopment along the waterfront immediately west of I-5. This development is planned and moving forward separately from the IBR Program, but it would be better integrated with the rest of downtown Vancouver through implementation of the Modified LPA and the extension of Main Street.

The No-Build Alternative would not be consistent with the Hayden Island Plan or the Vancouver City Center Vision and their plans for future growth and development. The No-Build Alternative would lack the improved multimodal access needed to support greater density within the Hayden Island Plan area and related redevelopment. While some redevelopment may still occur in the area, it would not be likely to involve the dense, walkable neighborhoods common to transit-oriented development. With the No-Build Alternative, such development, and its envisioned population and employment growth, would be more likely to occur elsewhere in the metropolitan area where transit and effective multimodal facilities would be available.

The Vancouver City Center Vision and Subarea Plan also anticipates the IBR Program would provide key mobility investments for the downtown Vancouver area. However, other actions supporting the plan are already in place or in development, including the waterfront development district, new higher density residential development in downtown, and roadway and BRT improvements. Under the No-Build Alternative, some of the envisioned population and employment growth would still occur, but it would likely occur over a longer period of time or may not fully reach the growth targets.



Figure 6-1. Hayden Island Plan



Source: City of Portland 2009.

6.4 Indirect Effects Conclusion

6.4.1 Indirect Effects on Local and Regional Land Use

As described earlier in this chapter, large transportation projects can have the potential to result in far-reaching effects on travel and land use patterns. While the Modified LPA would facilitate and accommodate planned growth in the study area, it is not expected to induce unplanned growth or to change land use patterns in ways that are inconsistent with the goals of applicable land use plans. Both Portland and Vancouver have accounted for future anticipated growth within their planning documents and provide strategies, visions, and goals to guide this growth. The plans provide for a development strategy to accommodate growth by increasing land use density, particularly in areas that would be served by high-capacity transit if the Modified LPA is implemented.

Under the No-Build Alternative, light rail would not be extended to Vancouver and express bus service across the Columbia River would be subject to delays caused by increasing congestion. Without high-capacity transit and associated new light-rail stations on Hayden Island and in downtown Vancouver,
Land Use Technical Report



the demand for higher-density development would be less likely to materialize, and the development strategy provided for in local land use plans may not be achievable. Vehicle, express bus, and active transportation would be the only mode option for crossing the Columbia River because high-capacity transit would not be available. Because the No-Build Alternative would have fewer transportation mode options to cross the river and would not include the LRT stations proposed under the Modified LPA, it would be less likely to support the increased development density provided for under the local planning documents.

The Modified LPA would provide new light-rail service and improve the reliability of bus transit, which would facilitate the development strategy provided for in local planning documents, especially on Hayden Island and in Downtown Vancouver. This would support the plan to accommodate increased population through higher density development. The Modified LPA would not be expected to result in urban sprawl (scattered development on the periphery of urban areas) because the transit improvements would be provided in established urban areas. The local land use planning strategy to increase density is more likely to be achievable and the Columbia River bridges would be tolled. Because tolling increases the out-of-pocket cost of commuting, individuals have an incentive to shorten their commutes by living closer to alternative transportation connections, services and where they work (Brueckner 2001). As described in Section 3.1, the transportation analysis also shows that tolling would cause some drivers to change to transit to avoid tolls.

The CRC EIS included an analysis of the project's potential for induced land use changes. The analysis used Metroscope, Metro's integrated land use and transportation model, to predict how the proposed changes in transportation infrastructure could influence the future distribution of employment and housing throughout the region. The modeling effort, which was completed in 2010, concluded that the CRC project would not significantly induce growth or sprawl. Compared to the No-Build Alternative, the model estimated that the CRC project, with tolling, would result in a 0.03% decrease in households in north Clark County and a 0.51% increase in households in the southern, more urban, half of the county (Conder 2010). Metro reviewed these findings in January 2024 and concluded they remain relevant to the Modified LPA.

The amount and timing of land use changes in transit station areas can be affected by transit ridership levels (e.g., higher ridership would be expected to increase land use development compared to lower ridership). Thus, the amount and timing of transit-oriented development in station areas would depend to some degree on transit ridership levels and other factors such as local economic conditions. Regardless of the pace of development, transit-oriented development would be consistent with existing planning and zoning that anticipates the future availability of high-capacity transit to support planned densities.

In conclusion, while the Modified LPA is expected to have the indirect effect of facilitating growth and development within the study area, the magnitude and location of this development would be consistent with all local and regional land use plans. Conversely, the No-Build Alternative would not encourage as much dense, transit-oriented development, and congestion resulting from over-capacity transportation facilities could inhibit the region from accommodating planned levels of growth.



6.4.2 Indirect Land Use Effects Related to Navigation

The Navigation Impact Report (IBR 2022) evaluated the potential for future land use changes upstream of the Interstate Bridge that could affect marine commerce based on city, port, state and federal land use and other management plans, which typically have planning horizons of 10 to 20 years. The report identified properties along the Columbia River that currently have marine facilities available or have the potential for future development of such facilities. It concluded there are few opportunities for new or expanded commercial and industrial development that would require the use of vessels too large to pass beneath the proposed new fixed-span Columbia River bridges. The number of suitable properties is limited by political and geographic constraints on land along the Columbia River waterfront, which include the Columbia River Gorge Natural Scenic Area designation, parallel transportation routes (SR 14, I-84, Union Pacific Railroad, and BNSF Railway), steep topography, and existing recreational and open space uses. The types of industrial uses that currently generate or could generate marine vessel traffic in the future are located within urban areas and typically within established industrial parks (e.g., Columbia Business Center, Port of Cascade Locks Industrial Park).

Per current planning documents, there are no known planned developments within the study area that would create additional navigation activities that would be adversely affected by the new Columbia River bridges with either the double-deck or single-level fixed-span configurations. If new marine-based businesses were to develop upstream of the new Columbia River bridges over their 100+ year service life, either fixed-span bridge configuration would limit their activities to a maximum vertical navigation clearance of 116 feet. The single-level movable-span configuration would continue to provide at least 178 feet of vertical clearance, and therefore would pose no additional limitations to future activities or marine development beyond those posed by the existing Interstate Bridge.



7. MITIGATION FOR LONG-TERM EFFECTS

This chapter describes measures that could be considered for reducing potential direct effects on land use. Indirect effects are addressed in Chapter 6 of this report. Overall, the IBR Program would be supportive of the existing and/or evolving land uses in Portland and Vancouver.

7.1 Regulatory Requirements

Property acquisition and residential or business displacements would be mitigated under the provisions of the Uniform Relocation and Real Property Acquisitions Policies Act of 1970, as amended. Those affected would receive compensation and relocation assistance from ODOT or WSDOT, depending on location. Property would be purchased at fair market value, and residential occupants displaced by the Modified LPA would be provided decent, safe, and sanitary replacement housing. The Acquisitions Technical Report includes more information on the provisions of the Uniform Act and the processes used to value properties and provide relocation assistance.

7.2 Program-Specific Mitigation

The actions listed below, although they are not specifically land use mitigation, would support the Modified LPA's compatibility with existing land uses. Please refer to the Economics, Neighborhoods and Populations, Transportation, and Historic Built Environment Technical Reports and the Section 4(f) Evaluation for additional measures that could enhance land use compatibility.

7.2.1 Interchange Area Management Plans

An interchange area management plan (IAMP) is a joint ODOT and local government long-term transportation and land use plan to balance and manage decisions in interchange areas and is an important tool in protecting the functions of state highway interchanges and the supporting local street network. An IAMP identifies local and state transportation and land use objectives for the interchange area and guides the management of the transportation system and land use development patterns. It also guides subsequent decisions by the affected local government and ODOT about land uses, the street network, and access. An access point decision report in Washington serves a similar purpose. ODOT and WSDOT will require the completion of these plans during the project design process. The use of IAMPs would not be considered mitigation *per se*. However, they would be considered and used where applicable to guide development within the vicinity of interchanges area and/or adverse traffic impacts to local street networks connecting to these interchanges.

7.2.2 Historic Resources Mitigation

The northbound structure of the existing Interstate Bridge is listed on the National Register of Historic Places. Demolition of the bridge would constitute an adverse effect on a historic resource. Mitigation of this adverse effect will be required in order to comply with Section 106 of the National Historic



Preservation Act. Potential impacts to historic resources and proposed mitigation are detailed further in the Historic Built Environment Technical Report and the Section 4(f) Evaluation for the project.

The bridge is also a designated City of Portland historic landmark. Therefore, demolition would require approval from the Portland City Council, following advice from the Portland Historic Landmarks Commission, through a Type 4 Demolition Review. Portland Zoning Code PZC 33.846.080 codifies the approval criteria that must be met if demolition of a historic resource is proposed. Mitigation for the loss of a historic resource would be developed in conjunction with the Section 106 and 4(f) compliance processes. ODOT and WSDOT, in conjunction with the lead federal agencies, will address compliance with local historic preservation codes and demolition permitting and mitigation criteria later in the project permitting phase, following completion of the Section 106 and Section 4(f) evaluations.

7.2.3 Park and Rides

As described in Chapter 4, none of the potential park-and-ride location options as currently proposed is anticipated to adversely impact land use. However, the City of Vancouver does not prioritize the use of land in downtown Vancouver and near the waterfront for park-and-ride facilities. The following measures could help the proposed park and rides to better support existing and planned land uses in Vancouver:

- As noted in Chapter 4, the Modified LPA park and rides would comply with City of Vancouver requirements for shared parking agreements. The IBR Program will come to a documented agreement with the City and property owners on shared parking provisions for each of the park-and-ride facilities. These agreements will be prepared at a later stage of Program development when preferred sites have been identified and facility design is underway. For facilities that involve joint development agreements, FTA would need to ensure that parking provided for private businesses represented an appropriate return on FTA's transit investment.
- The code additionally requires active uses to be incorporated into the ground floors of the park and rides. The project would work with the City of Vancouver to determine appropriate active uses for the selected sites and implement methods which would serve to integrate the parking facilities into the urban fabric. As with the shared parking agreements, coordination with the City on active uses would occur as part of parking facility design development, after the identification of preferred park-and-ride sites.
- The Library Square location would include parking below ground, and a private developer could build space above ground for additional uses such as retail. The Waterfront Gateway Site would also be a joint use parking facility in coordination with the City of Vancouver's Waterfront Gateway Program.



8. MITIGATION FOR TEMPORARY EFFECTS

8.1 Regulatory Requirements

Construction best management practices would be used to avoid or minimize indirect construction effects on land use and economics, such as dust, noise, and aesthetic impacts. These measures are discussed in the analyses of the Transportation, Noise and Vibration, Air Quality, Visual Quality, and Economics Technical Reports.

8.2 Program-Specific Mitigation

- Monitor noise levels on a regular basis during construction near noise-sensitive receptors located closest to construction activities to reduce disturbance to nearby land uses, and confirm compliance with noise thresholds set by local jurisdictions as well as the conditions of any noise variances obtained.
- Schedule and manage construction activities to minimize community disruption to the greatest extent feasible.
- Implement mitigation measures for temporary impacts on residents, as discussed in the Property Acquisitions and Displacements Technical Report.
- Carefully plan and phase construction of the Modified LPA in a way that would reduce or avoid complete closure of affected roadways and access points to nearby businesses. Necessary detours would be routed to reduce travel times and signed to reduce confusion. Construction would be planned to keep business access points open as much as possible and would be well signed. A construction communication plan could be developed to inform travelers about detours and road closures and would direct them to businesses.



9. PERMITS, PLANS, AND APPROVALS

The proposed project would require a number of permits and approvals from state and local agencies. The following list includes the permits specific to land use. This chapter does not review approvals necessary as part of the formal NEPA, or FTA New Starts process. This chapter includes a summary of the necessary zoning-related approvals.

9.1 State Plans

An Interstate Access Management Plan (Oregon) and an Access Point Decision Report (Washington) could be completed and approved for the proposed interchange modifications.

9.2 Local Permits

Listed below are some of the known permits needed for the LPA. General transportation facilities are not often listed in the typical use lists of zoning code. Certain specific facilities, like park and rides and transit stations, often are listed.

9.2.1 Vancouver

The proposed project would need a determination to be an allowed use in base and overlay zones. Not all of the Vancouver zones specifically mention transportation facilities. The following criteria and requirements are clear:

- 1. In early 2008, the Vancouver City Council adopted the updated Central Park Subarea Plan replacing the 1979 Central Park Plan, "A Park for Vancouver" and its design guidelines. The plan concept calls for a unified sense of place by celebrating a shared historic landscape and emphasizing design of key features such as a "great street" network. The implementing regulations are part of the Central Park Mixed Use District (CPX) and would govern the development of the Clark Park-and-Ride facility. The City, working with C-TRAN also developed a set of regulations specific to park-and-ride facilities. The facilities had not previously been a specific use with specific regulations. With the adoption of the new regulations, surface-level park and rides have become prohibited in the CX (City Center) and CPX (Central Park) zones. Structured park-and-ride facilities have become a Limited Use in both zones subject to the provisions of the amended title 20.430.040. The standards require compatible design, transportation management plans, and a mix of uses with "active" ground floor uses along major roadways that serve high numbers of pedestrians.
- 2. Internal circulation permits would be required for park and rides.
- 3. Temporary use approvals would be needed for temporary offices for contractors, staging areas, and casting yards.
- 4. A Vancouver Shoreline Substantial Development Permit is required. The City of Vancouver Shoreline Master Program includes goals and policies and use regulations. Transportation projects are allowed as a permitted use in the Urban High Intensity Areas, which covers much of the shoreline in the primary study area. Regulation 5.6.1.3 under Site Planning and



Development requires that when feasible, existing transportation corridors shall be utilized. Ingress/egress points shall be designed to minimize potential conflicts with and impacts upon vehicular and pedestrian traffic. Pedestrians shall be provided with safe and convenient circulation facilities. At the shoreline, the project would vary from the existing corridor alignment very slightly. Each of the bridge alignments would likely be considered as being within the existing transportation corridor. From the ordinary high water mark to the state line in the middle of the Columbia River, the area is classified as Aquatic. Vancouver's 2021 SMP states the following goal for Section 3.11 Transportation, Utilities, and Institutional Facilities: The goal for transportation, utilities, and institutional facilities is to provide for these facilities in shoreline areas without adverse effects on existing shoreline use and development or shoreline ecological functions and/or processes.

- 5. Critical Areas Ordinance (CAO) Permits would be needed. These permits are coordinated with the Shoreline Substantial Development Permit and the regulatory requirements were made consistent in 2007. The proposed project would possibly impact a Riparian Management Area, and other areas covered by the Critical Areas Protection Ordinance (VMC Chapter 20.740).
- 6. A tree plan would need approval (VMC Chapters 20.770 and 20.925 as applicable). It would address the tree removals and plantings for the roadway segments, park and rides, and other facilities.
- 7. Other permits that may be required include those for floodplain development and geohazard development. These would be coordinated with the CAO Permits, as VMC Chapter 20.740 addresses both frequently flooded areas and geologic hazard areas. (see the Water Quality and Hydrology and Geology and Groundwater Technical Reports for additional technical information on floodplains and geohazards).

Potential necessary permits through the City of Vancouver are listed below:

- Internal circulation permits
- Vancouver Shoreline Substantial Development Permit
- Vancouver CAO Permit
- Tree Plan Approval
- Floodplain Development (as part of CAO Permit)
- Geohazard Development (as part of CAO Permit)

9.2.2 Portland

The proposed project would need a determination that it is an allowed use in the base zones and overlay zones. Not all of the zones specifically mention transportation facilities. Further discussions with the City of Portland would be needed. Transportation right of way is not considered a use under the Portland Zoning Code. There is currently no light-rail transit station overlay in the City of Portland code to inform compatible land development following the establishment of light-rail stations and to guide pedestrian systems and amenities in station areas. Transit stops and stations fall within the category of Basic Utilities. Basic Utilities are limited or require conditional use review approval in the Open Space zone and Commercial zones. They are allowed in industrial zones.

Land Use Technical Report



land use approvals would be required. The lists of permitted uses in the Commercial/Mixed Use, Open Space, and General Industrial zones do not specifically identify transportation facilities. Further discussions would be required with the City of Portland. As part of the land use approval process, numerous issues, from internal circulation to design, would also be addressed. This would be most significant in the review of the facilities planned for Hayden Island. If there is any disturbance in the Environmental Conservation Overlay Zones, an Environmental Land Use Review and approval would be necessary. A Tree Permit following Chapter 11.30, Tree Permit Procedures, would be required in order to address potential impacts and mitigation related to tree removal and replacement resulting from the Modified LPA.

The Hayden Island (HI) plan district objectives provide opportunities and regulations for transportation improvements and light-rail expansion:

- Create a transportation network that provides for all modes, and allows people to easily move from one mode to another;
- Focus higher intensity, mixed-use development near the light-rail station;
- Provide opportunities for a range of housing types, and encourage mixed-use development, including commercial uses, to serve the residential uses;
- Recognize the current function of the Jantzen Beach Super Center as an auto-oriented shopping mall and its long-term potential for more intense development that is less auto-oriented and more pedestrian-friendly resulting from major investments in the transportation system.

The northbound existing bridge is listed in the National Register of Historic Places. It is therefore covered by Portland Zoning Code Chapter 846, Historic Reviews. Demolition of the existing historic bridge requires approval from the Portland City Council, following advice from the Portland Historic Landmarks Commission, through a Type 4 Demolition Review, prior to application for a Demolition Permit.

Other permits required closer to construction, after the project reaches a more detailed level of design development, may include a Street Use Permit, Public Improvement Permit, and Site Development Permit. The acquisition of these permits would potentially be the responsibility of the construction contractor following completion of design.

Permits that would potentially be necessary through the City of Portland are listed below. A final determination on the required permits would take place following a final NEPA decision and additional design development.

- Land Use Review in the zones and overlays described in Sections 3.5.1 and 3.5.2
- Tree Permit
- Potential Environmental Overlay Review
- Potential Design Overlay Review
- Historic Resources Review
- Type 4 Demolition Review
- Street Use Permit
- Public Improvement Permit
- Site Development Permit



10. REFERENCES

- C-TRAN (Clark County Public Transportation Benefit Area). 2016. C-TRAN 20 Year Transit Development Plan. Available at <<u>https://mail.c-tran.com/images/2030/Update/20 Year Plan-</u> <u>2016 Update For Web APPROVED 2016-12-13.pdf</u>>. Accessed April 10, 2023.
- C-TRAN. 2021. C-TRAN 2021–2026 Transit Development Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/publications/manuals/fulltext/M3079/tdps/C-TRAN.pdf</u>>. Accessed April 10, 2023.
- CH2M Hill. 2006. I-80 and Alice's Road/105th Street Interchange Indirect and Cumulative Impact Analysis Technical Report.
- City of Portland(City of Portland, Oregon). 1990. East Columbia Neighborhood Natural Resources Management Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portlandoregon.gov/bps/article/103373</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Portland. 2009. Hayden Island Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portlandoregon.gov/transportation/article/522797</u>>. Accessed February 8, 2023.
- City of Portland. 2020a. 2035 Comprehensive Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/bps/planning/comp-plan/vision-growth-and-progress/2035-comprehensive-plan-and-supporting-documents#toc-2035-comprehensive-plan-as-amended-through-march-2020-</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City or Portland. 2020b. Portland 2035 Transportation System Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/transportation/planning/transportation-system-plan-tsp</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Portland Bureau of Planning. 1993a. Adopted Albina Community Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/phb/nnehousing/documents/albina-community-plan-city-portland/download#:~:text=The%20Albina%20Community%20Plan%20is,wish%20to%20invest%20in%20Albina.</u>>. Accessed April 4, 2023.
- City of Portland Bureau of Planning. 1993b. Adopted Kenton Neighborhood Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/bps/comp-plan/documents/kenton-neighborhood-plan-1993/download</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Portland Bureau of Planning. 1997a. Adopted Bridgeton Neighborhood Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/sites/default/files/2020-01/bridgeton-neighborhood-plan-1997.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Portland Bureau of Planning. 1997b. Natural Resources Management Plan for Peninsula Drainage District No. 1. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/bps/environ-</u> <u>planning/documents/peninsula-drainage-district-no-1-nrmp-1997/download</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.



- City of Portland Bureau of Planning. 2001. Kenton Downtown Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/bps/comp-plan/documents/kenton-downtown-plan-2001/download</u>>. Accessed April 10, 2023.
- City of Portland and Multnomah County. 2015. Climate Action Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.portland.gov/bps/climate-action/documents/2015-climate-action-plan/download</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Vancouver (City of Vancouver, Washington). 2004. City of Vancouver Transportation Plan. Available at

<<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/community_developme_nt/page/80001/tsp_2004.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.

- City of Vancouver. 2007. Vancouver City Center Vision and Subarea Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/community_and_econo_mic_development/page/1415/vccvfinalplan2010revision.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Vancouver. 2008. City of Vancouver Central Park Plan Update. Available at <<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/community_and_econo_mic_development/page/1415/centralplan.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Vancouver. 2011. Vancouver Comprehensive Plan 2011–2030. Available at < <u>http://www.cityofvancouver.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/community_and_economi</u> <u>c_development/page/874/vancouvercomprehensiveplan2011-2030.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Vancouver. 2018a. 2016–2021 Strategic Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/sites/default/files/2018StrategicPlan/index.html</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Vancouver. 2018b. Heritage Trees of Vancouver, WA. Available at <<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/public_works/page/123</u> 27/heritage_tree_inventory_booklet_website.pdf>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Vancouver. 2021. City of Vancouver Shoreline Master Program. Available at <<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/sites/default/files/fileattachments/community_and_econo</u> <u>mic_development/page/39792/city_of_vancouver_shoreline_master_program_effective_jun</u> <u>e_2021.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- City of Vancouver. 2022a. Featured Projects. Available on Be Heard Vancouver website at <<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/projects</u>>. Accessed December 23, 2022.
- City of Vancouver. 2022b. Vancouver Building and permitting services website. Available at <<u>https://www.cityofvancouver.us/projects</u>>. Accessed December 23, 2022.
- Clark County (Clark County, Washington). 2008. Highway 99 Sub-Area Plan. Available at <<u>https://clark.wa.gov/sites/default/files/dept/files/community-planning/projects/Highway%2099/FINAL_SUB-AREA_PLAN%20WITH%20COVER.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.



- Clark County. 2016. 20-Year Comprehensive Growth Management Plan 2015–2035. Available at <<u>https://clark.wa.gov/sites/default/files/media/document/2023-01/2015-</u>2035%20Comprehensive%20Plan-ORD.%202022-07-01%20AR_Dockets.pdf>. Accessed March
- CRC (Interstate 5 Columbia River Crossing). 2011. Indirect Effects Technical Report for the Final Environmental Impact Statement - Appendix A: Literature Review. May 2011. Available at <<u>https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/accountability/ssb5806/docs/6_Project_Development/Environm</u> <u>ental_Process_And_Permitting/FEIS_PDFs/CRC_Indirect_Effects_Technical_Report_Appendic</u> <u>es.pdf</u>>. Accessed August 30, 2023.
- Columbia Waterfront, LLC. 2022. Vancouver Waterfront Master Plan. Available at <<u>https://thewaterfrontvancouverusa.com/about/master-plan/</u>>. Accessed December 23, 2022
- IBR (Interstate Bridge Replacement Program). 2022. Navigation Impact Report. November 2021, Revised May 2022. <<u>https://www.interstatebridge.org/media/0tcfgwmg/</u> <u>navigationimpactreport_may2022_remediated.pdf</u>>
- Metro (Oregon Metro). 1992. Metropolitan Greenspaces Master Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/metropolitan-greenspaces-master-plan</u>>. Accessed February 7, 2023.
- Metro. 2014a. Climate Smart Strategy for the Portland Metropolitan Region. Available at < <u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2015/05/29/ClimateSmartStrategy-</u> <u>FinalVersion-2014.PDF</u>>. Accessed March 21, 2023.
- Metro. 2014b. Regional Framework Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-</u> <u>framework-plan</u>>. Accessed February 7, 2023.
- Metro. 2018a. 2018 Regional Transportation Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/regional-transportation-plan</u>>. Accessed February 7, 2023.
- Metro. 2018b. 2018 Growth Management Decision Urban Growth Report. p. 30. Available at <<u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/default/files/2018/12/03/2018_UGR-summary-11282018_v2pdf.pdf>.</u> Accessed September 28, 2022.
- Metro. 2018c. 2040 Growth Concept. Available at <<u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/2040-growth-</u> <u>concept-map</u>>. Accessed February 7, 2023.
- Metro. 2018d. Urban Growth Management Functional Plan. Available at <<u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/urban-growth-management-functional-plan</u>>. Accessed February 7, 2023.
- Metro. 2020. 2040 Growth Concept Map. Available at <<u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/2040-growth-</u> <u>concept-map</u>>. Accessed February 7, 2023.
- Multnomah County (Multnomah County, Oregon). 2016a. Multnomah County Comprehensive Plan. Available at <<u>https://multco-web7-psh-files-usw2.s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/Multnomah%20County%20Comprehensive%20Plan%20-</u>



<u>%20Ord%201302%20adopted%2012.16.21%20effective%206.14.22.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.

- Multnomah County. 2016b. Multnomah County Transportation System Plan. Available at <<u>https://multco-web7-psh-files-usw2.s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/MultnomahCounty_ComprehensivePlan_APPE-TSP_web.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- NCHRP (National Cooperative Highway Research Program). 1999. Land Use Impacts of Transportation: A Guidebook. NCHRP Report 423A.
- NPS (National Park Service). Not dated. Maps. Available at <<u>https://www.nps.gov/oreg/planyourvisit/maps.htm</u>>. Accessed October 6, 2022.
- ODOT (Oregon Department of Transportation). 2010. National Environmental Policy Act, Environmental Impact Statement Template. May 2010. Chapter 3.2, Land Use. Available at <<u>https://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/GeoEnvironmental/Docs_NEPA/EIS_Annotated_Template.p_df></u>. Accessed June 24, 2021.
- ODOT. 2015. Oregon Highway Plan. November 1999 including amendments through May 2015. Available at <<u>https://www.oregon.gov/odot/Planning/Documents/OHP.pdf</u>>. Accessed January 15, 2023.
- ODOT. 2021. NEPA Manual. Available at <<u>https://www.oregon.gov/odot/GeoEnvironmental/Pages/NEPA-Manual.aspx></u>. Accessed June 24, 2021.
- Port of Vancouver. 2015. Port of Vancouver Waterfront Development Master Plan. Available at <<u>http://www.portvanusa.com/assets/POV-Waterfront-Dev-Master-Plan-111315.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- PDC (Portland Development Commission). 2001. Interstate Corridor Urban Renewal Plan. Available at <<u>https://prosperportland.us/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Interstate-URA-plan.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 27, 2023.
- Prosper Portland. 2017. North/Northeast Community Development Initiative Action Plan. Available at <<u>https://prosperportland.us/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/NNECDI-Action-Plan-web.pdf</u>>. Accessed April 10, 2023.
- RTC (Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council). 2005. Metropolitan Transportation Plan for Clark County. Available at <<u>https://www.rtc.wa.gov/reports/mtp/mtp2005intro.pdf</u>>. Accessed April 10, 2023.
- RTC. 2019. Regional Transportation Plan for Clark County. Available at <<u>https://www.rtc.wa.gov/reports/rtp/Rtp2019Clark.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 21, 2023.
- Tidd, L., L. Sliker, D. Braitman, C. Lee-Roark, and L. Ballard. 2013. Assessing the Extent and Determinates of Induced Growth. Prepared for the State of Montana Department of Transportation in cooperation with FHWA. FHWA/MT-13-004/8216.



- TriMet (Tri-County Metropolitan Transportation District of Oregon). 2020. Tri-County Public Transportation Improvement Plan FY2021–FY2023. Available at <<u>https://trimet.org/meetings/hb2017/pdfs/public-transportation-improvement-plan.pdf</u>>. Accessed March 21, 2023.
- Turner, G. 2023. Personal communication of March 24 and 27, 2023. Development manager in the City of Vancouver Community Development Department.
- USCG (U.S. Coast Guard). 2022. Preliminary Navigation Clearance Determination for the Interstate Bridge Replacement Program. Letter to Thomas D. Goldstein, PE, IBR Program Oversight Manager, FHWA, from B. J. Harris, Chief, Waterways Management Branch, Coast Guard District 13. June 17. Available at: <<u>https://www.interstatebridge.org/media/fi2b3xei/ibr_next_steps_bridge_permitting_june20</u> 22_remediated.pdf>. Accessed September 25, 2023.
- U.S. Department of Transportation and Federal Highway Administration. 1987. Guidance for Preparing and Processing Environmental and Section 4(f) Documents. Washington, D.C.
- WSDOT (Washington State Department of Transportation). 2018. Washington Transportation Plan. Available at <<u>https://wsdot.wa.gov/construction-planning/statewide-plans/washington-transportation-plan</u>>. Accessed January 30, 2023.
- WSDOT. 2020. Environmental Manual, Chapter 455 Land Use and Transportation. October 13, 2020. Available at <<u>https://wsdot.wa.gov/publications/manuals/fulltext/M31-11/455.pdf</u>>. Accessed June 24, 2021.
- WSDOT. Not dated. WTP 2040 and Beyond. Available at <<u>https://www.wtp2040andbeyond.com/</u>>. Accessed February 7, 2022.